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HEADNOTE

Shares in Cayman companies held by Libyan state enlities — whether written shareholder
resolutions of the Cayman companies purportedly signed on behalf of the Libyan siote entities
were valid und effective — written resolutions purported to vemove directors of and appoliif iew
wirectors to the Cayman companies — effeet of UN sanctions and assel fréeze in respect if Libya
on the wriflen resolutions — whether those signing the written resolutions were properly

authorised to do so orn behalf of the Libyan state entities as o maiter of Libyar or Cayman law

JUDGMENT
Introduction and summary of my decision

1. This case relatesto very substantial sums invested in 2006-2007 on behalf of the Libyan

State in three Cayman Islands lavestment éompanies,

2. The case concerns in particular the validity of written resohitions of the shareholders
of the Cayman Islands sompanies, -_sigligd i J’,ulyl 2014, purporting to. remove the
Plaintiff as a director of the companies (each & Resolution, together the Resolutions),
The Plaintiff, a Dutch company, had been appointed to act as the investment manager
of the companies and the investments acquired by them using the sums injected into

the companiés (by way of a subscription for shares), The shareholders were Libyan

entities and the Resolutions were signed by individvals purporting to-act for the

Plaintiff asserts that the Resolutions were void so that it remains ‘4 directof
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companies and it seeks a declaration to that effect. It relies on two main arguments,

First, that the Resolutions were void because the exercise by the Libyan shareholders
of their sharehaolder rights to replace the Plaintiff involved or gave rise to & breach of
the ifistrument giving effect in the Cayman Islands to the United Nations (UN) asset
freeze of Libyan Government assets (the Sanctions Point} . Secondly, and in the
alternative, the Plaintiff argues that the individuals who signed the Resolutions were

not properly authorised to do s by the Libyan shareholders (the Authority Point),

The main Libyan investor was the Libyan Investment Authority {the LIA), which is the
Libyan state’s soversign wealth find. It is the shareholder of one of the Cayman Islands
companies (the Third Defendant); the parent of a wholly owned sibsidiary (the Libya Africa
Investment Portfolio (the LAP)) which is the sharcholder of another of the companies {the
First Defendant); and a transferes of the beneficial iriterest in the shares in the other company’
(the Second Defendant), The transferor was another Libyan entity called the Libyan F oreign
Bank (the LFB) (L refor to the LIA, the LAP and the LFB togsther as the Libyan Investors).

This case arises in large part because of the uncertaintics that have existed, after the
deposing of Colonel Gaddafi in October 2011, since October 2014 concerning the
identity of the legitimate government of Libya. These uncertainties have given rise in
turn to unicertainties and disputes as to who is properly appointed as a director of and
has authority to act for the LIA and therefore who can now inake decisions on its behalf
(for example to confirm and ratify the Resolutions or if necessary authorise the passing of
new resolutions and the appointinent of new directors). Despite tigation on this issue in
various jurisdictions (in particular England and Wales and Libya) the disputes corttinye and
the issue remains unresolved so that there is no-one (and no single group) that is clearly
entitled and authorised to act for the LIA. All those who claim to act for the LIA could
combine and act together but they are not in-agreement. Accordingly, the question of who is
a director of the thre¢ Cayman Islands companies owned or eontrolled by the LIA must be

determined by reference to the validity and effectivengss of the action taken in 2014, The

LIA is not a party to these proceedings but it is the entity which arvanged for the passm ey

the Resolutions and Is in substance the defendant to these proceedings.

o = B R L E e




I have decided that the PlaintifPs claim must be dismissed. My conclusions can be

summarised as follows;

(). the adoption and passing of the Resolutions did not constifute a breach and
contravention of the prohibition in Article- 10(4)(a)(i) of the Sanctions Order (as
defined below) on dealing with the shares in the Cayman Islands sormpanies
(whether by reason of there being 4 use, allowing of sccess toor the making of other
changes that would enable use of the shares or the assets-and investments held by

or for thie Caymaii Islafids compariies).

(k). the adoption and passing of the Resolutions did not constitute a breach and
eontravention of the prohibition in Article 13 on participation in activities the object
oreffect of which was to eireumvent the prohibition in Article 10(1) of the Sanctions
Order.

{ch the Resolutions were validly adopted and made and the individuals who signed the.
powers of attorey which authorised the signing and passing of the Resolutions

were; validly authorised to do 0.

As will become apparent, this case has involved & large: number of factual disputes and
factual uncertainties because of the incomplete state of the evidence and & kirge sumber of
legal issues under bath Cayman Islands and Libyan law, In order to provide a proper
statement of the facts relevant to the issues in dispite and & framework for the legal anatysis,
I have T'set out below.a chronology and summary of the history and events as t_hey appearto
tnie based on the evidence that ias been filed. To do justice to.the many legal arguments that

were relied on, I have also summarised the parties* submissions but have oniy dealt in the

parts of the Judgment that explain my reasens and-analysis with those arguments that need

to be dealt with in order for me to decide the case and teach a decision on the various points
in dispute. As aresult, because of the need to reconstruct the factual backgrounid and at feast
record the many legal points raised, this is unfortunately a very long judgment,
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‘The history of these proceedings: applications before the trial, the trial and the past-trial
application

t0.
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These proceedings were originally commenced by an originating summons dated 20 May
2016. However, on 16 November 2016 I granted the Defendants’ application that the

proceedings should proceed as if commenced by writ,

In accordance with that judgment and the directions order made on 10 January 2017 pursuant
thereto, the parties have filed and served pleadings and have given discovery. The Plaintiff
served its Points of Claim on 20 January 2017; the Defendants served their Points of Defence
and Counterclaim on 10 February 2017; the Plaintiff served its Reply and Defence to
Couniterclaim on 3 March 2017; and the Defendants served their Reply to the Defence to
Counterclaim on 17 March 2017, On 12 March 2018 the Plaintiffs served an Amended

Points of Claim and an Amended Reply and Defence to Counterclaim,

On 23 May 2017, following an application by the Plaintiff, | ordered that, save in relation to
the Defendants’ applications fora declaration that on the passing of the Resolutions of the
sharsholders of the First, Second and Third Defendants the Plaintiff ceased to be a
director and the individuals appointed as new directors became directors, ‘the
Defendants’ counterclaim be stayed until after judgment on the Plaintiffs claim in these

proceedings.

Shortly before the commencement ‘of the trial an application was made by one of the
individuals ¢laiming to be the legitimate and properly appointed Chairman of the LIA’s
Board of Directors — Mr Abdulmagid Breish (Mi Breish) - for the appointment of a receiver
over the LIA’s shares in the Third Defendant — primarily on the basis that a receiver was
needed to enable funding to be made available for the defence of these proceedings. This
application was opposed by Dr Ali Malimoud Hassan Mohatned (Dr Mahmoud), one of the
claimants to the Chairmanship of the LIA, and the Plaintiff. Primarily because it became

clear that the requisite funding had been secured, I dismissed the application.

The trial took place between 12 and 23 March 2018, Following the trial there

significant further developments. Post-irial submissions were filed on 17 April 2




on 27 April 2018 the Plaintiff applied pursuant to- Order’24, Rule 11(2) of the GCR, for an
order that the Defendants give inspectioii of documments pieparéd by Deloitte which had been
referred to in the Defendants’ Re-Amended List of Documznts,-which had also been served
after the end of thie trial. This application gave rise to-the risk that it would be necessary to
re-open the trial and requiret & determination of the application by referense to all the
eviderice filed atthe trial. I gave directions for the filing of written submissions and evidence,
to be done in the perfod to 19 June 2018.0n 25-Fuly 2018 T handed dowi my judgment (the

Discovery Judgment)-and dismissed the Plaintiff’s application. T was then able-to turn to

prepaiing this judgment,

The Libyamn background and context

12.

3.

4.

15,
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Before considering in finther detail the parties to and the nature of the dispute, it is hefpful
to set out an outline of the: developments that took place in relation to the government of
Libya that foirm the bagkdmp to these proceedings, 1 have prepared this by reference to the
documentary and oral evidence and based on'my findings of fact, As { explain further below

the documentary record in thig case is incompleie and it has been necessary 1o reconstruct

-and form a viewas to the history and key svents.

For many years, of course, Libya was govérned by Colonel Gaddafi. The investments made
by the Libyan Investors into the First Defendant, the Second Defendarit and the Third
Defendant (together the: Fimds) and the gppointment of the Plaintiff oceurred during this
period.

Colonel Gaddafi was deposed in October 201 {, Thereafter, a number of different and rival
governments came ingo being and claimed to be the Jeglititate goverament of the cousitry,

Imiiediately following Colonel Gaddafi beiing deposed a Natiopal Transitional Couneil was
established, but following elections in July 2012 for the creation of a new Genera] National
Congress (GIVC) as the legisiative body for Libya the National Transitional Council was
dissolved (at the first sitting of the GNC in August 2012). The GNC was based i’
was during this period, as T explain further below, that Mr Breish was appointed 4




16.

17

18.
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of the Board of Directors of the LIA (he was appointed on 1 June 20133

In early 2014 the GNC made arrangements to hold elections for a new parliament and thereby
for its own replacement. These elections were held in June 2014 and were for a new body
called the House of Representatives (HoR) to sit in Tripoli, the national capital, However, a
transition to the HoR did not proceed smoothly and a power struggle emerged between the
GNC and the HoR with each putporting to be the legitimate legislature, The HoR then moved
ta Tobruk,

‘The HoR souglht to assert control over the LIA and had purported to appoint a Board of
Trustees of the LIA (by way of Decree No.2 of the Council of Ministers of the HoR
government). On 11 Qctober 2014, pursuant to a decree of that Board of Trustees, the Board
appointed Mr Hassan Bouhadi as Chairman of the LIA’s Board of Directors {Mr Bouhadi
subsequently resigned on 11 Angust 2016 and was replaced by Mr Farkash, who was in tum
teplaced in 2017 by Dr Alkizza). Accordingly, from 11 October 2014 there were two rival
Chairmen of the LIAs Board of Direttors each of whom asserted that they were validly
appointed and authorised to represent the LIA., But the action taken to remove the Plaintiff as
a director of the Funds (and as the Funds® investment manager) oceurred during July 2014

and therefore before the appointment of Mr Bouhadi.,

In 2015 there were various proceedings in London relating to the dispute as to who was
entitled to represent the LIA. Proceedings had previously been commenced in 20 14 in the
Commercial Court in London on behalf of the LTA againgt a number of financial institutions
and: in view of the appointment of Mr Bouhadi and the dispute ds to who was entitled to

tepresent the LIA on 2 July 2015 the Commercial Court; on an application by both Mr Bieish

and Mr Bouhadi, made an order appolating receivers over the LIA%s claims so that the

proceedings could continue, Further, in the sutumn of 2015, Mr Bouhadi issued proceedin s
it the Commercial Cowt int London with a view fo obtaining a detetrination as to whether
he or Mr Breish was entitled to represent the LIA. These proscedings however were stayed
pursuant to an order made by Mr Justice Blair on 7 March 2016 (following receipt of a letter
from the Foreign and Comimoriwealth Office which suggested that ifthe Court determined |

question it would “risk custing across the stated position of [the UK Government]
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the chairmanship within the sphere of the Govermment of Navional. dccord”) and remain
stayed.

The position was fither complicated at the end of 2015, Since September 2015, the United
Nations Support Mission i Libya (UNSMIL), which had been established in 2011 by the
UN Seeurity- Council to support efforts to establish a democratic government in Litiya, had
soughtto seoure a negotiated settlement amongst the rival groups clatming to be the legitimate
government of Libya. This process became knowr ag'the Libyan Politieal Dialogue and was
supported by the international community. On 17 December 2015, paiticipants in the Libyan
Political Dialogue signed the Libyan Political Agreement (LPA4), which provided for: (i) the
formation of the Government of the National Accord (GNA) as the sole executive authority
in Libya; (ii) the HoR 1o be the sole legislative authority; and (1ii) the formation of '3 new
consultative body, the State Couricil, which was to be comprised of members of the: GNC and
others. The LPA also established a Presidency Council, which was charged with forming a.
GNA and obtaining a vote of confidence: fér it from the HoR. However, the Presidency
Coungeil was unable to obtain, and to date.jhasiacit ob‘i’aj;:gegi? a vote of confidence frem the HoR
foi any GNA, Nonetheless, on 15 August 2016 the Presideney Council decided to form an
Interim Stgering Commitiee to.conduct the administration of the LIA and passed a regolution
(resolution no.155 of 2016) appointing D Mahmoud as Chair of the: committee. There were

fiow three individuals who asserted that they were appointed and authorised to represent the

LIA as Chalrman.

Mr Breish also comtmenced proceedings in Tripoli, seeking a declaration that resolution no, 153
of 2016, and the appointments made by the Interiim Steering Committee, were invalid. On 16
January 2017 the Second Administrative Division of the Tripoli Appeals Cowrt held that
resolution no, 155 of 2016 and hencethe appointmeiits made by the Interim Steeting Committee
were invalid. The Presidency Council has subsequently made a sefies of fresh x_‘e&_o]utioﬁs, and
Mr Breish again brought proceedings in Tripoli seeking declarations that those further

resolutions are invalid. These proceedings are, I understand, still eontinuing;
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23,
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: The Libyan Investors

| The L4

The LIA s, as T have noted, a sovereign wealth fund with assets reportedly valued at over
US$60 billion. The ‘vast majority of its assets aré located outside Libya. Its principal
functions are limited to managing income streams that are not subject fo sanctions; to
oversee, manage and support the LIA’s subsidiaries; and to terminate or restructure various
transactions emterad info in the era of the Colonel Gaddafi regime, to seek redress where

possible, and to preserve, control and realise the LIA’s valuable interests via litigation.

The LIA was first established as a state corporation pursuant to the Genefal People’s
Committee (GFC) decision 205 of 2006. Subsequent decisions of the GPC have amended
the LIA's constitution and by Law 13 of 2010 (Law No. 13) the LIA was treated as
incorporated (organised) by statute (the Law) rather than by an administrative decision. Law
No. 13 however maintained the LIA’s legal status as a state corporation with the privileges
and powers of a public entity. It also established the corporate constitution of the LIA by

making provision for a Board of Trustees, a Board of Directors and an Executive Director,

It is accepted by all parties {and by both of the Libyan law experts) that the LIA’s decisions
are, as a matter of Libyan law, administrative deeisions which are subject to Libyan

administrative law.,

Pursuant to Law Ne. 13 (since [ have been provided with different translations of Law
No.13 T have included in underlined square brackets the alternative wording that is
used, although there is no dispute between the parties as to the precise translations and

none of the differences are material):

(8).  the LIA’s mission statement is to “secure the financial resources necessary 1o
achieve economic development for the Libyan people and to maintain the

Libyan peaple’s economic welfare and prosperity in the future” (A




(b).  the LIA has a Board of Trusiees, which is the ultimate governance body with.
oversight and contrel of the LIA (Chapter 4) and a Board of Directors which is
the competent body to oversee the management of the LIA (Chapter 5).

(¢).  the Board of Trustees comprises: ex officio, the Prime Minister (as Chairman
of the. Board of Trustees); the minfsters for planning, financé, economy and
commetce; the. Governor of the Central Bank of Libys; and “& number of

experis” to be appointed by the Board of Trustees (Article 6).

(d).  the Board of Directors is made up of seven members, inctuding a Chairman,
Individiral members of the Board of Directors, including its Chairman, may be
appointed and removed only by resolution of the Boaid of Trustees (Article
10). Article 11 provides that the Board of Directors is “the competent body to
oversee the management of the [LIA] and manitor the implementation of its
[fprogrammes] to achigve its objective, as well as supervising the bodies
affifiatedwith the [LIA] to ensure good [or proper] performance of their duties
and the tasks [functions] assigned to them.” In addition Avticle 11 states that.
the Board “especiolly carries out” twenty-one different functions, These
include “establishing companies, funds and investment portfolios abroad and
appointing and re-appointing their boards of directars™ (Article 11(11)] and
“appointing menagers of portfolios and investment companies of the [LIA] and
chairmen and members.of their boards of directors” (Article 11{14)). Pursuant
to- Article 12, the Board is “the general assembly of entittes owned in full by
the [LIA}]”

(e).  the Chairman of the Board of Directors is pursuant to Artiele 13 “responsible
_ Jor [have competerice to]” five activities and functions Including “considering
oll matiers [issyes] referred from the relevant authgrities [competent bodies]
in relation to the activities of the [LI4], coordinating berween the [LIA] and
other-velevant public and private bodies and directorates [departmenis] thai
are related to the work [business] and activities of the [LIA]" (Article L3

and-“representing the [LIA] in s relation [irensactions] with thi
7 g
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25.

28,

27,

before the courts” (Article 13(5)).

(). Law No. 13 also provides (in Article 14) for the appointment of an executive
director, He is made competent in respect of eight activities and functions
including “setting the plans and [programmes] necessary lo implement the
decisions and recommendations of the Board of Directors” (Article 14(1)) and
“preparing reporis on the performance of the investment portfolios and funds
of the [LI4 and] ... proposing the appropriate measures to improve iheir
econamies and raise thelr level of performance to the Board in a way that

enables it to take the appropriate decisions about them.” (Article 14(6)).

Mr Breish was, as | have already noted, appointed as Chairmar of the Board of Directors of
the'LIA on I June 2013, by 2 resolution of the then Board of Trustees. The Defendants point
qut that this was at a time at which there was no dispute as to who had authority to act for or
on behalf of the LIA, Mr Breish temporarily stood aside for 2 period from 3 July 2014, asa
result of being included in and made subject to Libya's political isolation laws. At this point
Mr Abdurahmen Benyezza (Mr Benyerza) took his place, and his appointment was ratified
by the Board of Trustees on 3 July 2014, Mr Breish was reinstated as Chaitman in May
2015, after he successfully appealed his inclusion in the political isolation laws. Mr Breish’s
position is that there has been no subsequent lawfully appointed Chairman of the Board of
Directors of the LIA.

Mr Bouhadi has, as I have also noted already, claimed authority to act as Chairtman of the
Beard of Directors of the LIA, by virtue of the Decree of 11 October 2014.

Dr Mahmoud, as I have also noted above, subsequently claimed to exercise authority over

the LIA on the basis that he was appointed as chair of the Interim Steering Committee for

the administration of the LIA set up on 15 August 2016.

The LAP

28.
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The LAP is a public entity (with separate corporate personality) established in 2006 pu




1o a decision of the-GPC (15/2006). Articles of association for the LAP (the LAP Arvicles)
were issued pursoant to-another GPC decision (197/2 006). These two decisions together with
the LAP Articles are the LAP*s constitutional documents. Artitle 16 of Law No. 13
transferred ownership of the LAP to the LIA. As I have already tioted, by vittue of Article 12
of Law No, 13 the Board of Directors of the LIA is the general assembly (genéral meé:tiﬁgof
sharsholders) of the gntities whelly owned by the LIA. The LIA’s Board of Directors, in its
capagity as-sole sharcholder of the LAP, resalved in its desision No 6.-of 2012 to form.a
sieering commitiee for the LAP (the LAP Steering Commitiee) and appointed five
individuals as membets of the LAP Steering Commiitee (ineluding Mr Al Elhshri (Mr
Elhebriy as chairman). The decision vested the powers of the LAP’s Board of Directors in
‘the LAP Steering Committee (temporarily until a board was appointed),

29, Pursuant to the LAP Asticles:

{8).  the purpose of LAP is the “developiment and investment of ity monies/funds in

all produciive, services and financial flelds of economic returns® (Article 2),

(h).  the executive bodies of the LAP include the Board of Direstors, Chairman of
the Board of Direttors and General Manager (or CEQ) {Ar’ti'o{e- o).

(c).  the LAP is to be managed by the Board of Dirgctors, which is made up of sevei

members, ifichuding the Chairman and the General Manager-(Article 8).

(d).  the “Chaitman of the Board of DirectorsiGeneral Manager” is to be the
executive manager of the LAP wha shall deal with various tasks and activities.
These include:

(0. “vresiding over meetings of the Board ... (Artigle 14(a));

(ii).  “fgleneral supervision of Management, and implementation of the
{LAFP] policy, as well as ali usual functions related to-this pos, gnd .
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Board of Directors firom time to time” (Article 14(b));

(i), “[mjenagement and running the affairs of fthe LAP] " (Article 14(c));

(v).  “[rlepresentation of the [the LAP] before others” (Article 14(1)).

30. It wasaccepted by all parties (and by the. Libyan law experts) that the LAPs decisions are,
as a matter of Libyan law, administrative decisions which are subject to Libyan

adminisirative law.
The LFB

31, The LFB is mcorporated as a joint stock company, Law No. 18 of 1972, as amended by Law
No. 66 of 1972, permitted the Libyan Central Bank to establish a Libyan joint stock company
named the Libyan Arab Foreign Bank. In November 2005 the general meeting of shareholders
of the Libyan Aral Foreign Bank issued revised Articles of Association for the Libyan Arab
ForeignBank. These Articles provided in Article 1 fora change of name to the Libyan Foreign
Bank.

32. Pursuant to the LEB s Articles:

(a).  theobjeet of the LFB was “to provide—outside of the Libyan Arab Republic—
all banking and investment business and activities, inctuding all business

complementary thereto and assoctated therewith” (Article 2).

(b).  the LFB is managed by a part-time Board of Directors consisting of seven

members ard the board is to select a Chairman (Article 35).

(c). the board is “respansible for-eéstablishing policies that it deems appropriate to
achieve the purpases of the [LFBJ", The Board is stated to be particularly

compotent to underteke thirteen activities and functions including *appo

e\
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representatives of the [LFB] 1o the boards of directars of banks owned by the
[LFB] abroad ...” (Atticle 40),

{d).  resolutions adopted by the board must be recorded in a report signed by the
Chairman and secratary with a copy being sent to the Oversight Committee and
& report being provided to the Central Bank of Libya {Article 45).

(¢).  the LFB shall have a General Manager (Article 46) wh is to be appoirited by
the Board. The General Manager is the CEQ of the LFB and a full time officer
of the bank ‘with authority (he is “entiiled”) to “manage the [LFB] and its
affoirs and sign individually on behalf of the [LFB]. He shall be held liable for
his actions befare the Board and shall represent the {LEB] in ity velationship
‘with others and before the éourts” (Articla 47).

33. Tt wasaccepted by all parties (and by the Libyan law experts) that the LFB decisions are
Hat, as a matter of Libyan law, administrative decisions subject to Libyan administrative

law,
The ESDF

34,  The Economic and Social Development Fund (ESDF) was, set up by the Libyan
(government in 2006 (and was restructured in 2008 by resolution ne.429/2008 (1376) of
the GPC) 1o invest funds for development in order & assist in improving the quality of life

and incentivise and stimulate ecanomic and social development programmesin L'ibya,

35, The BESDF’s purposes, as set out in resolution no, 429/2008, include: “Tnvestment and
development of these funds in all economic, financial aud commercial flelds, ineluding
the incorporation, participation in the incorporation-or full er partial ownership of
compantes and financial and investment portfolios in the country and abroad, in fields
vdelaied 10 the objects of the FuniP( Article 4(3)).

36.  The evidence includes a letter dated 21 November 2009 from the ESDF to the LFB which;
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37.

() refers to an agreement between the ESDF and the LFB dated 26 March 2007 {which was
amended on 3 June 2009) pursuant to which, it appears, the ESDF’s financial portfolios were
managed by the LFB ; (ii) refers to an agreement dated 25 November 2009 between the ESDF
and the LIA under which the LIA was to take over the management of the ESDIs financial
poitfolios (this appears to be a mistranslation or typographical error and should be a reference
to 15 November 2009 ~ see the reference to the Funds Management Agreement which
tollows); and (iiD) requests the LFB o transfer all of the ESDF's portfolios to the LIA fo
facilitate this. The evidence also contains a copy of the Funds Management Agency
Agreement dated 15 November 200 between the LIA and the ESDF, pursuant to which the
LIA is appointed by ESDF as ifs investment manager with power to manage, invest ard
dispose of the ESDFs securities portfolios.

On 29 August 2010, the LIA and ESDF signed a loan agreement pursuant to which the
LIA loaned the ESDF US$500 million for a one -year term, which loan was secured by
a pledge of various schieduled assets {although the translation of the loan agreement put
in evidence is less than crystal elear). Among the scheduled assets was “Palladyne Asset
Management Global Advanced portfolio/{Balanced)” [sic]. The Defendants consider
that this is intended to be a reference to the ILFB’s shares in the First Defendant (and

not to the Second Defendant).

The Funds

38.
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In the peried 2006 to 2007, the LIA, the LFB (on behalf of the ESDF) and the LAP

invested a total of US$700 million in three investment companies:

(a).  the First Defendant — whose name was then Palladyne Global Balanced
Portfolio Fund Limited (which was then changed on 8 July 2014, assumimg the
relevant sharcholder resolution was validly passed, to Upper Brook {A)
Limited). The investment was made by the LAP.

(by.  the Second Defendant - whose name was then Palladyne Global Advanced

Portfolio Fund Limited (which was then changed on 8 July 2014, assuming




relevant shareholder résolution was validly passed, to Upper Brook (F)
Limited). The investment was made by the LFB (probably on behalf of the
ESDF),

(¢).  the Third Defendant - whose name was then Palladyne Global Diversified
Portfolio Fund Limited (which was then changed on 8 July 2014, assuming the
relevant shareholder resolution was ‘/a}icﬁy passed, to Upper Brook (Iy

Liniited), The investment was.made by the LIA,

39. The Funds, as 1 have already explained, were incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
exempt companies limited by shares. The Funds were established and managed by the
Plaintiff,-a company incarporated in the Nethierlands which is centrolled by Mr Ismael
Abudher (Mr Abudher) who was (and remains) the CEO of the Plaintiff, Mr Abudher
worked for Palladyne Asset Manageiment from before 2000 and participated in discussions
with the Libyan Investors before they made their investnient ifi the Funds. Mr Johan
Hendrik Wansink. (My Warisinky was the Chairman of the Plaintiff's Board of Direetors
from 2014 and had been a Board member from 2012.

40, The Funds are each goveriied by a memaorandum of association and articles of
association. Paragraph 3 of the memorandum of assogiation for each of the Funds
provides that: “The objects for which the Comparny i3 established are unvestricted and
the Compary shall have ﬁ_zllpm'ver and authority to-carry out any pbfect not prohibited
by any law as provided by Section 7(4) of the Companies Lanw (Revised)™,

41, The USE700 million was invested in the Funds via a series of subscriptions. by the LIA,
‘the LEB (probably on behalf of the ESDF) and the LAP as follows:

{a).  US$200 million was invested by the LAP in the First Defendant, pursuant to
two Subseription Agisements between the LAP and the First Defendant dated

22 Deceniber 2006 and 1 Novenber2007.

(b).  US$200 miilion was invested by the LFB in the Second Defendant, pursua
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a Subscription Agreement between the LEB and the Second Defendant dated 7
May 2007 {the investment proposal dated 29 March, 2007 sent by the Plaintiff
was addressed to “LFB dce, [ESDF]” and the covering letter to the LFB
referred fo recent discussions between the Plaintiff and the chief investment
officer of the ESDF).

(©).  US$300 million was-invested in the Third Defendant by the LIA pursuant to
a Subscription Agresment between the LIA and the Third Defendant dated 20
December 2007.

On 27 January 2011, the LFB execuited a share transfer form in favour of the LIA in respect
of the shares in the Second Defendant, However, that transfer was never fully perfected and
the LIA was not registered in the Second Defendant’s shate register as a result of the imposition

by the UN of sanctions.

The Plaintiff was appointed as the investmertt managerof each of the Funds pursuant to an
investment managemetit agreement between the Plaintiff and each of the Funds (each an
IM.A). Pursuant to the terms of the IMAs, the Plaintiff was entitled to management fees
which were, originally, 2.5% of the net asset value annually payable quarterly (IMA
Fe{e‘s).

In respect of each of the Furids, there was also an administrator, responsible for maintaining
each Fund’s share register, and registering changes of the directors of each Fund. This was
originally Close Brothers (Cayman Litd), and subsequently Intertrust Corporate Services
(Cayman) Limited.

Upon incorporation of the Funds, the Plaintiff was appointed managing director of each
of the Funds. In addition, each Fund had two independent directors. Mr David Sargisson
and Mr Warren Keens were appointed as directors of each of the Funds. Mr Sarglsson and
Mr Keens resigned from the First Defendant in February 2009 and Maich 2011
respectively; and from the Second and Third Defendants in January 2009 and March 201 I:

respectively. Mr Vijayabalan Murugesu (Mr Murugess) was a director of all




Funds from January 2009 until he resigned in March 2011, and then again-from July
2013 until July 2014,

46, ‘The assets of each of the Funds comprised finansial instruments of vgr_yir_{g_ agset classes,
including cash and securities, At all material fimes, the assets were held outside Libya by
third-party custodians (the Custodians). The Defendants’ witngsses clain that they and the
LIA were kept in 'i_gnﬁra‘mer of the detail of these structures, and knowonly what has been
disclosed in these proceedings by the Plaintiff (thie accuracy of which they have been unable
to verify). The Plaintiff says that the Custodians have been as follows:

(@).  asfrem December 2008, the Londen Branch of State Street Bank and Trust
Company (State Sireef), a company incorporated in Massachusetts, United
States (which replaced Fortis Bank, the initial custodian). State Street holds
approximately 1.5% of the assets of the Funds,

(b).  as from November 2012, Deutsche Bank AG (Déutsehe Bank), a company
incotporated in Germany. Deutsche Bank holds appmxima\_teiy 98.5% of the

assets.of the Funds.

47. On 16 August 2012, the Plaintiff established a Dutch stichting or foundation called Palint,
At or around the same time, the Plaintiff appears to have transferred legal title to most
of the Funds™ assets to Palint (being the assets held by Deutsche Bank ih Germany —
Mr Wansink in his evidence says that legal title to these-assets is held by Palint); caused
Palint to issue it with a power of attorney enabling the Plaintiff to carry out acts
necessary for the management of any asset held by Palint {including to make;_payments
in respaot of the IMA Fees to itself); and eritered into a custodian agreement with
Deutsche Bank, The Plaintiffhas stated that the reason for -i_i_lcdjrpdmtihg and transferring
legal title to Palint was the need to satisfy Deutsche Bank’s requirement that assets be
held by it for someone other than the Plaintiff (so-as to provide the Plaintiff's clients with
protection against the risk of the Plaintif’s bankruptey) in circumstances -where
Deutsche Bank was unwilling te accept a direct relationship with the PlaintifP s elients.
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The imposition of sanctions

48.

49.

50,

51.

52,
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International sanctions were imposed in respect of Libyd in 2011 by the UN. Intemnational
sanctions were initially imposed by UN Security Counil Resolution 1970 {201 1) adopted on 26
Febroary 2011 (SC Resolution 1970) and Resolution 1973 adopted on 27 March 2011 (SC
Resolution 1973). These resolutions called upon all member states of the UN 1o apply certain
measures fo giveeffect to decisions of the Security Council in relation to Libya. Those measures
included a fieeze of assets held by certain individuals or entities who were identified and listed in
Annex [T to 8C Resolution 1970 and then in Annex I to SC Resolution 1973. The LIA, the LAP
and the LFB were designated in Annex I to SC Resolution 1973.

Pursuant to SC Resolution 1970 the UN Security Council established the UN Libya
Sanctions Committes (Sanctions Committee) to oversee the sanctions measures

imposed by the Security Council in respect of Libya.

Pursuant to paragtaphs 17-18 of SC Reselution 1970 the UN Security Council:

"7, {decided] that all Member States shall freeze without delay all funds, other
Jinancial assety and economic resources which are ow their lervitories, which
are. owned or vontrolled, directly or indirectly, by the individuals or entities
listed in anmex I of this resolution or designated by the [Sanctions
Committee]... or by Individuals or entities acting on their behalf or at their
direction, or by entities owned or controlled by them, and decides further that
all Member States shall ensure that any fimds, financial assets or economic
resources are.prevenied from being made available by the nationals or by
any individuals.or entities within their territories, to or for the benefit of the
individuals or entities listed in Annex I of this resolution or Mdividuals
designated by the [Sanctions Committee];

18. [expressed] its intention'to ensure thet assets frozen pursuant to paragraph

17 shall at a later stage be made available to and for the benefit of the people
of the Libyan Arvabian Jamahiripa, ...”

Paragraph 19 of SC Resolution 1970 sets out the circumstances in which a Member State

can grant a licence to disapply the measures contained in paragraph 17,

Pursuant to paragraphs 19-20 of 8C Resolution 1973 the UN Seeurity Couneil:




1. f decra’ec{] thed the assel ﬁaeze zmpasad by par agfapfv 17, 18, 20 and 21 of ISC

resources whwh are on Ihe:‘r tery: ffa.wm, Wh.tch are owned o c&nlra!lad

directly or indivectly, by the Libyon cuwthorities, s designated by the
[Sanctions Committee], or by individuals or entities acting on theiy behulf of
at their direction, orby entities awned or controlled by them, as designated by
the [Sanctions Committee], and decides further that all States shall ensure that
any funds; financial assets or economic resonrcey ave pﬂevenzed from being
macle available by thelr nationals or by any individials or entities within their
territories, to or for the bengfit of the Libyan:authoritis, & designuted by the
[Sanetions Committee], or individuals or entities acting on their behalf or at
their direction, or entities owned or controlled by them, as desxgnated by the
[Sanctions Commitiea}, and divects the [Sanctions Committee] 10 designate
such Libyan authorities, individuals or ertities within 30 days.of the date of
the adoption gf this resolution and as appropriale thereafier;

26. [uffirmed] its determination i ensure thal asseis frozen pursuamt fo
pavagraph 1790 [SC Resoltution 1970] shall, at o later stage, s soon as
possible be made avm!ab!e to- awd for the benefit of the people of the Libvan
Arabian Jamahiviya; ...

53, On 16 September 2011 , Tollowing the overthrow of Colonel Gaddafi’s regime, the UN
Security Council adopted a further reselution, being resolution 2009 (2011) (SC
Resolution 2009). The measures in that resolution modified SC Resolution 1970 and SC
Resoluition 1973 so that:

(a).  theLlA,the LAP and the LFB were no longer subject to the measures itnposed
in paragraph 17 of SC Resolution 1970 or paragraph 9 of SC Resolution 1973
in their entirety, including the prohibition on making fungs, financial assets
and economic resources available to them (see paragraph 15(b) of SC
Resolution 2009);

{b).  howsgver, funds, other financial assets and economic rescurces of the LIA, the
LAP and the LFB outside Libya that were frozen as at 16 September 2011
were to remain frozen (see paragraph 15(a)-of $C Resolution 2009

{c).  an additional exception was created which would allow Member Statés to
grant a licence to allow access to the funds, other financial assets, or economic
resources, of the LA, the LAP and the LFB provided that;
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(i),

(iit).

{iv}.

the Member State natified the Sanctions Committee that it intends to
authorise access to funds, other financial assets, Or economiv resources,
for one of the defined putposes (¢.g..humanitarian needs), and there has
been no cbjection within five ‘working days (paragraph 16(a) of SC
Resolution 2009);

the Member State notified the Sanctions Commitiee that the funds,
other financial assets or economic resources shall not be made
available to or for the benefit of individuals who remain subject to the
measures imposed in paragraph 17 of SC Resolution 1970 or
paragraph 19 of SC Resolution 1973 (paragraph 16(b) of SC
Resolution 2009Y;

the Member State had consulted in advance with the Libyan
authorities in advance about the use of such funds, other financial
assets or economic resources (paragraph 16{c) of SC Resohition
2009); and

the Member State has shared with the Libyan authorities the
notification submitied to the Sanctions Committee, and there has
been 1o objection within five working days (paragraph 16{d) of §C
Resolution 2009).

54. By a decision announced on 16 December 2011, the UN removed all asset freezing

measures in relation to the LFB. The asset freezing measures continued, howevet, to

apply to the LIA and the LAP, for any funds, other financial assets and economic

resources held outside of Libya that were frozen as at 16 September 2011,

55. The UN resolutions were given sffect both by the EU and by the UK, including in the

latter case in relation to the Cayman Isiands.

56.  As regards the EU, Couneil Decision 2011/137/CFSP and Council Regulation ()
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204/2011 implemented the measures in SC Resoliution 1970 and introduced certain EU
alitonomous measures. A series of subsequent Council Decisions and Regulations:
implemented SC Resolution 1973 and SC Resolution 2009, On 18 January 2016, the EU
adopted Coumeil Regulation (EU) 2016/44 which consolidated the existing resuictive
measures into a new regulation. This was done for clarity, as the original Regulations had

been extensively amended,

57, Tn the Cayman Islands, the UN sanctions were given effect by the Libya (Restrictive
Measures) (Overseas Teiritories) Order 2011 (Sanctions Order), which came into force on
9 April 2011, and the Sanctions Order as in force in July 2014 (the date of the Resolutions)
is the key instrument for the purposes of these proceedings.

58. - The following are the key provisions in the Sanctions Order:
{a).  Article 2(1) contains the following definitionsz

“funds* means financial assets and beneflts of every kind,
Including (bl not limited to)— (a) cash, cheques, claims on
money, drafls,  maongy orders cand other  paywent
instrumends... (c). publicly and privately iraded securities ond’
debt [nstruments, inchiding stocks and shares, certificates
representing seewrilies, honds, notes, warranty, debentures
and dertvative contracls, |

‘person referred to in paz agraph 13 of Security Comneit
resolufion. 2009 (2011)" means the Libyan -Investment
Am‘homy or the Libyan Africa Investment Portfolio or botly

(b).  Article 10 (emphasis added) states:

“(1) Subject to artivle [2, unless they do so under the
aquthority of a licence granted under article 15, o person
(including o designated person -of persen raferved to in
paragraph 15 of Security Council resalution 2009 {2011))
shall not deal with funds or ecopsmie resourges which ~

{a) are owned held or comrolled, directly or
indireotly, by a designated person oF persons geting
ont their behalf oi at their direction or by persens
owned or controlled by them; or

(b) on 16th September 3011 —.
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() were owned, held or controlled, direcily or
indirectly, by a person referred lo in i
paragraph 15 of Security  Council
resolution 2009 (204 1);

() were localed omiside Libya; end

(li}  werg frozen under the asset freeze imposed.
under paragraph 22 of Security Council
resolwtion 1973 (2011}  read with
parageaph 17 of  Security Comuncil
vesalution 1970 (204 1),

(2} A person who contravenes the prohibitlon in
puaragraph (1) shall be guilty of an offence under this g
{rder, |

(3} Inproceedings for an offénce under this article, it is o
defence: for a person to show that they did not know
and lnd no reasonable cause to suspeet that they were
dealing with funds or economic résources owned o
eontrofled, divectly o indirectly, by a designated :
persan or persons weting on their behalf or at thelr ;
direction or by persohs controlled by them, !

(4} Inhis article, ‘to deal with* means—

{a)  inrespect of funds— i

) touse alter, move, allow gccess to or transfer;

(1) to deal with in any other way that would result
in any change in volume, amount, location,
ownérship,  possession,  character  oF
destination: sr

to_muke any other chanse that would enable
use, inchiding porifolic management; and

(i)

(B i respect of economic resources, lo exchange
or wse to obtain funds, goods or services in any
way, [nctyding (but not lmited 1o} by selling,
hiring or morigaging the resources.”

Article 13 stafes:

“A person shall be guilty of an offence under this Order if
they participate, knowingly and intentionally, in activities the
object or effect of which is, directly or indirectly, to—a)
eircumvent a prohibition in article 10(1) or 111); or (8)
endble or facilitate the commission of an offence under article




1002) or 11(2)."

{d).  Article 15-which deals with the granting of sanctions licences.

The core chronelogy — the events leading up to the removal of the Plaintiff as a director of the
Funds, the removal and the immediate aftérmath

59.

60.
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There is a-dispute as to the real reasons behind the action taken by the Libyan
Investors resulting in the removal of the Plaintiff as director {and investmert
‘manager) of the Funds. The Plaintiff has strangly challenged the account given
by the Defendants’ witnesses both in their witness statements and during their
cross-examination and I shall return to.and deal with this issue in the context of
my discussion of the Sanctlons Point. But at this stage 1 propose to describe the
history of the relationship between the Libyan Investors and the Plaintiff and
the events leading up 1o the remaval of the Plaintiff as they appear from the
evidence filed (in particular the written evidence, both in the documents and
witriess statements put in évidence) in these proceedings. I described in the.
Discovery Judgment the incomplete and unsatisfactory state of the evidence
(caused. in part at least by the inability of the Defendants® withesses to access
the LIA's records) which iakes fact finding difficult. I also described the late
production of key documents by the Defendants, about which the Plaintiff
vigorously complained and which has not been property explained. Of course

‘the Court can only determine the facts by reference to the availeble evidence

such as it is and this is what 1 have sought to do, giving particular weight to

sontemporangous documents, and drawing inferences, when appropriate to do

50

The relationship between the -Li:h_y-an Investors and the Plaintiff changed over
time. The relationship began during the period in which Colongl Gaddafi was in
affice and changed after he was depased in October 2011, This appears to have
been the result of the change in regime that folfowed the removal of Calonel

Gaddafi and his government. The new regime made changes to the managemen;




and eontrol of the L1A (and the other Libyan Investors). As early as December
2011 the LIA was in the process of gathering and verifying information {and
reconstituting its records) concetning its investments and seeking copies of
doouments and other information. Following the appointment of Mr Breish as
Chairman of the LIA’s Board of Directors in June 2013 the LIA began a review
of its assets, the manner in which its investments were being held and managed
and the performance of its fund managers (and also appears to have engaged
Deloitte to review and value the whole of the LIA®s asset porifolio). Discussions
between the Libyan Investors and the Plaintiff regarding tn particular the
Plaintiff’s fees and proposals to revise its fee structure had continued after the
collapse of Colonel Gaddafi’s regime and on 7 August 2013 the LFB sent an
email to the Plaintiff raising concerns about the relatively poor performance of
its investment fund and that in the circumstances there appeared to be room for

the costs and fes structure to be amended,

The LIA s information gathering and investigations andreceipt of press reporis relating
to the Plaintiff

61,
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The LIA began to focus on the pesition of the Plaintiff during July and August
2013. The LIA had re-employed Mr Al Baruni (Mr Baruni) as a consultant in June
2013 (he had first been engaged as an external adviser by the LIA in March 2007) and he
was mvolved it Jaly 2013 in the progess of reviewing the holdings and performanee of
various fund managers acting in relation to the LIA’s investments. On 23 July 2013 Mr
Baruni received an email from Mr Ahmed Amoush (Mr Amoush) stating that in light of
a change in personnel at the LIA s Alternative Investments Desk it had been decided, in
consultation with Mr Breish, to arrange a serfes of meetings with the fuiid managers (to
which Mt Baruni would be invited) so as to ensure a smooth handover to the LIA’s team
in Libya. Mr Amoush subsequenitly (on 24 July 2013) emailed Mr Baruni suggesting that
he proceed with arranging a meeting with the Plaintiff and Mr Baruni’s immediate
response was to explain that he had no knowledge of the investments which the Plaintiff
held for the LIA (in his email to Mr Amoush also dated 24 July 2013 he said that “J do
not know what subject matter we have with [the Plaintiff”). On the same day Mr

Amousli replied that:

SO




62.

63.
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SThe purpose of meeting with [the Plaintiff] would be to follow up
on the fund performarce, obtain derailed information as to what the
current underlying assets are becquse they no longer provide these
details inthe performance reports and finally to -discwss any ongoing
issues/problems they are facing”. '

Mr Baruni then agreed to attend the meeting dnd agreed the proposed agenda
and asked whether the Plaintiff'was based in London and would sttend a ingating
there (and whether there were other fund managers with whom meetings were

to be-arranged)..

On 29 July 2013 the Plajntiff wrote to both the LIA and the LFB to provide an
update on and exptanation of the Plaintiff’s understanding of the status of the
transfey of the LFB’s shares in the Second Defendant.{The letter to the LIA also
included an offer to reduce the fees for the Second -D:eféndant). That letter was
forwarded by Mr Amoush to Mr Breish who, on 7 August 2013, respanded by
asking Mr Amoush to discugs the letter with him and sayin g that “T-understand
that this new participation is over and above what wa already tave 4t LIA?”, On the
saitie day Mr Amoush confirmed that: “Yes this transfer constitutes a bigger.exposire
Jor the LIA to [the Plaintiff]. The bavis ond details of this iransfer is yel fo be
understood.” Mr Baruni then asked whether-Mr Amoush had any information on the
Second Defendant and Mr Amoush explained that: “We have no information on
the [Second Defendant] .. the fund rhat the LIA is invested into is the
[Third Defendant]”. Mr Baruni then noted that the requited information
gould be obtained from either the LFB, the ESDF or the Plaintiff.

While this information gatheting process was underway there -was a significant
development in the following month, On 26 Septeinbet 2013, Mr Baruni received a
telephone call from a journalist af the Financial Times who referved to a raid on the PlaintifPs
offices and informed liim that the Plaintiff was being investigated by the US authorities. Mr
Baruni informed Mr Breish of this call by email on 27 September 2013. Then on 2 Ociober
2013, Mr Barmni received an email from Mr Faez Abdulaati (who was, aceording to Mr

Baruni's witness statement, part of the Alternative Tnvestments Desk of the LIA) whi




contained an extract from an article (which Mr Abdulaati says is a “bit old”) as follows;

“AMSTERDAM (NH) - The 43-year-old Ismael Abudher, director of the
Amsierdam hedge fund Palladyne Iniernational Asset Managemeni, is
believed ta have commitied frand-by the Public Prosecutor (OM) suspecied
21.77 million. Financial sources state that Ishmael Abudher includes a close
ceoperation with the invesiment bank Van Lanschot,

The fraud department FIOD of the OM has on June 26, 2013 seizure made at
his private home in Den Bosch. The house was, like the office of the Amsterdom
Zuidas on Gustav Mahler Square 70, invaded by armed officers. lsmael
Abudher Is a son of former Libyan Prime Minister Shokri Ghanem, under
dictator Gaddafi was the head of state ¢il company NOC and oil minister was,
Ghangm was In 2011 just before the fall of Gaddafi over to the insurgents,”

This article ¢onfirmed the existencs of allegations of fraud against the Plaintifl" and My
Abudber in the Netherlands and that there had been a raid by the Dutch authorities.

64,  Mr Breish explained in his witness statement his understanding of the position

atthis time and the steps he took in response to these developments as follows:

190 30 Padlachne 190130 Palladyne International Asset Management BV v Upper Brook £4) Liinited st.al ~ B

(NS Sudgoient

271273

®33. When [ was initlally appointed as Chairman of the LIA in mid-2013, I haid
not heard of the Plainiff but I had heard of Mr Ismael Abudher, whom !
understood 10 be the son-in-law of Mr Shukri Ghanem who had served under
Colonel Gaddaft as prime minister from June 2003 uniil March 2006. My
Ghanem subseguently served as the Minister of Oil until the revolution
which overthrew Colonel Gaddafi in 2011, Mr Ghanem died in 2012 in
Austria. Aflegations emerged al around the time that the LI4 Beard was
considering the [Plaintifilissue that Mr Ghanem and/or his son, Mohamed
CGharem had had [sie] taken bribes from @ Norwegiun company, |
understand from press reports that the Norwegian courts have found (and
upheld orr appeal) that bribes were paid to Mohamed Ghanem.

34, When I becamg aware that Mr Abudher was managing a large amount of

LIA money which had been invested with his company shertly afier hiy
Jather-pr-law served as Colonel Gaddafi’s prime minister and just after he
had been appointed Minister of Ol, it raised concerns. I was not aware of
Mr Abudher having any track record as an asset manager. Those converns
were increased when I'was informed by My Baruni in September 3013 that
a Financial Times' jowrnalist had contacted him, saying that the Plaintiff's
offices had been raided and the Plaintiff was also being Investiguted by US
authoriiies. I immediately referred the matter to Enyo Law LLP (Enya), o
specinlist litigation law firm in London who had afready been appointed to
condict litigation for the LIA against two oiher invesiment aouitErparties,

Coldnan Sachs and Société Géndrale,

37, At thai time I had asked Delojtte 1o conduct a root and branch vevi
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LiA's investments. 4 munber of investments were brought to my atiention as
part of this véview, amang which was the lpvestment of USDE300m by the
L4 in the Third Defendent. Deloitie  flagged a number of concerns which I
immiediately referred 1o Eryo as it was lear o me ai that point that the LiA

would have to Investigate firther. The main-concerns af that ppint (October

2013) were in vespedt of the nvestigation of the Plaiatiff by the Dutch fand
passibly. US} duthorities, the exorbifant management fees being charged by
the Plaintiff, lack of transparency as to the performance of the investments
and discrepancies between different reports civculated by the Plainilff for-
the saine period, lack of track record in asset management of key ¢fficers of
the Plaintyff and niisrepresentation by the Plaintiff to the LIA as to its level
af staffing and assets under management. I was-also troubled by suspicions
us 1o how the Plaintiff had obtained this mandate giver Mr Abudher’s family
relationship with My Ghaner.”

In paragraphs 35 and 36 of his witness staterent Mr Breish said that coneerns had been
raised in his mind as to whether Mr Abudher’s and the Plaintiff’s appointment might have
resulted from Mr Abudher”s relationship with his father-in <law, Mr Shukri Ghanem,
rather than by reason of his expertise and experience in asset managsment, Furthermore,
éongeriis were-also raised by this relationship since the LIA had been given information
suggesting (or atleast was investigating allegations) that Mr Shukri Ghanem and his son
Motiamed Ghanem had received bribes in connection with a joint venture bgtween
Libyaii and "NO'nNegian' companies. Mr 8hukrt Ghanem had served under Colonel
Gaddafi as Prime Minister from June 2003 to March 2006, and Minister of Oil from
2006+ 2011,

It is-not clear from the doeumentary evidence precisely when these concerns emerged.

But the documentary evidence docs confirm that the allegations of bribery against Mr

Shukri Ghanem and his son Mehamed Ghanem were beinig discussed during the first

halfof 2074, Mr Breish toferred in his witness statement to the minutes of the meeting

of the LIA"s Board of Directors on 2 April 2014 at which there was a report on
discussions that had taken place between the partners in the Libyan Norwegian
Pertiliser Company (the National Qil Corporation, the Lihyan Investment Company
and the Norwegian Yara Company) during which the Norwegian parties had provided
details of acts of bribery involving My Shukei Ghanem and his son in canhection with
this joifit vénture. Mr Breish-also.referred to (undated) press reports of a decision of an

appellate court in Norway in Jatuary 2014 in'which the sentence of'a US citizen
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had served as a legal adviser to Yara) convicted of aggravated bribery had been
increased. The decision of the court is reported as having confirmed that Yara had
offered to pay at least US$ 4.5 miillion in bribes to the son of Mr Shukri Gharem in
connection with the cofistruction of a fertilizer plant in Libya and that at least US$ 1.5
million was actually paid. There was no suggestion that Mr Abudher had any
involvemeitt with the Yara case. Rather it was his relationship with Mr Shukei Ghanem
that gave rise to the concerns (it should be noted that in his evidence Mr Abudher
confirmed that he believed that none-of the individuals with whom he had dealt at the
LAP, ESDF, the LFB and the LIA when discussing the investments to be made by the
Libyan Investors and the appointment of the Plaintiff knew of his connection by

marriage fo Dr Shukri Ghanem).

Mr Breish also referred in his witness statement to the appointment of Deloiite 1o
undertake a “root and branch review of the LIA"s investments.” As [ have discussed in
the Discovery Judgment; the documents relating to the engagement of and. reports
delivered by Deloitte have not been produced by the Defendants although in their Re-
Amended List of Documents, filed on 29 March 2018 after the conclusion of the
hearing, they listed in Part 2 of the Re-Amended List (covering the documents in
respect of which they objected to production on the gronnd that such doeuments were
privileged from production} the following:
“Reports prepared by Deloitle for the purposes of intended litigation againsi the
Plairitiff sent to the LI4 and to the Fourth and Fifth Defendants dated 22 October
2013 and 14 Samuary 2014 (both marked 'draft’) fogether with emails of 22 Ovtober
2013 and 9 Aprit 2014 under cover of which the reports were respectively sent o

the abave parties and anemail forwarding the report dated 14 Jannary 2014 to Enyo
Law on 1) April 2014

Mr Breish further stated in his witness statement that following being told by
Mr Baruni of the call from the Financial Times® journalist, he (Mr Breish)
“immediately referred the matter to Enyo Law LLP (Enya), a specialist litigation law
firm in London who had already been appointed to conduct litigation for the LIA
against two other investment counterparties, Goldman Sachs and Société Générale.”
He also said that Deloitte had “flagged” 4 number of concerns which he had, once again,

“immediately” referred to Enyo. These main concerns (in October 2013) were, he




“in .respect of the investigation of the Plaintiff by the Dufch (and possibly US)
authorities, the exorbitant management fees being chargad 'by E:he Plaintiff, 4 lack of
different _x'q;_)imts circulated by the Plaintiff for the same permd_, the Eack ofa track- record
in assel management of key officers of the Plaintiff and miisrepregentation by the

Plaintiff to the LIA as to.its level of staffing and assets under management.”

Comniimications beiween the solicitors acting for the LIA and the Plainiiff
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Thefirst Ietter from Enyo to the Plaintiff was dated 23 October 2013, Bnyo gaid that they
wete acting for the LIA in relation to two matters, namely “lssves arising from (1)

trades transacted on the LIA's behalf by Goldman Sachs Imternational ... in

eqrly 2008, and [2) discretionary portfalio mandates and fund ivestments

managed by [the Plai'm-yjf] on behalf of the LIA.” Enyo-asserted that “[g}iven
that (the Plaintiff] [had been] retained as [the Lid 5] dsset manager and agent,
fthe LIdwas] -entitled ta coll for all docyments and information in [the
Plaintiff’s] possessian that relate to the tasks and role that [ihe
Plaintiffwasfengaged to perform on behalf of [the LIA]™, Enyo then requested
that the Plaintiff provide copies of a wide range of documents, While many of
these related to the relationship and transactions with Goldman Sachs they went
beyond this and included other documents relating to-the general relationship
hetween the LIA and the Plaintiff and the investments being managed by the
Plaintiff of the LIA"s behalf. The documents rc,q.ucste-df inchided the following:

=L any ang all correspondence (hard copy vr electionic, mc!ztdmg emgils and
instant messages) between [the Plaintiff] and the Lid;

2. any and all terms and conditions and ggrediments between [the
Plaintifffand the LIA;
3. any and all bank documents (including accounl statements)

gvidencing transactions and/or investments carried out on behalf of
the LIA by [the Plaintiff], whether o not involving monies invested
by the. LI4 }gézh[the.i”!qint{_ﬁ.‘]in_ Sunds sich ag [the Third Defendart];

4, all documents, relating 1o the LIA's invesiments with [ihe Plai
inclyding the investment itn [the Third Defendant} ..,"
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This letter was foliowed by an email dated 28 October from Mr T wig‘den of Enyo
to Ms Yeo of the Plaintiff in which he-said as follows:

“Cur gliettis [the LIA] have a number of concerns in respect of the
investments made through [the Plaintiff. The well publicised fssues

concgrning lsmael Abudher have heightened those concerns,

The amounis involved ave very significant.
1 think it would be beneficial if we met to discuss this situation so as lo ensure that
our .clients are properly informed of the position of [the Plaintiff] on the LIA
invastmenls and other connected isswes. Such a_meeting would jmprove the
likelihood of o mutnally acceptable and consensue! resolution of qny issues

more formal getion to addrggss its concerns” {underlining added]

Mr Twigden’s email confirms that in October 2013 the LIA was focusing on,
and concernéd about, the allegations and reports concerning Mr Abudher and
considering the possibility that the LIA may have claims against the Plaintiff
which could result in proceedings in the absence of a consensual resolution (1
deal with the events which took placé and the attitude of the LIA at this time in
the Discovery Judgment).

Enyo wrote again to the Plaintiff on § November 2013 chasing a response to the
letter and emails dated 23 and 28 October 2013 respectively. They zlso pointed
oiit that the LIA eonsidered itself to be without certain important information
regarding its investments (and that they understood that the last rmonthly
statement provided to the LIA was dated 31 May 2013 and the last quarterly
report provided to the LIA was dated | June 2013) and that thereafter the LIA
had received no substantive information about its investments. The absence of
information combined with the recent reports of fraud allegations gave rise to
great concern and absent a rapid response the LIA reserved the right to bring

procegdings,

On 6 November 2013 Enyo also wrots to State Street informing State Street of

the LIA’s concerns (and the reports in which allegations of fraud had been ma
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against Mr Abudher) and segking information as te whether State Street held
investments on behalf of the LIA and if so theircurrent value. Bnyo also referrad
to discissions between Mr Bréish and Mr Baruni -on the one hand and State
Street on‘the other regarding establishing a commercial relationship between the
LIA-and State Street.

On 8 November 2013 Enyo received 4 letter fram the Plaintiff’s London
solicitors, Dechert LLP (Decher?). In this letter Dechert pointed out that the
Plaiptiff had in fact previously provided to the LIA monthly reports for June,

July, August and September 2013 respegtively in July, August, September and

October 2013 dnd provided furthér copies of the requested reports including the

quarterly report forthe second quarter of 2013, There then followed an exchange

of correspondenee and meetings (including the making available by Dechert of

documents for inspgction and inspection of such decuments by Enyo) in the

period to May 2014 during which Enyo®s information and dociiment requests

were discussed, reiterated and, in part, met.

On 23 December 2013 Enyo wrote to Dechert following a meeting on 20
Degember at which Dechert had explained that the Plaintiff wished to have
clarification as to why it was being approached by the LIA and stated as follaws:

“The question of .the.management of the Falladywe funds is a separaie one
and the LI4 has a4 number of queries raised previously -in correspondence
whickh it would like addressing. However, we can_also confirm that ne
proceedings are currently contemplated against [the Plaintifflin retation to
its _mauagement of such funds and, uﬁfess our_investigations. reveal
wrongdoing this wdl commu& to be the case, "{undeﬂmmg added]

Discussions between the LAP und the Plaintiff
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The documentary evidence shows that the LAP was having discussions with the
Plaintiff during 2013 regarding the LAP’s investment in the First Defendant and
the siructure and amount of fees payable to the Plaintiff. The Plaintiff’s letter to

the LAP dated 1 November 2013 refers to-an amended fee propasal sent by the

LAP on 16 September 2013 (and a conference call on 28 August 2013)




71.

out the terms of a revised fee structure for signative by both the Plaintiff and
the LAP. The revision to the Plaintiff”s fees included a permanent discount on
eutrent management fees and a performence discount based on the NAV of the
investments held by the First Defendant. The proposal if agreed would result in
a reduction of management fees by 60% until the NAV reached US$205 million:
a reduction of 50% if the NAV was above US$205 million and equal to or less
than US$220 million; and a reduction of 40% if the NAV was abave US$220
million and equal to or less than US$250 million. However, it appears that
subsequently the LAP proposed an amendment to the révised fee structure and
the Plaintiff sent an email dated 10 November 2013 to the LAP attaching a
further and revised fee proposal. On '3 December 2013 the Plaintiff sent a further
email to the LAP (relating to the delay in the production of the October
performance statement) in which the Plaintiff noted the delays in finalising and
agreeing the revised proposal and that it had gone ahead and implemented the
proposal as set out in the 10 November 2013 letter in advance of a formal

agreement,

In addition, during early November 2013 the LAP’s solicitors, Hogan Lovells
International LLP (Hogan Lovells), were in touch with the Plaintiff and
discussed the status of and requested more information (including details and
copies of the sanctions licences obtained by the Plaintiff) with respect to the
LAP’s investments. Mt Abudher mat with Hogan Lovells and provided access

to documents. Further requests for information were made by Hogan Lovells in

February and March 2014 which the Plaintiff accommodated.

Discussions between the Libyan Investors

78.
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During the period from October to December 2013, in addition to the
information gathering oxercise and investigation being conducted by the LIA
with advice from Deloitte and Enryo, and the appreach to and correspondénce
with the Plaintiff and Dechert; there were also discussions between the Libyan

Investors.




79, It seems likely that after becoming aware in Augyst 2013 that the value of the
itvestments being managed by the Plaintiff in which the LIA had an interest was much
larger than originally thought (in light of the share transfer in favour of the LIA signed
by the LFB in January 2011) Mr Breish and Mr Baruni conefuded that it was in the
LIA’s interests to-ensure that planaing and decision taking by all the Libyan Investots
wag coordinated and Jed by the LIA. The evidence is not elear as 1o precisely when
discussions between the LIA and the LAP on this topi¢ began and when the LIA first
suggested and requested that it be given powers of attorney by the other Libyan
Investors but there is au email dated 9 November 2013 from Mr Baruni to:-Mr Kashada
(the General Manager of the LAP) in -which Mr Baruni refers to earlier discussions
coneerning requests from the LIA for powers of attorney fo enable the LIA fo.take
decisions relating to the Libyan Investors® investments in thie Funds (atid chasing the
delivery of the powers of attorney). Mr Baruni said that:

1i has now beceme very urgent that we gel the powers of atioraey from LAF and
LFB authorizing the LIA to act also on their behalf in respect of the Palladyne
portfolios. Meetings will begin probably Wednesday of this eoming week between.
our lirwyers and those of [the Plaintiff] on the matter. Conld I please plead with.
_you ta get this moving at least in order nol 1o fiflate owr aleady heavy legal
bills.”

30, Mr Bartini then followed this up with a further email dated 14 November 2013 apparently
‘o Mr Kashada referring to earlier discussfons regarding the need for coortlinated action
led by the LIA to deal with (and “liquidate™) the investments of all three of the Libyan
hivestors in the Funds and his understanding that this approach had- been agreed. He

said as follows:

“Last time we talked I thought we had agreed that it wauld be better that the
L!A would crttempt to resalve the issues cmd w.s'ks af the 3 Pa!.{adyne po;tfolias
of a!mmey to- rhe LI 50 ay. to m‘low fhis fo happen Wa ag: o8 thar Ii?es make.&*
sense because we must coordingte oyr stralegy and iy 'y G reduce our combined
legal expense, We agreed that it does not-make sense for oy varidus solicitors
to be pursuing different sirgtegies.

Despite reniinder this has yet to happen and that i§ disappdiniing,

I am now evén mare disappointed 1o kear Wednesday from My, Britienden [g
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Hogan Lovells] that he met Tuesday wih Mr. Ismail [sic] Abudher here in
London. He tells me that it is now your intention to instruct Abudher to redeem
the investment. | would have much preferved that this would be done together
with the other2 portfolivs, Even mare important | want to warn you (as | warned
Mr. Brittenden Wednesday) of the serious risks at stake heré.

1, If you instruct fthe Plaintiff] to liguidate the assets (assuming they exisi);

2 [The Plaintiff] will be free to liguidate the asseis us it chooses for ifs own
gain. Thay will be able to Pay every possible brokerage strategem fo
siphon ont tratling profit for themselves (front running, intermediate.
trades themselves, Insider dealings, side agreements with counterparties
ele, efey)

3 They would even be In a position to sell assets of the LAP fund fo the funis
field by the LIA ov the LFB,

{t had been my thinking that at the right time we woudd liguidate all the assets
of the 3 funds together in o coordinated manner. s each one of us is the sale
shareholder in our respestive finids we are in a position to take control of the
liguidation process, The L4 would have formally contracted with another
bank / brokerage ( or several of them) (not [the Plaintifffwho we patently
cannol trust) that we could frust to liquidate the dssets for maxiniim proceeds
to all of'us. Bulk transactions are often more eﬁwiem than small ones.

Coordingted liguidation Is almost certainly more efficierit thin uncoordivated sales
thit may adversely move markets,

{ thergfore again strongly advise, reconimend and reguest that you not proceed on

your ewn, It will not bring the LAP optimal results and miay harm the interésts of
the LA gnd the LFB.

Plegse provide the LIA with the agreed power of atiorney. Pledse reconsider and
advise us urgently as to what yoir have decided to do.”

[bold text added]

81, This email had been copied to Mr Breish, who then senta further ematl, also on 14 November
2013, directing that Mr Kashada comply by noon that day. As 1 explain below, despite these
requests and demands the power of attorney from the LAP was not sent untit March 2014,

The Li4 Board meeting on 20 December 2013
82. On 20 December 2013 the LIA Board held ifs eighth meeting of 2013 (the board generally

met once a month). The Board was provided with a presentation and update by Enyo on the

work being done in melation fo the Funds and the Plaintiff, Hem six on the Agen
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“Presemtation by the Enye Law Fiym-with regard lo-the Goldmon Sachs case, und the
procedures taken with regard ta the Itren Portfilio, dinct the Palladyne Portfolio™. The

minutes record the discission on this topic as follows:

“The discussion-on this-itemwas atlended by M. Ahmed Al Jehani, .., énd & member
of the team commissioned to follow up the legal cases in London, and Simon
[Twigder] from [Enye} ... Currently, we are still at the stage' of dndying the
documentation gf this investment. and are ingontact with the attorney of the Palladyne
Portfoliowith regard ta this matfer.” S

The minutes alse contain‘a report by Mr Breish that he had received a message that Mr
Abudher wanted to meet with him but that he had said that Mr Abudher would need to

cooperate before any meeting could take place. The minutes state:

“On a different matter, he mentioned that during his attendance of the meeting af Fipst
Energy Bank, he mel with My, Mothained Shistry Ghanem, the Chief Executive of the
bank, whe Is the san-in-taw of the sg-called Ismail [sic] Abu Zatieer. He conveyved fo
ma Abu Zaheer’s desire to meet with me. | requested him to inform him of the reed to .
ceoperate with the Authority's attorney.aud to hand over all the required documents
before talking about ary mecting.”

Developments-during the period from Jamiary to April 2014

83
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It.-appears that the LIA formed a working group called the “litigation comnittee” at some
poiit in early 2014 to consider the Libyan Investors®position, rights and remedies and the
appropriate strategy to be adopted. Dr Jehani says in his witness statement that the Iitigation
comunittes was “formed in early 20147 but tliat he only joined it “around April 2014, Mr
Broish on the offier hand in his winess statement says that hie warked with the litigation
committee from Octobet2013 (the minutes of the 20 December 2013 mesting quoted above
refer'to the team commissioned to follow up the Jegal cases i London and this may well be-
a reference to the same litigation committee). Mr Baruni in his witnesg statemeiit simply fefers
to the litigation committee’s “inception in 2014.” On 28 February 2014 Mr Breish sent an
email to various recipients inchuding Mr Hebry, Mr Kashadah, Mr Baruni and Dr Jehani, in
which, following fuirther “crgumentative™ exchanges between Mr Baruni and Mr Kashadah,
Mr Breish directed that (a) cases in which the Libyan Investors share.an exposure wiil in

future be dealt with by the LIA litigation office in London headed by Dr Jehani supported By,




84,

FORI30 Pedlaclynz 190130 Pallodyire Jnternaional Asset Managemer B.Y. v Upper Brovk (4) Limited et.af -
{NS.D Judgment

3iass

outside counsel and (b) a commitice be established to coordinate strategy, take legal advice
and report to Mr Breish and the LIA’s Board of Directors (thie LAP’s counsel, Hogan Lovells

is mentioned as the law firm favoured by all involved although it appears that legal advice

was also given orto be given by Wiadimiroff, a Dutch law firm, and Appleby (Cayman)
Limited (4ppleby)). The committee’s members wete to bé D Jeliani as chair, Mr Ismial, the
head of the LIA’s legal department, Mr Kashada and Mr Baruni-and the commitiee was o
meet immediately with Hogan Lovells and then monthly or as and when required by the chair.
The minutes of the meeting of the LIA’s Board on | March 2014 include a report frofit Mr
Breish that Hogan Lovells had been hired to advise the LIA and the LAP and that it had
decided to form a litigation committee to deal with the Funds with Dr Jehani, the LAP’s
General Manager, the director of the LIA’s legal department and Mr Baruni, an advisor to
the LIA,

In parallel with the work of this litigation committee, the LAP was contiting its separate
correspondence with, and fts review of ifs position in relation to. and the performance of] the
Plaintiff. On 3 February 2014 Mr Haman, the head of tlie LAP’s Alternative Investments
Department, wiote to the Plamtiff {Ms Yeo)to complain about the Plaintiffs ailure to follow
instructions and the delay in the provision of information. He stated:

1 and the senior leadership at LAF were very disappointed to receive your below
email. This is because on 4 Sepreniber 2013 we seat you documents per taining fo
the change in quthorived signatories of LAP in relation to our invesiments with
[the Plaintiff]. This was based on your instructions in your email to use of 3
Septefmber 2013. From your below email, it appears that you have not igken any
action in these regards, and dre still working on the basis of the old authorised
signaiories. We would like a full explanation of why this has not been done,
partienlarly since it 5 now over 4 muonths since our fnilial commurication on the
maiter,

* Our disappoiniment and frustration is heightened by.the fact thal we have been
waiting for aver 2 weeks for the promised information from the Administrator. Please
be advised that dny further delays to getting access to this email (and in particular
those delays arising becausé o iction hay been taken to- change the authorised
signatories) will no fonger be acceptable fo LAP, We trust, and would like to receive
assurances that [the Plaintifi] is fully committed and focused to supporting LAP in iis
Fegquests foi access to information.”

Ms Yeo respornded rapidly on 5 February 2014 with an dpology and a promise that

information and documents would be provided shortly. Despite this, on 8 Feb yf

R iR i S S s




Kashadah on behalf of the 1.AP emailed Mr Abudher o notify the Plaintiff that the LAP had
decided fo redéem its investimerits with the Plaintitf (because it wished to reduce its exposure
to external funds (and therefore presumably take the investment mansged function inhouse).
MrKashadah said that:

“LAP has beert going througfr asignifieant evaliiation exereise for the past 2 years
andresiraciuring of its group and imvestments to able (o have solid comprehensive
frvestiment fiwd, In order to-achieve that, « rimber of decisions have been miade
by LAP's board and its executive’s feam.

One of these Key decisions is o reduce significantly the exposivé to the
external managed funds, therefpre o decision has been made 10 vedsom
LAP investments in Palladyne. ! g wéiting this email to inform vou of
auy Intention to:redegn

Basec on the above we wonld appreciaie it if you o your colleagiies ean send us
the following:

L Form of the Reclamption Netice

2. Hy.sanction licenses that Pajlddvnie |
these assets (1o recognize if” thera is gn addmaml
license LAP needs to obtain)” [underlining added]

85 MrKashadah requested that the legal advisers to the LAP and the Plaintiff discuss the matter
‘and coordinate i order to complete the arrangements to permit the redemption. Thisis indeed
what then took place. On 13 February 2014, Dechert (Mr Forresﬁ_)_ contacted Hogan Lovells
(Mr Brittenden) and there were various subsequent telephone conversations and email
exchanges in which Hopan Lovells _pr’qvided_ ‘Dechért with. copies of'the sanction ficence
applications which had already been made to-some of the relevant authorities and there was 4
discussion of what (if any) further licences and authorities would be required to permit the

redemption'to proceed, Qn 21 February 2014, Dechert emailed Hogan Lovells as-follows:

“Further to-our discussions yesterduy and our exchange of emuils earlier
today, we attach coples of the authorisations issued to [the Plaintiff]by
HM Treasury and the Office .of the Financial Secremry in the Cayman
Islands. As requested, we also attach -a blank cepy of the PGBP Lid
Redemption Requesi Form,

The Redempiion Regquest Farm requests thab any pe :
redemption of shares in PGBP Ltd represents and warrants that 'Such Share.s
are_nat sub"eci to_ay led ¢ or otherwise eﬂcum&ered in Ky fas»‘non To

currently restrict LAP's. [the Plaintif! JST anid PG‘BP Ltd's _(and _their
respective eounter-parties') ability to redeem the shaves, it iy imporight ihat
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we ¢oordingte ouy gpproach to relevani compatant authorities and keep each
other fully informed of any progress_fn line with the Redemption Reguest
Forin, we will need to complete this work prior to the submission of the Form.

We would be grateful if you could forward the requested copies of the
submissions currently filed with the relevant compelient authorities in the
Unlted Kingdom and the Netherlands and_any subsegueni responses. We
would also be grafeful if you could forward any correspondence which
confirms that authorisgtions are rot reguired by the relevant US and German
autharities, In gddition, we would be grateful if you could provide us with a
gopy of any subsequent submission to the quthorities in the Cayman lslands.

We very much look forward to working closely with you and your colleagues on this
matter. Dechert and {the Plaintiff] standready to cooperate fully with you and the LAP
to facilitate the redemption.” funderiining added)

8.  The correspondence and discussions between Dechert and Hogan Lovells continued into

Aprit 2014, Hogan Lovells hed requested that Dechert consider whether the redemption could

be effected under the Plaintiff*s current sanctions licence. When chased for a resporise on this

question, Dechert repeatedly said that they needed to walt to see what the relevant authorities

had to say regarding what further approvais and licences would be required and that the

Plaintiff could not assist further or permit redemption until then. Thus on 18 Match 2014

Dechert in an email to Hogan Lovell said as follows;
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“[The Plaintiff] requesied that Dechert respond, via Hogan Lovells, to LAP's
Fegenl requests 1o :

I3 Redeent all existing securities held on behdlf of LAP in the PGBP

account{s); and _
2 Transfer all funds held on behalf of LAP inthe PGBP cusiody accouwnts at

State Streat Bontk & Trust Company Yo Deutsche Bank,

Asreiterated during vur meeting en 7 March 2014, [the Plaintlff] and Dechert
are both keen (o asstst LAP and Hogan Lovells effect the redemption of LAR s
Sares in PGBP, At this siage, we awaif confirmation from you of the outcome

Jrom your verious régquests for guidance {andfor licences) from regulators-in

the UK, the Netherlands and the Capman Islands. In addition, we await
Hegan Lovells " analysis as to why if considers that any approach tp OFAC
(United States) dhd Bundesbank (Germany) is unnecessary.

Absent clear guidunce from the various regulatory bedies invelved, fthe
Plaintifffis unable to effect any transaction which may assist the redemption
of LAP's imierest in the PGBP shares. As you are aware, (here remain
modified asset-freezing measures in place in relation to LAP's Junds an

wider assels, Tn addition, [the PlaintiffThas its obligations 1o comply wisr
UN Sanctions measures and the conditions of the licenses it has soughf,
ablained aeross the various different jurisdictions involved.

P A




Once clear guidance has been received and any wnecessiry
authorisations have been oblained from the relevant regulators, [the
Plaintiff] end Dechert will work with the LAP and Hogan Lovells to
secure the mosi gfficient way for redemption. Please Lot ug know whether
we can assist you any further to obialh the necessariy claritn”

‘Thiis point-and position was reiterated in-an email from Dechert to Hogan Lovells dated 7
April 2014 tesponding to an email from Hogan Lovells dated 27 March 2014 in- which Hogan
Lovells had complained about the Plaintiff's faiture to provide information requested and to
take certain agread steps including providing comments.on the licence applications made by
the LAP and provided to Dechert and to proyide complete dopies of the US sanctions licences.,

Hogan Lovells had said as follows:

“... We note your client's assurances that if wishes to cooperate with our clieni.

‘However, at pur meeting oit 7 Marih 20014, your clignt ggread o take amunber of steps
which it has not yet completed, Jn particilar, your client agreed to consider whether

the assets of the Fund could be copverted into cash under the existing sanctions
licences as part of the routine management of the fund. Your fiest email of 18 Mareh
2014 doés viot address this issue, so plegse let us have your response on this-issye; if
your elfenit’s position is that it cannot be done, please explain why...”

87.  Hogan Lovells on behalf of the LAP had made applications for a sanctions licence to a
number of relevant authorities. In the letfer dated 10 February 2014 to the-Dutsh authority
Hogan Lovells had explained the LAP’s plans and infentions as foflows:

“LAP infends to withdeaw Uts investment froni the Pallddvine Fund arid wishés to tramsfer the
Palladyng Fund Proceeds to British Arab Commercial Bank plo, which Is the emvisaged
yiew fnvestauent imanoger (the-‘New investment Mavigger” or ‘BACRE).

LAP would needto vedeem its-shares in the Palladyne Fund in order ta withdraw its
Investment: Ircovder o dorso LAP I Fequiiredd to give 30 business deyis” nolice of s inlertion to redeem
its shuves in the Pa!fgdme Fund, LAP hess informed [the Plafrtif] of its intentior o redeen and asked
[thie Plaintifi] to provida & copy of the notice which LAP Is requived to-compleie to give formal noiice of
redeinpiion. LAP vieeds the licence fo be n place by the. end of the 30 business days” period The
redemption pavment o Which LAP I extitled 1o as-a resull of the redemption of the shares will be
transferted to BACE, who will held the finsds on bebalfof [AP. The fundywill riot be made qvailable fo.
 LAP Tunderlining added] '

88. On 9 February 2014 the LJA Board of Directors held its first meeting in 2014. Tt
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was held in Tripoli. Tem 5 on the agenda for the meeting was a presentation by Deloitte “on

the progress of evaluation, [programme] of {the] LI4 and its affiliates” assets.” At the meeting

the LIA Board received an update from Deloitte on their investigation into the value and

status of the LIA"s assets including the assets in the Funds managed by the Plaintiff and

there was also a discussion of the position of the LAP in relation to the Plaintiff,

The relevant parts of the minutes state as follows:

“This ifem has been discussed In the prevence of Mr. Robin Williamson, Mr. Bear
Moarer, Mr, Robert O'Henlon, My. Nick Piper, Mr. Hassan Al Rais ond Mr. Ralf
Stobraser fhon Deloitie ... At the outset, the Chairman welcomed the attendees and
stated that the first part of the presentation is relating to the evaluation and the second

part relates to the results of examination and lnvestigation, ...

Mr, Bean Moorer presented a detailed explanation dboiit the remaining evaluated
assets and stated that the precise information is detailed in the attached note which
includes the data and figures reached. [The note has not been disclosed. ]

Mr. Ralf Stobraser guve a detailed explanation on the initial Fesults of the assets to be
examined and invesiigated, He mentioned that work with regaid to Palfadyne Porifolio
is stilf ongoing 1o obtain some data relating lo its managenant fees and the finaneig]
pogition as well as i3 sidtement of account. The work also revealed that there is an
Investigation _in Netherlands againgr fMr Abudher] the Porifolio _Manager,
ddditionally, itwas found that this person wis a part of ynoflicial negotiations beiween
Libyan Investment Anthority and Qoldman Serchs Bapk 19 seftle their pending issues.

M. Faisal QQerqub asks why [the LAP] does rot follow the sameé procedures iakei by
Lid in dealing with the Palladvne Portfolio,

[Mr Breish] stared that the Management of the [EAP] warts fo transfer its funds in
the Poiladyne Porifolio 1o another porifolio because it is frozen bur LIA wants to
obtain financial infarmation about this Portfoli before miaking gny other procedure.
Furthermore, LIA wants to obtaln fintincial information froin {Mr Abudher] that might
be usefll in its case against Goldman Sachs Bark, given that ke made an attempt to
mediate between LIA and the Bank during 2008. [My Breish]also said that he talked
to the Manager of the [LAP] [whateld him that their strategy is Yo liquidale the
Porifolio without requesting informeation from [the Plaimififand that the [TAP] is
hiring a legal office other than the one hired by LIA. At the next meeting of the Board,
we can requast a legal opinton from both offices on the sirategy for dealing with this

isswe. [The Board] may also request the [LAP's} Manager to attend to maet hint to

diseuss this isswe” [underlining added]

89, On1March 2014 the LIA Board held its second mieeting of 2014 (once again in Tripoli).

There was a discussion of recent developments relating to the Funds and the Deloitte

investigation. The minutes of the 1 March 2014 meeting record that during
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9 February 2074/, and follow-up on implementation of decisions in the minutes”) the

following was.said:

“As part of following up on some troubled investments, [Mr-Breish] siated
that, with respect-to-the Palladyne Portfolio, in the past few days, e had
noticed the correspondence exchanged between the [LIA st connsel, M
Barun{],and [LAP 's]General Manager, My dhmed Kashada, regardmg te
strategy used when dealing with the Pafladyne Portfolio Manager, [y
Abudher]. Indeed, the [LAP]would like the Palladyne Portfolio to ligtiidate
its monies in this portfolio. This is in contrast fo the [LIA], whick would like
to obtain some information and to persornally fquidate the Portfolio vather
than have thet portfolia’s manager Hguidate it That 15 the crux of the
disagreement, The decision was made to hire the (Hogan Lovells) Law Fipm
as g legal consultant for the [LIA]and the [LAP]on this matter, and to-form
a commitiee under the chaivmansiiy of [Dr Jehani] and the membersh:p of

the [LAP's]General -Manager, the Director of the [LIAs]  Legaf

Department; and the LIA ‘s Counsel, [ Mr Baruni], This committae wifl meet
and specify its requests to the attorney, {Dr Jehant] will head this pirdcess
becnuse he has enough experiance in this aréa givew his. work at the World
Bank. My Ahmed Ateega requested conflrmation that [Dr Jehanilhas no
conflicts of interest int this matier, The Board of Direciory took nvte thal this
committee had beer cregted, and siréssed the Importarice of ensuring ihat
[Dr Jehani] has no conflicts of interest,

With respect to the examinatiot of and inquiry about some of the files; [Mr

Breish]stated that Deloitte contacted him &ecawe the [LAPJis not
‘cooperating when i comes 1o obtaining infaruiation aboit FM Capital, He

adeded that.he has sent g latter fo the [LAPitressing the rieed for-complete
copperation .,

[Mr Hebry —who was the Vice-Chairman-of the LIA Board of Director and
Chairman gf the LAPs Steering Cammztteej stared fhai, Wwith respedt to the
lack of cooperation with Deloitte, ke beligves thm‘ the laiter s mot being
triithful because it has received fisll cooperation.;

90.  The discussions between the LIA and the LAP had continued after the February and
March 2014 meetings. On Wednesday 12 March 2014 Mr Baruni sent an email to Mt

Breish as follows:
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I doubt that Hogan Lovells will take our instructions on this because they have an

existing mandate from LAP. [ i convinced that the only way s for both LAP and
LFB to give us a power-of attorney, We have already drafied this power and will be
discussing this in detail with Kashadg awi Hogan Thursday at 1100,

You will have noted the ireport that we got frou Enyd abiont the-Erfedman-litigation

against [the Plaintifflavd their claim for 340 million. I kave been concerned by just
this for some time, We musi_be suve that our poitfolics do vot fall into any s

gdministration baske! to be distributed among creditors to Pallddviie”




[underlining added]

91.  On 26 March 2014 a meeting of the LAP Steering Committec was held. Mr Hebry
chaired the meeting and Mr Kashada also attended in his ‘capacity as the LAP's General

Manager. The minutes of that meeting record (which minutes were disclosed only in a

heavily redacted version) that an item was added at the beginning of the meeting to the

agenda as follows: “Review of the [LIA’s] management's request to grant it avthority to

manage the Palladyne Portfolio,”™ The minutes go-on to state as follows:
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[Under item 2 during which My Kashadah reviewed the monthly activity reports]

“The executive administrations of the [LAP][had] prepaved the main steps 16
implement the decision to liquidate Palladyne Portfolio (market vaiue of US
Dollars 200.9 million in February 2014) and a meating was held with the British
Arab Bank 1o recelve these fimds, and efforts weke made to acquire the required
licenses, In another matter, the [LIA] addressed the [LAP} Management régarding
the formation of 4 joint committee with the [LIAJunder the chairmanship of Dr
Ahmed Al-Jehani, to undertake the responsibility of following-up ov the portfalios
aifiliated with tha [LldJunder the supervision of [the Plaintifffengaging the Jaw
Jirm of the fLAP] as an advisor of the sald Commiltee. The flrst meeting of the
Committes was indeed hald in London, and subsetiuent meetings on the matter will
be held.

[Uhnder item 6 — maiters arising]

Review the request of the [LIA's] manggemient to grant it authority o mgnaee the
Pallagdyne Portfolip, [this underlining is in the original]

[Mr Kashadah] provided the letter from the [LIA]regarding granting it authorisation
by the [LAF] to deal with the Palladyne Porifolio, considering that there is suspicion
of corruption in the said Portiolio aceording to the [LIAs] statement,

Wheraas the [LIA] imtends to file a lawsult against the Palladmy Porifolio, thus the
[LAP} asked to be given the opportunity 1o withdrmy its funds from the Palladyns
Porifolio and thus enable the [LIA] 1o file any lawsiit against if. In another. contexi,
the [LAP's] law firm, Hogan Lovells, received oll fthe Lid's] documents related io
their investment in the said Porifolio to study and provide an opinion thereon. This
opinion vonctuded fredacted as privileged].

[y Kashaduklinformed fthe meating] that Hiere was no_objection k grant the
mthorizsation reguasted by the [LIA], under conditions sei ott by [LAP] fo cuarantee
iis _share jn the Palladvne FPortfolio gnd suirantee agssioming fidl responsibitiry
Fesulting from this mthorization,

Aftir deliberation by Members of the Steering Committee on the matter the Coy
decided as follows! ' '
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The (LA} shall be granted authorisation for the [LAP] in the Palladyne Porgfoliv as
perthe following terms and conditions:

L This authorisation shall be prepared by the [LAP 5] Legal Office and the
‘ [LIA] shall be respansible for protecting the [LAP's] investmenis in [the]
Palladyne Portfolio ond shedl be liable-for tny legal repercussions agdinst

the [LAP] as may-arise from this authorisation,

2. The authorisation shall be of limitedd duwration and will expire on
JIA 20144 D,
3

The amhommﬁan_ d”oes naz‘ allow the, ;L!A_' fo make an deemam i thiy
[underlining added save where otherwise specified]

On 26 March 2014 presumably following the Steering Committee’s meeting, Mr Kaghadah
sent to Mr Breish and Dr Jehani by email a copy of a form of power of attémey signed by

Mr Hebry. The evidence is not entirely clear as 1o which of a number of versions of the

LAP power of attorey which have been produced in'these proceedings was sent with this
amail but it appears to have heen a power of attorney dated 25 March 2014 in which the
LAP granted a power of attorney to Mr Jehani;

“as its attornay -in <fact-in ihe matter of resolving certain isswes-related to [the Sevond
Defendant] owned by LAP -in confunction und coordination with the resolition. gf the
similar Patladyne portfotios owned by the LI and the [LFB] pursuant to. powers of
attorney granted to-Dr Jehant by the LIA and the LFB,

The referénce to the Second Defendant was, of course, an error, The LAP was a sharcholder

in the First Defondant. This error was only identified subsequently (in May 2014),

The power of attormey went on to provide as follows:

“LAP grants to lts uttorney-tn-fact full power and authority o do, toke; and

perforn each and every act or thing whatsoever neeessary or proger to be done,

in the exercise of any of the vights and powers granted in this instrupient, as

fully ro all intents and purpases as LAP might or could do itself. and hy this

instrument LAP ratifies and eonfirms whatever act gir thing that its attoFrey-in-

Saet shall fewfully do or cause to be done by wirtue of this durahle power of
attorney and the rights and powers granted by this instrument,

Dri Jekani is hereby empowered, o implement the Agreed Commergi
approved by LAP and date 13/037 2014, to negotiate, Instruct and




93.

190138 Paltadyne 199130 Pattadvie International Asset Managemeni B.V. v Upper Brook (4) Lindted el.af — :
(NS5 Judgment

45|23

our counsel, with governmental anthorliies, with accountants and tnvestigators,
with banks, brokers and custadians and (subjéct in each case lo final approval
Sram LAP) to commit to agreements with [the Plaimifffits principals, affiliates
andlor any fand managed by [the Plaintiff]. on behalf of LAP as fully 1o all
intents and purposes as LAP might or vould do personally itself.

. Unless earlier terminated by LAP, this power of aitorney shall be effective
upon execution uhtil not later than 31/12/2014 unless extended by LAP."

Dt Jehani’s initial response in an email to Mr Kashadah on 27 March 2014 was to point out
that the copy senthad ot been witnessed and to request that the original be witnessed before
being sent to Dr Jehani for his signature. It appears that Mr Kashadah then arranged for Mr
Hebry’s signature to be witnessed and a copy of the witnessed versio_ﬁ of the power of
attorney was sent to Dr Jehani on 27 March 2014 (or possibly on the following day). But
then in an email to Mr Kashadah also sent on 27 March 2014 Dr Jehani said that the power
of attorngy sent “foday” (presumably he meant received by him on 27 March 2014) was
“upacceptable”. Dr Jehani complained that the version sent deviated in both letter and spirit
from the draft he had provided to Mr Kaghadah. In particular, Dr Jehani’s concern was that
the power of attorney as drafted “expects that [Dr Jehani] will be
responsible for the implementation of some agreed commercial strategy
of LAP fabout] which [Dr Jehani has] no idea of its contents or what it
stands for and i11$ not [Dr Jehani’s] job to implement any strategy — the
ouly strategy we are going to implement is the strategy emanating from
the Legal Commiiiee, which [Mr Kashadah is] a member of. Also the
power of attorrey ... stipulates that {Dr Jehani] should be responsible for
the commercial aspect of any decisions made by [him] in the
implemeniation of the mandate of the Legal Committee which contravenes
the whole purpose of the Legal Committee.” Dr Jehani then advised Mr
Kashadah to go back fo the original draft of the power of attorney which he had
previously provided and which he atfached fo hiy latest email. Previously on 20 March
2014 Dr Jehani had forwarded to Mr Kashadah an email (sent by his executive office

manager to ameng others Mr Brittenden of Hogan Lovells) attaching a different form

of draft power of attorney, That power of attorney differed from the form of power of

attorney sent by Mr Kashadah not only inthe respeets identified by Dr Jehani but also

because it was a power of attorney granted by Mr Kashadah as chief executi




of the LAP rather than by the LAP itself.

94, On 8 April 2014, having by then received no reply, Dr Jehani sent a further emaif foMr
Kashadah (copied to, amongst others, Mr Hebry) chasing the del ivery of the amended
power of attorney. The disclosed docwments do net contain a direct response to Dy
Jehani’s second email of 27 March 2014 of his 8 April 2014 email. But there is a copy
of a letter dated 18 June 2014 from Mr Kashadah to Mr Breish which says as follows:
“Based on your request, we refer to you the pewer of attorney for the Palladyne
Porifolio” There is attached to this letter a power.of dttarney dated “13 March 2044
in the form prepared-and sent by Dr Jehani (so that the objectionable wording featires
identified by Dr Jehani had been deleted) save that the power of attorney was granted
by Mr Hebry in his capacity as the Chairman of the LAP (this version also did not
contain the expiry date which had been insluded in the version provided initially by Mr
Kashadah and which had been mentioned in the LAP’s Steering Committee minutes).
The power of attorney (the LAP Pawer of Attorney) stipulated as follows:

“BY THIS DOCUMENT IT IS HERERY ACKNOWLEDGED, that [ the
undersigned, Ali Hebry, Chairman of the Libya Afrisa Porifolia {("L4dP") a
corporate entity established in the State or L!byﬁ' as a subsidiary ofthe Libyan
Investprent Authority ("LIA") do hereby in complionce with the authority
vested in me gravt o limited and speeific power of'mt'omey to Dy, Ahmed
Jehani, in his personal capacity, as my altormey-in-fact in the muatter of
resolvmg all issues related 1o the Palladvae Global Balanced Porifelio Fund
Limited, owned by LAP in confunction and eoordination with the resolution of
the. similar Patladyne porifotios owned by the LIA and the Libyarn Forelgn
Bank ("LFB") pyrsuant 1o powers of attorney granted to Dy, Jehani by the L14
and the LFB,

I grant 1o my atforngy-in-fact full power and antherity o do, lake, and perform
eqch and every act or thing whaisoever necessary or proper (o be.done, in the
exercise of any of the righis and powers granted in this Instrument, ax fully to
all intents and purposes as I might or could do §f personally present, and by
this instrument 1 ratify and confirm whatever act or thing that wy-gHotney-in-
Jact shall Lavifully de or cause to be doneg by virtue of this durable power of
aita¥ney and the rights and powers.granted by this instrument,

I pafdcular, but without Hmitation, D, Jehant Is hereby empowerad to
negotiate, fransael and cammit to agreements with oounsel, with governmental
authiorities, with accountants and investigators, with banks, brokers and
custodians-and with: fthe Plaimiff] and its principals on behalf.of LAP as fully
to all intents and purposes as Emight ar could do personalfy.”
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95, The third LIA Board Meeting of 2014 was held on 2 April 2014, in Tripoli, Item 3 on the
agenda was “siatements of the Chairman” and included “a summary of progress of the legal
cases.” During the meeting, prior to reaching item 3, Mr Breish had réported that he had
regeived the previous day from Deloitte the final valuation of the LIA’s assets “and those
of its subordinate bodies” (which presumably inchide the Funds, fo the extent that
informétion was available) and that he would subsequently distribute a copy of Deloitte’s
report o the other directors (this document has not been disclosed), The minutes record Mr
Breish as having noted (when giving an update on progress of the legal cases) that a
memorandum had been prepared by Dr Jehani, The LIA Board received an update in

relation to the Funds and the minutes record:

“[T]he handing of the Paladin [sic] portfolio was currently being studied T Hiis inchuded
high management fees, and @ number of assels which bad been lost and there was also o
mitiber of comments made against it regarding intermediaries and pepotism ... The Bogrd
of Directors noted the progress on the legal cases.”™

In his witness statement Mr Breish said that he subsequently instructed Dr Jehani to
prepare a memorandum of advice in eonjunction with Enyo with respect to the Palladyne
investments and that he received the memorandum on 1 May 2014 and circulated a copy
tathe LIA's Board. Mr Breish says that the memorandum was headed “privileged and
confidential” and the Deferxlants assert that they have not produced a copy because the
document and its contents are privileged, They have also however not (despite the
Plainitiff’s requests) produced a copy of an email or letter (suitably redacted) which was

sent to the directors when the merorandum was ciroulated.

Alsoat the 2 April 2014 meeting the LIA Board approved the reconstitution of and new
appointments to the Management {Steering) Conmimittee of the LAP.

The LA 's Board meeting on 4 May 2014

96. On 27 April 2014 the agenda and papers for the LIA’s fourth Board meeting (to be held on 4
May 2014 in Trigoli (4 May Meeting)y were sent out to the directors by Mr Breish,
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agenda takes 1o specific reference to the Plaintiff or the Funds or an update being provided
on the work being done by the litigation committee. It does though inglude a8 item 3

“statements fto be] made by the Chairman® in relation to which two memoranda are

mieritioned althiough detdils of the topios covered in them are redacted presumably on grounds

of privilege. However, the copies of the minutes of the 4 May Meeting (4 May Meeting

Minutes) It évidence show that these memoranda related to the Atran portfolio settlement

proposal and thetenith transaction with Goldian Sachs.

The Boaid of Directors of the LIA met in Tripoli on 4 May 2014 and, once again, Mr Breish
was Chairman, The 4 May Meeting Minutes record and state the following;

(8).  thatMr Breish noted, during diseussions of the minutes of the third Board meeting
(whicl were approved), that Deloitte’s final report was hugeand that they would
miake a presentation on their repart and provide a summary of their results-at the next

Board meeting,

(b).  thatunder item seven (jiew business) there had been a discussion of the Funds and
the Plaintiff. The minutes state as follows:

“Report an the ligest measyres relating to investment in the Palladyne

portfalio.

The Chairman stated that [the] LIA had.previously invested the amount of
USPH 300 mtllmn in the Palladyine portfolio; The [LAP] and the [ESDF} had
also invested the amonat of USD 200 miillion, bringing the total amount
Invested.to USD 700 million, The Palladvie portfolic was.mandged by [My
Abz:dherj son-in-law of Shoukri- Ghanens, and there were several lssues
congerning this investment, -inoliding the high iwaragement. fees, the
ambiguity surrdunding this portfolio, and the LIAS inabilib: to obtain any
cleqr information about the amounts invested in this portfolio. LId had
previously assigned the Enyo Law LLP firmi lo handle this fila, The
reanagement afthe [EAP] hivetd the Hogan Lovells firdy to hanidle this-issue
with regard 1o iy investments. The Board of Diveciors had previously
ordered the formation of a legal committes presided over By [Dr Jehani],
to study the straiegy that needed 1 be:followed with the Patladyne porifolio
Jor its three ivestient partfoﬁas The committée-récomiiended working
with the Enya Law LLP firm, as they would be stricter-iii dealing with those
responsible for the Palladyne portfolio, ualiké the Hogan Lovells firm who
wanted to toke d slow approach and suggested letting the mandgement
the Palladyrie portfolio liqiddare the porifolio in theip own way
opinion did nol agree with view of the Board, which favored leitin




biquidate the portfolio as it deamed fit, away from the Palladyne porifolio

management. The [LAP] provided the [LIA] with o power of afiorney to

deal with this matier gnd we are still seeking a similay power of altorney

from the [LEB],

Two days ago, [Mr Abudher] fhad] telephoned [My Br eishf and asked if’
it were passible to speak. The Chairman agreed and sought the advice of
Lid’s attorney ‘who asked that the conversation be recorded in the
presence of LIA's legal avisor, and that he be informed at the beginning
that the conversation was not binding. However, this conversation has
still not taken place as of today. Regarding the procedures called for now,

we weed (o thange the Palladyne portfolio’s Baaid a)" Directors. Th_e;i_‘g
oard

are Ihree members cm tize Pa!laa’ we Porifolio

fo the Anthority, because wlmt zhev are asked todo is to aggraye gome  of
the decisions required of LIA's attorney for the tguidation of this
portfoiio, These two individuals will not be remunerated for their
memberships, since they already work for the LIA.

The Bom"a’ of D!F@CIO?S }mve d:saussea’ thig :Ssue‘ aﬁg hgve dgmded !Q

wzt}muz allottlvie zhem any remuneration,

[undertining added]

On Saturday 3 May 2014 at 6pm GMT (i.e. prior to the 4 May Meeting), Mr Baruni
emailed Mr Breish (copying MrIsmial and Dr Jehani) saying the following:

“You will please note fredacted for privilege] as first step naming divectors lo each of
the 3 Cayman companies in which the LIA, LFB and LAP are invested In this regards |
request that subject to due diligence and agreement on fees we retain for all 3 funds one
of the existing independent directors (Mr. Murngesu) for the purpose only of continuity
and for the purpose perhaps of assisting with the forensic analysis that we intend to do.
We also need to.appaint 2 directors. In myview these should be the same 2 persons for
all 3 funds. It is not intended that the boards will ever meel in person. Meetings will take
place by telephone and resolutions will be passed by correspondence. I therefore suggest

that if these directors are persons whe are already employees / consultants of Lid 7 LIA

Advisory Services (UK) Limited no divectors fees be paid. The intent of the new boardy
will be fo liquidate the companies as soon as possible afler the underlying ussets have
been transferred in-cash or kind to the LI4, LFB and LAP. This therefore is an early
request fhat yowname diveciors, "

On 4 May 2014, Mr Breish responded to Mr Baruni’s email as follows:

"A Board resolution was taken. today to have you and Dr Jehani reprosent J
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LAP as we have thelr power of attorney. I'm not.surethis will work for ESDF/LIB,
Perhaps Mustafa ean follow up on this-as we don't have their POW [sic] and it
seems ESDF has a problem confralling its subsidiaries.

I alsor informed the Board that the committes has decided to use ENYQ rather than
HIL for the reason thal they are not aggressive enough and have spent the last few
months considering the.redemption option-which is nol acceptable to LIA.

L will be making a call outto fsmael Abudher today or-tomorrow to see what he has

IGSQJI“

Problems with the LAP Pawer of Atforney

100, ©On7May 2014 Dr Jehani wrote to Mr Hebry (copied to Mr Kashadah) to explainthat as a result
of an “unfortunate error on the [LIA’s) part”, the LAP Power of Attorey that had
previously been executed contained the wrong namg of the portfolio owned by the LAP.
As T have noted above, the LAP Power of Attorney wrongly referred to the Second
Defendant when it should liave refetred to the First Defendant. Dr Jehani provided a
corrected copy of the power of attorney and requested that Mr Hebry execute it and
‘have it witnessed, In the absence of a reply Dr Jehani sent Mr Hebry-a further chasing
email on 12 May 2014,

10L. It appears that no response had been received by 8 Jung 2014 since on that day Mr
Baruni sent an email to Mr Ismial copied to Mt Breish and DrJehani in the following

ierms:

r.e.speef of our own $300 mdlion par{folra afane We aanmoz farayer
continue to demand powers of attorrey from thosé who are wnwilling fo
provide them. We should give d lastwarning 1o thiy.effect to LAP und
LFB that if they do not deliver the powers of atiorney in.good form by
Wednesday 11 June:

7 The L14 wil] proceed on'its own in respect of anly its owh
portfolio o
2 LAP will risk that [Mr Abudher] will bity gnd sell assets between the

portfolias. If (as is likely) such wrawsections arg deverse fo the interests
of the LI wewill hold LAP-and its managément Fesponsible.

3. The LiA will cancel all past agrezinents in respect af the LFB portivlio
and reguire that the loan gxtended be immediately payable. The L4 will
dfso hold the LFB responsible for the costs of all transactions. between
(1) the LFB portfalio; and (2) the other 2 portfolios that are adverse fo
the interels of the LIA"
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102,

Asl haVe_aireac_{y'noted, it appeays that the amended version of the power of attorney from the

LAP in the form required by Dr Jehani was sent tothe LIA on 18 June 2014 so that from that
date the LLA took the view that it was able to take action in relation to the shares in the
First Defendant,

The LIA's Board meeting on I June 2014

103,

The LIA Board held its fifth meeting of 2014 on | June 2014, At this meefing the LIA Board
resolved to approve the 4 May Meeting Minutes. There was no discussion of the Funds but it
was noted that because of the security sitiation in Libya the Deloitte teamn had been unable to
travel to Libya for the meeting to présent their final repott on'the evaluation of the LIA’s assets
and thoseof its subsidiaries. Accordingly, it had been decided to delay this presentation until the
next meefing of the LIA Board.

Further discussions with the LFB

104.

103,

(NS} Budgment
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The discussions betwesn the LFB and the LIA and the LIA’s efforts to obtain the
support and agreement of the LFB continued after the LIA Board’s meetings in April,
May and June of 2014,

On 15 May 2014, Mr Breish had written to the Chairman of the Board of Directors of
the ESDF and the General Manager of the LFB. He stated that:

“The [LIA] has become aware thai there ure a mumber of problems with
Mr. [Abudher]relating to this porifolio including the high maragement fees and the
Inabilily of the [LI4 s]aitorney to obtain any finaricial data about the [Funds]. The
[LIA's] management had resolved to form a legal commilive, chuired by the [Dr.
Jehani] that will assume the responsibility of addvessing the situations of the three
porifalics in order to preserve the Libvan investments with thiy portfolio. The matter
requires that alegal authorization be obtained in the pame of [Dr.Jehani! from the
fLFBF pursuant to which he can Assne the responsthility of follawing up on the legal
: ; " [underlining added]




letters in similar terms but with different dates) the ESDE wrote to the LIA and the LFB
and autherised the LIA to deal with its investment in the Second Defendant, The E§DFE
said that;

“This is in veference to-Letter (No. 0942, dated 15/5/2014 A.D.} from the Chairman
of the [LIA's] Board of Divectors coneerning granting the [L!A ] & power of aftorngy
to undertake certain procedures with respect to the PALLADYNE Porifolio.

We hereby inform you thetwe have no objection to the [LFB Jsigning the reguested
authorisation as mitached to the aforementioned letter. We hope that the action s
taken rapidly in service of the public interest”

107. Confusion appears to have continued as betwsen the LIA and the LFB as to which of
them was registered in the records of the Plaintiff and the Custodian (Bociété (énérale)
as'the owner of the investinent (and shares) in the Second Defendant and why neither
the LEB nor the LIA apparently had received proper account statergents, The LIA was
dealing with Mr Abdulfattah Enaami (Mr Enaami)ofthe LFB and the problems which
the LIA was having both in obtaining the informatioi it sought sbout the investments
held by the Second Defendant-and the authority to-act an behalf of the LFB caused My
Baruni to speculate that perhiaps Mr Enaami was béing ebstructive. On 20 June 2014
‘Mr Baruni sent an email to Mr Breish saying that:

“[My Isniiad] has also reported to us that [Mr Enaami] hay told Bim that{the]
LEB vipuld be: prepared 1o give fthe LIA] a power of attorney thal restricted-

fthe Lid's] abilily ta invesiigate the asset or the wigma! Jransaction. This
weruld of course be illegal for fthe LIA]to acceps ..

Al of this Is tells me that [Mr Enaami] may himself-be the problem In regavds to
our aitempts to obtain an LFB pawer of witorney, Hemay have some inerest in
obstructing the issue to fthe LIA]of the power of atlorney and in allowing [the
LIA] to investigate freely.

We riged therefore to find same other way o get to the senior managemen] of
the fthe] LEB

108.  During the exchange of emails between Mr Baruni and Mr Breish on this issue Mr
Baruni stated in his email to Mr Breigh also dated 20 June 2014 (which was probably
copied to Mr Ismial and Dr Jehani) that;
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1 aiso want lo make sure that we all agree that;:

I we will indeed remove the manager [the Plainiiff] from all
funds that we have power of gitorsey on

2, we will take delivery of the assets of eqch funid in kind af the
ausiodian where they are eurrently_held but they will be
retained in the name of the origingl owner (LIA, LAP gnd

LEB/ESDF),

3 Onr power of attorney will permit us to instruct these
custodian {s)

4, We will_svertually name & transition piavager to obigin

portolies that the owriers of the assets wish,

If LFB ESDF believe that the [shares in and investmenis held by the
Second Defendany] alveady belongs to the LIA (av fMy Eraami]
insists) why do they want to be assured we would not make any changes
fo fund exit without thetr approval” [underlining added) '

169, On 9 July 2014 the Director General of Alinma for Financial Investmerits Holding, the
subsidiary of the ESDF with responsibility for the investment in the Second Defendant,
wrote to the Director General of the LFB to confirm that Alinma “seefs] no obsincle to
authorising the Libyar Irvestment Authority to underiake the tegal review procedyres

in accordance with any text it deems uppropriate,”
The Resolutions in relation to the First and Third Defendants

110.  The power of attorney froni the LFB had stifl not been received by early July 2014, It:
appears that Mr Breish and Mr Baruni decided that they should not defer taking action
any longer. They had received the LAP Power of Attorney on 18 June 3014 and were
of the view that they could at least now take the re'qii_isite steps on behalf of the LAP
and the LIA to remove the Plaintiff as a director of the First and Third Defendants

respectively,

FIT.  Accordingly, on 8 July 2014 Resolutions of both the First and Third Defendants were signed

as follows:
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{a).

{b).

a written shareholder resolution (the First Defendant Resolition) was signed in
respect of the First Defendant which (i) removed the Plaintiff-as a divector, (if)
appointed Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni as divectors, and (if) provided that Intertrust as

the registered office service provider be insiructed to update the relovant

corporate records and documents to reflect those changes. The signature block at

‘the bettom of the First Defendant Resolution referred to “Libyan Investment
Authority as attorrigy-in-fact for [LAP]” and the resolution was signed by Dr

Jehani. The Fitst Deferidant Resolution did not record the capaeity in which Dr

Jehani signed it. A further written shareholder resolution was signed in the same

marniner which ¢changed the company’s name to Upper Brook (A) Limited,

a written shareholder resolution {the Third Defendant Resolution) was signed
in respect of the Third Defendant which (i) removed the Plaintiff as a director,
(ii) appointed Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni as directors, and (ii) provided that

Intertrust as the registered office service provider be instructed te update the

relevant corporate records and documents to reflect those changes. The

signature block at the bottom of the Third Defendant Resolution reféerred to

“Libyan Investment A-uthqrity” and the resolution was signed by Mr Benyezza

in his capacity as “Chairman of the Board of Directors of the [LIA]", A fuither
written sharcholder resolutton of the Third Defendant was also signed on the

same basis which changed the company’s name to6 Upper Brook {1} Limited.

112, On 8 July 2014 Appleby (following an earlier telephone call) sent -an email to Mr

Murugesu which attached copies of'the above Resolutlons and cenfirmed that Board

eetings of the First and the Third Defendants were to be held shortly in order o

consider and pass further resolutions. Mr Murngesu immediately responded by email

asking Appleby to confirm that they acted for the shareholders and whether they werg

satisfied that the Resolutions had been signed ‘hy bona fide individuals who had
authotity to aet for the shareholders. On 9 July 2014 Enye followed iip with a [etter to

Mr Murugesu confirming the passing of the Resolutions and that meetings of the Board
of Directors of both thc First and the Third Defendants were to ‘be held to pass

resolutions authorising the termination of the IMAs between the Plaintiff and the Fix
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and Third Defendants; to terminate the First ard the Third Defendants’® engagement of
Ogier in favour of Enyo (and Appleby and Wladimiroff Advocaten); to change the
administrator of the First and the Third Defendants to Appleby Fund Services (Isle of
Man) Limited; and to change the registered office of the First and the Third Defendants
to the offices of Appleby Trust (Caymar) Limited. Mr Murugesu, in response, in an email
of the same date, expressed serious concerns, particularly as to whether the proposed
action should be taken without the benefit of advice from the First and the Third
Defendants’ own legal advisers who were familiar with the regulatory regime and

position as to sanctions licences. He said as follows;

“Now that I have had ihe opportunity to review the attachnients 1 feel that without
representation, guldance and advice from the Funds counsels, Ogier in Cayman and
Decheris in London, I have significant concerns. 1 am certain you gre aware of the
Regulatory sensilivities surrounding the assels in these fund entities which may
prohibil the companies from acting in the proposed manner.

1 belfeve it Is imperative that both Ogler and Decherts are informed as they are
Jamiliar with the Qrders that have been issued and the Licenses that are in
place.” [emphasis in original)

Subsequently on 9 July 2014 a call was held involving Enyo, Appleby, Dr Jehani, Mr
Baruni and Mr Murugesu. During that call Mr Murugesu retterated his concerns and,
according to his own note of the call, said that he did not think that the directors
cotild bs replaced in the manner adopted under and with the licenses which were
then in place, He asked whether the UK authorities had been contacted. Enyo
responded and confirmed that they had considered the sanctions issue and were
comfortable that the action taken was valid (they alse noted that had obtained
information from the Dulch prosecutor). Mr Murugesu was informed that he had two
alternatives. He eould remain on the Board (and be cutvoted) or he could resign, Mr
Murugesu said that he would adopt the latter course and would shortly send copies of
his letters of resignation as a director of the First and Third Defendants, which he

subsequently did on 9 July 2014

113, On 9 July 2014 DrJehani and Mr Baruni signed a written resolution of the Board of the
First Defendant anthorising the termination of the IMA with the Plaintiff, On 10 July 2014

they signed a written resofution in similar terms as directors of the Third Defengh
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Shareholder and Board resolutions were also passed to efféct the name chahges and other

actions to which Enyo had referred.

On 11 July 2014 fetters weresent to the Plaintiff osi belalf of both the First and Third Defendants
notitying the Plaintiff'that it had been removed as.a divector of the First and Third Defendants
and that the applicable TMA had been vescinded of terminated with imiiediate effect. These

letiers set out the reasons for the rescission or termination of the. IMAs. The relevant pait of the

Tetters is a5 Tollows:

“Factugl background

1 We undersiand, fram the Dutch public prasecutor, the follewing:

().

(B).

¢/

(@
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fthe Plaintiff] executed a consultancy agreement en 16 August 2007 with
Investment Solutions Holdings Limited ("ISH" and "Consultuney
Agreement” respectively) which .the [Plaintififhas never brought te the
attention of the Fund's subscriber {the [LIA]), for instance, i the
information memorandint it pr epared priorte the LTAY subscription on 20

Decomber 2007, Indeed, it is to be inferved from the information
memarandum thot [the Plaintiff would be able ta provide all the invastment

Imanagement services required-te manage the Fund.

The purported rationale for the Consullancy Agreement was to "develap
corporate relationships in The Middle East in the Aeld of financial services”
far [the Plaintiff].

As part of the consideration received by ISH, it reveived 1.7% of the Net
Asset Value of the Fund up to 7 February 201 1 when the paymenis were
suspended. Therefore, ISH recetved 68% of the total armnual managenrent
fees paid by the Fund to PIAM.

‘The ultimate beneficial owner of ISH is believed nevording to the file of the
Dutch Prosecutor ta be either (i) Mohamed Ghanem, the one-time. brother-
in-lawe of the current principal of [the Flaintiff], {Mr Abudher], or (if) {Mr
Abudher] himself;

On 14 Jarary 2013, [Mr Abudher] executed a letter or behalf of the Fund
which stated thet: "This letter will confitm that the boards of [the Fund and
-other Palladyne funds] have approved [ISH] as an advisory songultant.”

There is no evidence that ISH provided [the Plainiiff]or the Fund with any
services pursuant to the terms of the Consultancy Agreement and, in fuet,

the evidence demonstrates that the arrangement was a sham désigned to
Facilitate payments to fMr Abudher], his famili and Mohamed
Chanen
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(g By way of example, on 18 February 2011

- ISH paid §1,009,174 to [name redacted] Investment (which
is believed by the Duteh Prosecutor be ultimately be owned
by [u relative of Mr dbudher - name redacted] and whose
authorised signatories are Mohamed Ghanem and [Mr
Abudher] who, on the same date, made the following transfers
to:

8554,588 to [nams redacted] Limited ultimaiely owned by fa
relative of Mr Abudher - name redacted and whose authorised
signatory is [Mr Abudher];

$227,293 to [name deleied] Limited ultimately owned by [a
relative of Mr Abudher - name redacted] and whose authorised
signatory ls [Mr Abudher];

$227,293 to Mohamed Ghanem.

- ISH paid §697,934 to [name redacted] Investment (which is
belisved according to the file of the Dutch Prosecutor be
ultimately be owned by and whose authorised signatories are
Mohamed Ghanem and [Mr Abudher]) who, on the same date
made the following transfers to:

$343,504 to [name reducted] Investment limited ultimately owned
by (o relative of Mr Abudher - name redacted] and whose
 authorised signatory is [Mr Abudher];

8171757 to [name redacted] Limited ulﬁmatefy owned by fa
relative of Mr Abudher - name redacted] and whose authorised
signatory is [Mr Abudher]; and

$171,752 to Mohamed Ghanem,

) In addition, various sums were transferred from ISH's Swiss UBS
aceount into an ABN Amro account belonging to fa relatiove of Mr
Abudher — name redacted J. [Mr Abudher] then used this account to
make significant personal payments (for example; buyving his wife a
car, paying bills and funding the renovation of his apariment),

Therefore, [the Plaintiff] — as a director of the Fund ot afl material times — breached its
Siduciary duties. Had [the Plaintiff] exploined fo the Fund's board that, by executing the
Investment Meanagement dgreement, the Fund would become mixed up in unlowfil actions
Jacilitated by shem transactions, the board could not have legitimately executed the
agreement, Therefore, [the Plaintiff] - af the direction of [Mr Abudher] — did not act
loyally, honestly and in good faith towards the #und. Instead, [the Platmtiff] was directed
fo act for an improper purpose with the effect that [Mr Abudher] and others would derive
an undisclosed collateral bernefit and where there was a clear conflict of interest.

Moreover, it transpires from the documenis received from the Dutch prosecutor that both
fthe Plaintiffland [Mr dbudher] are entangled in an investigation being suspected of




115.

116.

J90130. Palladyne. 190130 Palladime Internadional Asset Management B.V.v Upper Brook {4) Limifed et.gl— FSD ;
(NS Judgment

581223

money-layndering and forgery. It goes withowit saying that this investigation” can be.
damaging ta the reptation of the Fund and the LIA.and is evigence that fthe Plainiiff] has
not acted i the best imerests of the Fund

O 10 July 2014 Enyo had written to Dentsche Bank and stated as follows:

“8, ‘The rationdle for the recent developmenis outlined above is as a result of
vertain information provided to the LI4 vegarding [the P!amt{f}f] (and its
principal; fMr Abudher]) by the Durch Public Prosecutor. Thix inforidtion
has led the LIA to believe that [the Plainriff] materially and irremédiably
breached the terms of the investment management agreement betweén the
L14 Fund and LAP Fund fon the one havd) and [the Plaintifi] tan the sther).
We enc[ose a copy of the notices of terminarion 1o [the Plaintiff], which sety
out in detail the actions of {the Plantiff] and the reasons for its removal ay
investment manager af pages 16-23,

g The upshot of these steps is that [the Flaintiff] does not, and nor do any of
its affilintes, shareholders, directors andlor. emp!ayees' (spemﬁcally
including but not timited to My Abudher and Lily Yes), have gy authorify
whatsoever over'the assets of the LIA Fund gr LAP Firtd, inctuding 1o dedl
with .op otherwise instryot yoir to Jeal with duclh assets. The only people
With_guthority over the assets of the LiA Fupd and LAP Fund aré the
current divectors, My Barusi and Dr Jehani (who we have copied into this
letter). Sueh guthority is currently. limited since they do rot possess o
sanctions licence. The LIA are enrrently considerlng how 1o procecd but
have rot made any decisions in relation 1o the futiupe of the LIA Fund and
LAP Fynd. Until such time gs those dacisiops have been reqchéd you
should continue to hold the gssels exactly as they are guFtenlly held.”

[underlining added]

The legal representatives for the LIA also wrote to Htertrust (see letter dated 10 July
2014), Deutsche Bank (see:letter dated 10 July 2014) and State Street (see letter dated 10
July 2014), These letters canfirmed that the Plaintiff no longer.had any authority over the.
Funds, that the only people with authority over the assets were Mr Baront and Dr Jehand,
but that their authority over the assets is “currently limited since they do not possess a
sanctions ticence. The 114 s curvently éamz‘dé?ing hovk 10 proceed but has not made any
decisions in vefation to the fature of the LI4 Fund or the TAP Fund, Until such time as
those decisions have been reached, the assels should be held exacily as they are curvently
held,




The Resolution i relation lo the Second Defendunt

7. On 17 July 2014, Mr Ben Yousef; as CEO of the LFB, granted Dr Jehani a power of

attorney to deal with the investment in Advanced,
118, On 18 July2014;

(a). a Resolution of Advanced {i).removed PIAM and Vijayabalan Murugesu as
directors, (if) appointed Dr Johani and Mr Baruni as directors, and (ii)
provided that Interfrust be instructed to update the relevant documents to
reflect those changes, The Resolution was signed by Dr Jehani, pursuant to

the power of attorney he had been granted by Mr Ben Yousef,

(b). A written shareholder resolution of Advanced changed the company’s name to
Upper Brook (F) Limited. The resolution was signed by Dr Jehani, pursuant
to the pewer of attorney he had been granted by Mr Ben Yousef.

119, On 11 August 2014, the lawyers/attorneys for the Defendants wrote to the Financial
Secretary in the Cayman Islands (as the Cayman Islands sanctions authority) setting cut the
background to the Resolutions. The letter asked for confirmation that the:

“newly constituted boards of the Upper Brook Funds do not reguive a sanctions licerce and,
accordingly, have not commitied ary sanctioned or illegal act by being appointed as directors
o the Funds”,

120, On 8 Scptember 2014, Mr Benyezza sent a letter to Mr Hebry at the LAP updating the
LAP as to the latest developmerts in relation to the Plaintiff and requesting that they pay thefr
share of the legal expenses incurred by the LIA, Mr Benyezza also sent a letter to the LFB
updating the LFB as to the latest developments in relation to the Plaintiff and requesting that
they pay their share of the legal expenses incurred by the LIA.

121, The LIA Board held two further Board meetings before the political changes in Libya led

190130 Palladyne 190130 Puliadyne Injernationdl Assel Mencgement B.Y. v Upper Brook (4) Limited etaf ~ FSD 68J0F
{NSH Fudgment .

sul223




to & split within the LIA. The issues relating to the Plaititiff were not discussed atthe 13 July
2014 meeting,

Enya letter 10 the UK sanctions authority and the response from.the Coyman Istands sanctions
cuthority

122.  On 11 September 2014 Enyo wrote to the Financial Sanctions Department at HM

Treasury on behalf of the First, Second and Third Defendants to informi the Department

of the removal of the Plaintiff and that therefore the sanctions licence granted to the

Plaintiff was no longer effective; Under the heading “Nexr Steps™ Enye said;

At this stage we are not seeking for yow to take uny steps: The purpose of our letter is
to make clear that the ciirrent sangtions licence gianted (0 the Plaintiff is no longer
effective ... Fupther we r.'onﬁi i that our clients understand that the assets held by fthe.
s, Sécond anid Third Defendants] aré lnciuded within the existing senctions regime.
and.-alicence will have 1o be sought and obitained in the relevaru jarisdictions beforé
any steps are taken with regard Lo thelp managemegnt or realisation.., e rote that we
have also been in contact with the Cayman and United States sancticns auithoritics
since they too have previously gramﬁd licerices with respeat 16 the disers held by fthe
First, Second and Third Defendaits]'s

123,  TheFinancial Secretary of the Cayman Islands, Kenneth Jefferson JP, responded to the 11

August 2014 lefter sent by the attorneys forthe Defendants (menttoned in paragraph
[119] above) by letter dated 18 September 2014:

“I hereby confirm that the following dctions of the Eibyan Irivestors dré not siibject fo
a -sanetions Hcence pursiant té The Libya (Resiricted Measyres) (Overseas
Ferritories) Order 201 1:

(1) dismissal of PIAM as investment manager of the Funds;

(2). dismissal of the previous divector of Upper Brook (F) Limited; aid

3. the appointment of u pew investtent nidnager and board of directors,

I furthey confivm thet, 10 the best of my knowledge and undezstmdmg, ho sanctioned.
or Hegal acts viere commitied by the Libyan Investors in appeinting & newly
constituted board of directors to the Upper Brook Funds.”

The LIA Board wiceting on:27 September 2014
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124, There are only unapproved draft minutes for the meeting of the LIA Board held on 27
September 2014, The reliability of these minutes is disputed by the Plaintiff. The draft minytes
record that Dr Jehani presented an update to the Board on the issues relating to the Plaintiff

and, inter glia, that:

@.  “[TThe stovy is old, Ismail [sic] Abu Zahir had taken US$ 700 million before the
revolution from the three entilies withott any justification, as he didn't have any
experience in this field. Afier the revolution, there was too much ialk about these
porifolios, and it was jound out that he took US$68 million as management
expenses (2.5%%). This is exaggeroted percentage, He was dealt with through a
different strategy by each entity: Efforts were unified by giving me a power of
under this power of gttorney. When we contacted the Dutch aftorney-general,

we found out that there had been manipulaiion in the accounts of portfolios,

(b).  DrJehani had been given " general power of atiorney by LIA, [LAP} and the
[LFB]. Under this power of attoiney, Paladin's [sic] services in managing the
three porifolios were terminuted, and we made sure thot this measure didn't
violate international sanctions imposed by the quthorities concerned in the
Cayman Islands”. Tt was explained that the LIA had “received a declaration
Jrom the awthorities concerned in Cayman Islands that this procedure didn't

violgle international sanctions.”

(¢).  Mr Benyezza had sent a letter to the LAP and LFR informing them of “the
latest measures taken about the three porifolios and [asking] thenr to pay their
shave of legal expenses incurred by LIA in connection with the legal actions

that were taken™,

(d). “Paladin's [sic] services were terminated under” the powers of attorney

granted to Dr Jehani.

(€).  the fact that the LAP and the ESDF remained owners of the First Def
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and Second Defendant respectively was discussed and the impact of this on the
giving of instructions in the future way considered, Mr Hebry is reported as
stating that any measyre approved by the LIA Board was “acceplable ond
binding on the [EAP], as LIA owns [LAP] " atid that he was of the view that the
ESDF should be contacted so as to perfset the share transfer.

the Board approved “taking necessary measures 10 prepeare in cuse d legal
action is filed againsi LI4 or prepare a case file if necessary; and lo covperate
with the Dutch aitorney general”

The LI4 decision No. 21 of 8 October 2014 and the response from the UK sanctions. authority

125,  On.8 October 2014 Mr Benyezza and Mr Isniial signed a decision of the LIA Board
(decision No. 21) stating that the LIA Board had cenfirmed at & meeting held on 27-and
28 September 2014 that; -

126,
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“at alt material tintes [Enya] and Wiadmirelf Advocaten and [Appleby] have been
authorised by the Board 1o take steps to remove [the Plaintiff] as divector and
irvestment manager of [the Firsy, Second and Third Defendant] and dedl with
consequential steps thereta as are authorised by the Chairmtin of the Board as hé
deems fit"

The Financial Sanctions Department of HM Treasury in the UK replied on 8

October 2014 to Enyo’s letter and confirmed the notification of the removal of

the Plaintiff, noting that the two sanctipiis licences held by the Plaintiff had

been revoked and thanking Enyo for cenfirmation that the “relevant parties”
understood that new licences would now be required. The Department also
reminded Enyo that any action to change the name of the Flst; Second and
Third Defendants would need the prior approval from the: Department so that

the licences could be amended. The Department did not raise any ij gbtions to

or concerns regarding the removal of the Plaintiff and the appointment-of Dr
Jehani and Mr Baruni.




The witnesses and evidence at the trial

127,

128.

129,
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Evidence from the following witnesses of fact was adduced. On behalf of the Plaintiff
T heard evidence from Mr Wansink and Mr Abudher. On behalf of the Defendants I
heard evidence from Mr Ismial, Mr Breish, Mr Benyezza, Dr Jehant and Mr Baruni.
Mr Ismial gave his evidence via a video link and through an interpreter. I have

already briefly explained the ‘positions and roles of these individuals.

I found the Plaintiff’s witnesses to be reliable and generally credible, Mr Abudher
clearly felt strongly and aggrieved about how in his view the Plaintiff had been treated.
On oecasions his evidence veered towards argument and self-justification but generally
he gave his evidence clearly and credibly. I also found the Deferidant’s witnesses to be
reliable and credible. Mr Ismial struggled with the translation process but gave helpful
and cleay evidence about the process by which the LIA Board minutes were prepared.
Mr Breish, Mr Benyezza, Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni gave helpful and clear evidence on
the LIA’s relationship with the Plaintiff and the other Libyan Investors, as to their
respective roles in the LIA’s decision -making process and negotiations with the other
Libyan Investors; and as to the LIA’s. intentions and thinking. Their recollection of
events of approximately four years ago was generally good and appeared to be reliable.
Their account of whiat was discussed and understood within the LIA at the timeé as to
the effect of sanctions and the point at-which a sanctions licence would be required
were riot entirely clear or consistent although they were all very clear on the LIA’s
general position with respect to sanotfons. Mr Baruni was a forthright and robust
witness who had a clear and coherent recollection of the main events (if a liitle

argumentative on occasions).
I addition expert evidence of Libyan law was adduced:
(a).  Ms Fadia Bakir (Ms Bakir) gave expert evidence on behalf of the Plaintiff, Ms

Bakir is the senior partner in her own firm of Libyan lawyers. She joined the

Libyan bar in 2004 and has contributed to a number of réports dealing with the

Libyan oil and gas sector, She issued two written reports, The first was dated

PR S




(b).

130.  The doeumentary evidence in this case was limited and incomplete and a number of

22 December 2017 (Ms Bakir's First Reporf) and the second was dated 6
February 2018 (Ms Bakir's Reply Repor). Her written evidence was detailed
gnd fully argued with extensive reference to Libyan Supreme Courtand other
decisions and other Libyan law materials. She gave her evidence in Court but
through an in;terpretér. She made a brave effori to understand the questions after
they were translated and to give answers that could be understood after being
translated. But there were on occasion serious problenis, I found it difficalt to
follow her answers and to-undevstand the basis for her opinion, I have sought
to understand her opirions 35d reasoning but the difficulties in understanding
het svidence in eross -examination has reduced the eredibility and weight T give
toher opinions on some points where Ms Bakir’s written opinions were either

unelear or sffectively challenged,

Mr Abdudayem Elgharabli (Mr Elgharabli) was the Defendants’ expert, Mr
Elgharabli is a partnerin & Libyan law firm and has been in praetice in Libya
since 1978 when he joined the National Oil Corporation, He became a member
of the Libyan bar in 1992 when he moved into private practice, He is a co-
author of chapters on Libyan law ina number of boeks. Mr Elgharabli issved
two written reports. The first was also dated 22 December 2017 (Mr
Elgharabli’s First Report) and his second repoit was dated 2 February 2018
(Mr Elgharabli’s Reply Reporf), His written evidence was clear but brief and
on occasions presented without a detailed analysis. He did however produce
and rely for some purposes on extracts from textbooks which were transtated
inta English. I found these helpful in explaining-the basis for Mr Elgharabli’s
opinions on & number of points, He gave his evidence in Bnglish, in which he

was fluent.

Amportant documents were only produeed shertly before the trial. It is-for this reason

that I have taken the trouble to reconstruct as best I ¢can and set out in some detail the

chronology and history, Furthermore, some critical documents were siubject to a claim

of legal professional privilege and-were not produced but were: referred to inan
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amended list of docurments filed by the Defendants afier the trial, I deal with these issues
in the Discovery Judgment (including the Defendants® confirmation that they wers
placing no reliance on the Deloitte Documents defined and deseribed in that jud gment),
While the fact that there are significant missing documents (indeed the LIA is a missing
party) and that there might wel have been a failure by the Defendants to-make full and
timely disclosure is unsatisfactory the problems at the LIA which T have described are
‘probably the cause of a number of the difficulties and the Plaintiff chose to maintain
the trial date and not seek further disclosure, The Court is left in the position of having

todo the best it can and decide the case on the evidence available and adduced,

The legal arguments — the Sanctions Point and the Authority Point

131,

I now move on from a review of the history and the evidence relating to the events
surrgunding the removal of the Plaintiff to a summary of the detailed legal arguments
and the submissions made by the Plaintiff and the Defendants on the Sanctions Point
and the Authority Point. Since the Sanctions Point represents the Plaintiffs primary

case [ start with that arid then move on to consider the Authority Point,

The Plaintiff”s claims ~ its pleaded case in relation to the Sanctions Point

132,
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In its Amended Points of Claim the Plaintiff sets out its claims based on the Sanctions
Point. The Plaintiff claims that there has been & breach of various provisions of the
Sanctions Order. In particular the Plaintiff ¢laims in the alfernative that the adoption of
the Resolutions was a dealing with frozen assets, in particular the shares in the First,
Second and Third Deferidanis or their assets, prohibited by Article 10¢1Xb) of the
Sanctions Order; that each of the Resolutions was adopted with the intention of
contravening Article 10 by liquidating or otherwise unfreezing the assets of the Funds
and that the adoption of the Resolutions was part of a course of conduct in
contravention of Article 13 (which as [ have noted provides that an offence is
committed where a person participates, knowingly and intentionally, in activities the
object and effect of which is, directly or indireetly, to circumvent the prohibition in
Article 10(1) of the Sanctions Order).




133.

The Plaintiff relies on the conduct and events set out in paragraphs 27 to 55 of the
Amended Points of Claini, This conduct includes in particular:the LAP’s decision and
request to redeem (and the diseyssionsrelating to the redetuption of) its Investment and
shares in the First-Defendant; the LAP’s applications for sanctions licenees, which are
assuimed not to have been granted; the granting of the LIA Power of Attorney; the
discussions of ‘the. LIA Boatd at the 4 May Meeting (and the awareness that the assets
of the Funds were frozen assets for the purpose of the applicable sanctions law so that
licences were required for any movemetit of such assets); the granting of the LFB Power
of Attorney; the signing of the Resolutions; the passing of the sharehiolder resolutions
to change the names of the First to Third Defendants; the discussions with Mr
Murugesu; the signing of the board resolutions authorising and the S@hd-ing of the letters
to -the Plaintiff to effect the termination of the IMAs; Enyo's lettets to Intertrust,
Deutsche Bank and Stafe Strect of July 2014; Intertriist’s termination of its position as

administrater; the written resolutions of the directors of the First to Third Defendants

to terminate the engagement of Ogierand to instruct Enyo, Appleby and Wiadimiroff;
and the LIA decision No. 21 of § October 2014,

The Plaintifi®s submissions on sanctions — Article 10

134,
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As I have explained, Article 10(4)(a) of the Sanctions Order sets out three separate

definitions of “déaling™ in respect of “funds” as follaws:

“In this article, Mto deal with” imeang—

{é) i respect of s
til. o e, alter, mave, gllow- decess ic or Transfer;
g 1o deal with irany other way that would result in any change

in  volume, amount, location, ownership, possession,
character o destination, or
(Hi).

make_any other change that would enable yse ineluding portfolio

management; ...” [undetlining added]

i)

2 D;:

1o




Use

136,

137.
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There is a dispute as to the meaning of the key terms in particular “uise”, The Plaintiff
argues that the ferm when properly interpreted is wide enough, when if relates to
“funds” which are shares in.a Caytman Islands company, to cover the exercise of voting
rights by a shareholder to remove and replace a director of that company (in its Closing
Submissions the Plaintiff states that its primary case relies on either the “adoption” of
the Resolutions or alternatively the adoption of and the registration of the appointments
and removals purportedly effected by the Resolutions). Therefore the exercise by the
LIA and the other Libyan Investors of théir voting rights and other powers as
shareholders in the Funds to authorise the signing and passing of the Resolutions
involved a prohibited “use” of the shares. The Defendants submit that the term “use”
should not be given such a wide interpretation and does hot cover the exercise of voting
rights by a shareholder in this type of case. The Plaintiff also argues that the exercise
of voting rights by the Libyan Investors “allow[ed] access 0™ and was a change which

“would enable use” of the Funds® assets.

The Plaintiff submits that Article 10 of the Sanctions Order should be given its natural
meaning (that being consistent with-its purpose) and that the appointment of Dr Jehani
and Mr Baruni involved a “use” of the Funds® shares within the natural meanin g of that
term. The adoption of the Resolutions was.a “use™ of “fimds* within the meaning of
Article 10(4)(a)(i) because it was an exercise of rights attached to and inherent in the

ownership of the shares in the relevant Fund,

The Plaintiff argues that the LIA’s purpose in exercising its rights as shareholder to
approve and pass the Resolutions, as revealed by the documents disclosed by the
Defendants in these proceedings, was to obtain control of the Funds® assets in order to
liquidate them without a licence. The Plaintiff says that the evidence shows that the
LIA (ineluding Mr Breish and Mr Baruni) believed that by appoeinting Dr Jehani and
Mt Baruni they had secured sush control and furthermore that the LIA decided not to
apply in advance for a licence because doing so might have exposed its plan to the

serutiny of the Sanctions Comimittee and the Libyan autherities.

Lt A




138, The Plaintiff puts its-case on the meaning and interpretation to be- given to “use” as

follows:

(a).  the natural-meaning of “use” covers the exercise of voting rights in respect of

shares,

(b).  such an interpretation of “pse™ in the cantext and for the purpose of Article

10¢4)(8) is gonsistent with the abjéctives and purpose of the Sanctions Order.

(¢).  this interpretation and meaning is supported by the relevant guidance issued by
the UN in respect of related sanctions. measures, This is the Assets Freeze:
Explanation of Terms dated 24 February 2015 issued by the UN's Al-Qaida
Sanctions Committee (the 4Q Guidance).

(d). the natural meaning as given by the Plaintiff does not produce perverse

outeomes and is consistent with the relevant case law,

{e). it wasopentothe LIA and the other Libyan investorsto obtain and the relevant
authorities had & power to grant a licence to permit them ta remove the Plaintiff
and appoint Dr Jehant and Mr Baruni.

139, As regards the natural meaning of “use” the Plaintiff submits that:

(a).  the ordinaty -and natural meaning of “uge” is to smploy for a purpose, as

recognised in the Oxford English Dictionary and fongstanding case jaw. The
exercige of the vating rights inherent in shares falls well within the Oxford
English Dictionary definition of “use”, namely: “The act of employing a thing
for any (esp. a prafitable) purpose; .. wiilization or-employment for or with some
alm or purpese, application or conversion to some (esp, good or useful) end”
(2nd edn. Vol XIX, p.350). Simitlacly, in British Motor Syndicate v Faylor [1960Q]
1:Ch 577, Stirling J held at 583: “The first meaning assigned to the word ‘use’
i Johnson's Dictionary Is ‘to employ to-any purpase”; it is, therefore, a word of
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(b).

wide signification. It seems 1o me that the lerms “use’ and “make use of” are

intended to have a wider application than ‘exercise’ and ‘put in practice .

exercising the voting rights of a share is to employ that shiare for a purpose. The
right to vote is ene of the most important rights inkerent in a share (it is
specifically provided in the Articles of Agsociation of each of the three Funds)
and, as such, the right to vote his shares is the shareholder’s private property
right (see Re Astec [1999] BCC 59 at 84-86),

140, Asregards the objectives and purpose of the Sanctions Order, the Plaintiff submits that;

(a).

(b).

(&h
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the key objective of the Sanctions Order is to lock-down all of the assets of the
LIA and the LAP so that they can eventually be restored intact to the Libyan
people. That is best achieved by an extensive prohibition with a fcensing
exeeption, Such a structure also allows the prohibition to be effectively policed

by the Sanctions Committee, in consultation with the Libyan authorities.

there are compelling reasons why the exercise of voting rights should
be subject to the requirement o obtain a licence. Exercising voting rights has
the potential dramatically to affect the status or value of an asset. By way of
example, the shareholders could vote by special reselution under Article 58 of
the Articles of Association to teduce the company’s capital (paying the
reduction to shareholders pro rata) without changing the shares in any way
(pursuant to section 14(1) of the Companies Law}. There is no principled basis,
grounded in the text of the Sanctions Order, for distinguishing between a vote
of that nature and a vote to appoint the LIA’s agents to the position of company

directors.

voting to appoint new directors Is plainly a matter that the policy uniderlying

the Sanetions Order would wish to regulate, subject to & licensing regime:

(). the reason why the restrictions in the UN-mandated asset free




so bread, and have been maintained despite the delisting of the LIA
in relation to assets within Libya, is that the compariies are suspect
and their activities are suspect (i.e. a precaytionary approach ‘in
respeet of all overseas assets), If new directors.are brought in they
may respect the rules (i.e, the purpose of the asset freeze) but this
cannot be guaranteed and there remains an en-going concern about
dissipation and diversion .against & background of o

furmoil in Libyas,

(). it is appropriate and important that the éxperts on the Sanctions
Committee of the UNSC scrutinise who the new directors ought fo
‘e because it is possible that 4 simple éxercise of voting rights could
bring in people who arc suspect in the eyes of the Sanctions
Committee. For example, they might be associated with particular
factions or persons of concern in Libya iiself, or part of what the

~ Sanctions Committee consider might be the beginning of a
congpiracy to move assets. The Sanctions Commitiee would need to
scrutinise thosé changes to make sure-they are not part of & wider
threat to the assets themselves. The Sanctions Committee has the
authority to (and does) serutinise less'significant mattérs, such as the

authorisation of disbursements to meet living expenses.

(i), it is nof enough sixnp!y’tq gssume that assets are ultimately proteoted.
by the requirement to make a licence applieation to release the assets,
This argument {8 circular and would mean that there would never be
any such breach. Further, this could prove to be a hollow protection

if inappropriate persons have been appeinted as directors.
141, Asregards the AQ Guidance, the Plaintiff submits that:

(a).  the AQ Guidasce supports giving “use” its natural (broad) meaning. The AQ
Guidance provides as follows at paragraph 12 (emphasis added);
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(b).

“In cases where « listed party owns or-controls funds or other financial assels
or economic resources in which unlisied persons also have a segreguable
interest, for example as Joint-owners or employees, the freeze Is directed
against that share of the asset owned or controlled by the listed party. In
such eases, Member States should ensure that the listed party is ot able 1o
exercise s Interest in the asset directly or fndirectly, including by issuing
{nstructions regarding any-benefit, financial or otherwise, that may accrie
Jrom the asset, If an asset is owned or controlled by a listed party and an
unlisted party and the interest owned or controlled by the unlisted pariy
cannot be segregated, the entire asset should be subject to the freeze,”

three key points are made about the AQ Guidance:

o

(i1},

(iv).

the term “exercise ifs interest™ in shares is broader than selling or
mortgaging shares (which, as I shall explain, is a construction argued
for by the Defendants),

the UN includes within its definition of “dealing” exercising
interests in shares by issuing iustructions regarding any bensfit that
might accrue from the share, The focus is on preventing the exercise
of control, which is precisely what happens when a shareholder

votes a resclution to procure changes in a company.

the benefit is expressly not limited to financial benefits. The
benefit could be the appointment-of a new board, which will do the
bidding of the shareholder.

accordingly there has been guidance from a relevant authority
clearly indicating that the concept of “use” il the context of

exercising voting rights is not as limited as the Defendants contend,

142 Asregards the acceptability in practice of the proposed construction and its consistency

with relevant case law, the Plaintiff argued that:

(a).
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its.construction of the term “use” did not result in an unworkable or oppre




(b).

(&)

10130 Palléietyne | 90130 Paflcdyivg liternational Asset Management B.V. v Upper Brask (4} Limited elal— F

(N&S) Judgimient

72223

sanctions regime that would prejudice the lepitiniate intergsts of the Libyan
Investors (and other parties subject to sanctions) or require licence applications

for trivial and pyrely administrative actions.

sharehaolders dealing with rogue directors who threaten to dissipate the assets
of the compaty would nat be prejudiced by béing vnable to take timely action
to prevent dissipation by the directors. If the directors were about to commit 4
ciminal offénice the shareholders could inform the palice and the police could
take immediate action. The shareholders could also apply to the civil courts for
a freezing order — this would not involve a “use™of the shares ou the Plaintiff's
constroetion Since in order to make the application the sharehelders do not
exercisea right inherentin the share itself but instead seek a remedy {in respect
of misfeasance by the directors) under procedural rules which permit the Court
to prevent breaches. of duty by the directoss and protect the shareholders”
position as a party who may be awarded a judgment against the directors in due

QOUrse,

while eertain actions by shareholders in the ordinary course of dealing with the
compary’s regular business and affaiis, or in exercising rights on matters of
ordinary corporate governance, would require a licerice on the Plaintiff*s

cofigtruction, this is to be expected in light of the purpose of the Sanctions Order

‘and there are.a number of activities in the erdinary cotrse which would still not

require a licence:

(). there are various rights given to shareholders by the Ariicles of
Association of & company. But since the test is “use™ by a “person”,
there is a distinction to be draws between active use of these fights
(i.e. employment for a purpose) and passive receipt of benefits for
shareholders, The latter do not amount to use and do not require a

licence. Aceordingly, there isno need for a licence to feseive notices

or information or even to attend a meeting. In deing so, 4 person does

not “use” their shares.




(i),

(i},

(iv).

).

fulfilling regulatory duties imposed en shareholders by virtue of their
shareholdings, such as duties to notify company registrars or other
regulators of action taken or holdings held by shareholders, would not
normally be a “use” of the share. There is no “use” (fe. active

employment by the ewner) of rights attached to the share.

but where a shareholder exercises his right, for example, by written
congent to modify rights for different classes of shareholder (Article
54 of the Artieles in this case) or by ordinary resolution to permit
inspection of company documerits (see Article 135 in the present

case) the right is being actively used and a licence is required.

this however is not a perverse outcome, While in the ordinary course
of business these may be maiters of mundane corporate governance,
where sanctions are involved the need to protect and the policy
reasons requiring the protection of frozen assets justifies the
regulation and contro! of such aétivitles. These shares are frozen
because the LIA’s overseas interests are suspect. What might
normally be a matter of mundane corporate governance— such as vote
on a resolution changing the name of the company ~ could be part of

a plan to evade sanctions or confuse investigators.

that is what the AQ Guidance meant when it said that the asset freeze

should stop designated persons exercising their shareholder inferests

to Issue any instructions to the company 1.*egarding any benefit -

including non-financial benefits.

143.  As regards the availabiiity of a licence (and the significance for the construction of the

langnage of the Sanctions Order of the availability of a licence) in the present case:

(a).
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the Plaintiff noted that the licensing provisions in the UN Security Council




(b}

{e).

{d).
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resolutions evolved over time, as the UN Security Council responded to

developments in Libya,

on 26 February 2011, SC Resolution 1970 fesponded to “gross and systematic
violation of leman vighis” and potential “crimes agajnst hurapity “eimiandting
from the “highest level of the Libyan government.” The UN Security Council
therefore imposed a complete asset fresze and travel ban on the top individuals
associated with the Gaddafi regime. The asset freeze was deliberately broad
and to be applied on & precautionary basis, given the harrowing context:
Nonetheless, there was a power for Member States 1o Hoense certain activities
-and these included, for example, paying fees and service charges “for routine
holding or maintenance Of!ﬁf_@zﬁﬁ: Jungls, other financial assets and econamic

resources” (paragraph 19(aj}.

on 17 March 2611, the UN Seeurity Couneil noted the grave and detériorating
situation in Libya, the heavy civilian casualiies, and that the widespread and
systetnatic attacks against the civilian population were potential crimes
against humanity. In those circumgtances, it imposed a complete asset fréoze
on “financial gssets and economic resources.. which are owned or
controlled... by the Libyan awthorities... or by individuals ov entities acting
on their behalf”. For the first time entities rather than individuals were Hsted
in Annex TI, all of which were described as being “[ulnder comirol of
Muammar {Gaddafi} and his family, and potentigh source of finding for his
regime"”. Again, the acute context and rapid developments in the Libyan clvil
war warranted a broad freeze, applied on a precautionary basis, to all funds

under Colonel Gaddafi's control,

the broad freeze of these entities lasted betwieeh 17 March 2011 and 16

Colonel Gaddafi by unfreezing assets within Libya and providing that the

LIA’s assets outside of Libya could be'used under licence from a Mesttber State

fand on five days’ notice to the Sanctions Committes) for the 'fGlf.OWing




!a
|
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purposes (see SC Resolution 2009 paragraph 16):

“{i\. humanitarian needs;

(i) fuel, eleciricity and water for strictly eivilian uses;

(tig).  resuming Libyan production and sale of hydrocarbons;

(iv). establishing, operating, or strengthening institutions of civifian
government and etvilion public infrastructure; or

(). Jacilitating the resumption of banking sector pperations, Including to

support or facilitate international trade with Libya; ,..”

Under Asticle 15 of the Sanctions Order, a licence may disapply the

prohibitions in Asticle 10, The licence may “relate 70" sccess to funds or

sconomie resources. “for one or more of the purposes” referred to above. The

Plaintiff assumes for the purposes of this argument that Article 15(2) is

exhaustive of the bases for licensing under Article 15(1).

the Sanctions Committee would have been able to grant a licence for the

removal of the Plaintiff as a director and the appointment of Dr Jehani and M

Baruni as directors of the Funds:

(i)

the purpeses set out in paragraph 16 of SC Resolution 2009 are broad
purposes which would enable the LIA to obtain licenses for most
activities asgooiated with fts mandate. For exaniple, in relation to { iv)
{(strengthening institutions of civilian government and civilian public
infrastructure) each of the Libyan Investors is described in paragraph

18 of SC Resolution 2009 as “a Libyan government institution™, The

LIA in particular manages the oil revenue of the country, which is

93% of gaveimment revenues. lts activities are vital for the long-term
viability of the civilian government and civilian infrastructure. In
relation to {v) (facllitating the rosumption of banking sector
operations, including to-support or facilitate international trade) each
of the Libyan Investors has a mandate to purchase foreign securities

{which is international trade) and is the activity being undertaken by
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(ii):

(i),

(iv).

the Funds in the present case: In relation to(iii) (preductionand sale
of hydrocarbons) the LIA’s ovérseas interests include, for example,

an oil refinery business in Switzerland.

furthermore, “relate to” was a deliberately broad term ‘which
encompassed actions that-were ancillary to the underlying purpose,
In the case of a compdny that invested in forelgn sécurities or the
preduction of hydrocarbons, such actions would include necessary
interventions in corporate governance, including the removal of
directors guilty of mismanagement (if would also include any actions
necessary to enable the company to continue to function which;
depending on the jurisdiction, might include remunerating auditors or
broad. The safeguard was provided by the need to ebtain the approval
of the relevant Member State licensing authority and to notify the

Sanctions Ceammitige,

inaddition, the wordingand coitext of Artiele 15(2)(g) indicated that

it was not exclusively concerned with the narrow isspe of releasing

“money or nranieylike”. This provision implemented paragraph 16 of

$C Resolution 2009, which provided for a general disapplication of
the freezing provisions, Further, the UN freezing provisions did not
distinguish betwesn the different foriis of dealing as the Sanetions
Order does, Indeed, Arficle 15(2){(g)(iD) reférs to autherised the

“unfreezing of funds” generally: it was not limited to. access to

montes. Similarly, Article 152)(g)(iv) referred fo the Libyan

aythorities being consulied about the "use” of such funds, iLe. the

‘broader term. was used.

if a legislative regime included a broad prohibition and then allowed
the balance to be struck by granting licences in categories of

“derogation™, there was no warrant for construing the derogations




®.

190130 Palladyne 190130 Polladvne fnternational Assel Murdgement B.V, v Upper Brook (4) Limited et.al - FSD

(NS} Jwelgment

771223

narrowly or strictly. The Plaintiff relied on, by analogy, R (McMorn)
v Natural England [2016] PTSR 750 at [141], where the Court held
that licensing provisions permitting the capture or killing of wild
birds for specified purposes were not to be construed narrowly or
strictly, given that the legislation sought to strike a balance by
identifying a general prohibition then mitigating its effects with

licensing exceptions.

in these circumstances the Plaintiff relied on the judgment of the Court of
Appeal in Al-Kishtaini v Shanshal [2001] EWCA Civ 264. This case concerned
a §tatutory instrument implementing UN sanctions against Irag, namely the
Control of Gold, Securities, Payments and Credits (Republic of Irag) Directions
1990. Mummery L) gave a broad construction to this secondary legislation and
accepted that “this construction has potentially far reaching effects. It may
produce surprising consequences in some cases ' but he placed reliance on the
fact that the Treasury had the discretion to refuse or grani permission for
transactions, citing “the observation of Lord .Rttdcf'i_ﬂé in Boissevain v, Weil
[1950] AC 327 at 343 (a case on the 1939 Defence (Finance) Regulations),..:
‘And here I would add that vihen a regulation contains a general dispensing
power such as the power that is given to the Treaswry by regulation 2{1)[i.e.
the power 1o granl permission] it is very difficult to press to a residt any
argument for a limited interpretation which is based on the absurdity of its
literal construction™ (paragraphs 34-35and paragraph 76 where Rix LJ made
the same point). Regulation 2(1) of the Defonce (Finance) Regulations 1939
stated: “Except with permission granted by or on behalf of the Treasury, no
person other than an authovised dealer shall buy or borrow any foreign
eurrensy or any gold from, or lend or sell any foreign currency or any gold to,
any person,” Mummery L] also noted that “I ... bear in mind the penal

sanctions for contravening the Directions. But I also bear in mind that this kind

of measure is intended fo have far reaching effects...” (paragraphs 32 and 35,

underiining added). That, the Plaintiff says, is preciscly this case. Even if the

dispensing power in Article 15 is:more limited than in Boissevain and 47 -




(8).

{h).

Kishigini, it covers the appointment of hew directors in the present

circumstances,

the far reaching effects of the PlaintifPs conistruction of the Sanctions Order were
mitigated by the licensing regime. The ability to obtaim a licence under Article
I3 for any reason and to authorise any conduct supports the Plaintiff's
construction of Articles 10(1) and {4). It means that this construction witl not
prevent proper management of funds or otherwise desirable transactions,
Mummery LI when he gave a broad constryetion fo the secondary legislation
in A-Kishraini.

the Plaintiff submitted that its approach was alse supported by the decision of
the English Court of Appeal in Libypan Investment Authority v Maud [2016]
EWCA. Ciy 788, in which the Plaintiff argued appeared 1o have taken a
similarly broad view. In LIA v Maud, the Court found that a payment to the LIA
of a debt it was owed under a guatantee was not.a breach of sanctions, The
sanetions in question were those imposed by the EU pursuent to EU Regiilation
204/2011, which like the Sanctions Order weie designed to give effect to the
UN resolutions but, the Plaintiff argnes, were in similarbut diffevent terms. The
Plaintiff argued that the Court’s decision turned on its finding that: (a)
paragraph 20 of SC Resolution 1970 had specifically intended io. permit the
payment to the LIA of existing debts, provided they were paid inte. frozen
accounts; and (b) 8C Resolution 2009 cannot have intended to impose tighter
restrictions on the repayment of"debts 1o the LIA given that it was.intended to
be a relaxation of the Libyan sanctions regime. The Court of Appesl, in refation

t0the question of what it migant to deal with an asset {in this case a guaranice),

gave as examples the fact that the guarantee “conld be discowted or used as
security in order to obigin new funds” (paragraph 18). These, the Plaintiff

argues, are both examples of the usé of a legal interest in order to achieve a

purpose. In the present case, the Defendants have sought to use their legal
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for the purpose of removing existing direstors and appointing new directors.

144, As1have noted the Plaintiff also argued that the exercise of voting rights by the Libyan

Investors “allowled] access t0” and was a change which “would enable use” of the

Funds’ assets (within Article 10(4)(a)(i) and (iii)). This'is not an.argument that relates

to the shares in. the First Defondant, the Second Defendant and the Third Defendant but

rathet to their assets. The Plaintiff submits that:

(a).

{b).

(¢).

(dJ.

(o).
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the proper approach to construction was to consider the ordinary meaning of

the words used.

it was possible to “allow gccess 10” property without the property actually

being used or anything being done to it.

it was also possible to make a “charnge that would enable use” i.e, allowing or

facilitating use, which includes preparatory steps leading up to actual use,

a simple example of both would be the issuing of a bank card and PIN
number for a bank account containing frozen funds, Even if a licence were
in theory needed to withdraw cash and spend the funds, nonetheless the
issuing of the card and the updating of the mandate and records would have
“allow[ed] access” and would be a “chumge that would enable use” of

frozen funds.

the appointment by the LIA of its agents as the directors of the Funds also falls
within the ordinary meaning of the words and is the same conceptually as the
bank card example. Once such directors are in place, the LIA is in a position
to issue instructions so as to-exercise ifs interest in the asset. Such directors can
decide what 1o do with the underlying assefs of the company and whether to
pay dividends (and may do so at the ingtruction of the LIA, given that they are

effectively agents of the LIA).




0.

().
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thie Defendants™-argument that, provided that a licence Is required actually te
access or use the funds, there can’be no breach of the prohibition on allowing
access to or making a change which would enable use of these funds should be
rejected. The Defendants” approach would deprive the relevaiit provisions of
Atficle 10(4) of the Sanctions Order of any effect. If allowing access to or
enabling use of assets coiild not oceur merely begause a licence still had to be
souglit to permit the use, there could nevar be:a breach ungder the “alfow/ing]
gecess” or “enablefing] use " heads. That is because under the Sanctions Order
it would always be hecessary to geta licence to use the funds. The Defendants®
arpument is therefore sircular. [t would mean, in effect, that it was itnpossible
to breach sub-paragraph (iii) of Article 10(#)(a) or to allow aecess to funds

urider (i),

the Defendants” interpretation would leave frozen assets of listed entities’
subsidiaries defenceless to unscrupulous diregtors: It ignored the posaibility
that a director (especially one acting as the agent of the designated entity) might
be prepared to risk moving assets without a licence ag part of & (;'o_ﬂspiracy to
do so. The rewards for the director might be very substantial and, sincs the
transfer of asséts was the last step-in the plan, the director could abscond at the

same time,

on the Plaintiffs construction, it was irrelevant that custodians are in fact in

place whe may or may not heed an instruction from the new LIA representative

directors 16 deal with the assets without a ficence, The relevance of the
existence of custodians, on the Defendants’ submiission, i?s;"that'-an;r breagh of

the prohibitions on allowing access or enabling use would be commiitted by the

custodians and not by the new directors, That wotld be the ease (according to

the Defendants) even if the custodians were acting on an instruction {rom the

pew directors.




The Plaintiff’s submissions on sanctions - breach of Article 13 and/or intention unlawfuily
to deal

145, The Plaintiff noted that its primary case, based on the adoption of the Resolutions and
there having been a “dealing” with the shares in breach of Article 10(1) of the Sanctions
Order, did not depend on the purpose for which the Resolutions were adopted. Its
alternative case, based on Ariicle 13 and ilI‘ega!it_y, did depend on establishing that the
Defendants had the requisite knowledge and that the actions and activities of the

Defendants were conduicted for the requisite purpose.
146,  The Plainiiff’s further and alternative cass was that:

(a). the Resolutions formed part of a course of activities with the object or effect
of circumventing the asset-freeze under Article 10 of the Sanctions Order, in
which activities various persons participated knowingly and intentionally,

such that they coniravened Article 13 of the Sanctions Order.

(b).  each of the Resclutions was adopted with the intention of contravening
Article 10 by liquidating and/or otherwise unfreezing the assets (which, had
it'oceurred, wounld have constituted “dealfing] with” funds and contravened
Articls 10{1)).

147.  As regards the Article 13 claim the Plaintiff submitted as follows:

(a).  Auticle 13 prohibits persons from knowingly and intentionally participating
in activities, the object or effect of which is to circumvent a prohibition in
Acxtiele 10(1).

(b).  the prohibition applies to-any “person”, although the territorial extent of the
criminal offerice is limited by Arficle 1(7) of the Sanctions Order, such that
the offence would culy be committed by the First to Third Defendants, as

bodies incorporated in the Cayman Islands. It is common ground that Dr
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Jehani and Mr Baruni were the directing mind and will of the Funds such that

‘their knowledge and intentions aré attributable to the Funds. The Plaintiff also
relies an the knowledge and intentions of Mr Benyezza, at least in tespect of
the Third Defendant Resolution.

{¢).  there is limited authority on: (a) the meaning of “circumvent " i Article 13 of
the Sanctions Order; and (b) the state of mind required for breach of Article
13. However, soms assistance can be gained from case law of the Couit of
Justice of the EU (CJEU) addressing similarly worded provisions in BU

sanctions legislation,

{d). astothe meaning of “circumvent”, in Case-C-72/11 Afrasiabi ECLI; BUr C:
2011:874 the CIEU held at paragraph 62 that:

“the prokibition loid down in Avicle 7(4) of Regulaiion No
42372007 fwhich cowtained & ¢ircimyention prevision as follows;
“The participation, knowiigly ard intentiondlly, in activities the
object er effect of which is divectly or Indirecily; 1o eiréumvent the
meastres veferred to... ' mist thergfore be uriderstood ds covering
activities in respéet of which il appears, on the basls. of objective
Jactors, thet, under. cover of a formal appearaice which enables
thewi o avaid the constituent elenents of an infringement of Article
7(3) of the regutation,.. nonethe less they have, as such or by reason
af thieir possible lnk to other gativities, the aim or result, direct or
indirect, of frustrating the prohibltion laid down In Article 743).”

fe).  adtothe requisite state of mind;
@M. indfrasiabi the CIEU held at paragraph 68:

“the terms ‘knowingly’ and ‘intentlonally’ imply cumulative
requirements of knovledge and intent, which are mef where the
person participating ln an getivity having such an pbject oy such
an-gffect deliherately seeks that object orgifect or is atleast aware
that his participation may have that-ohjéct or thai gffect and he
aecepts that possibility.” .

The CIEU did not expressly reject the conclusion of the Advocate
General But at paragraphs 85-80 of his Opinion (CLLEU:C:2011 ;7371
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82223




that the terms are sufficient to encompass carefessness or riegligence:

“ds shown by the ise of the phrase 'the effect is', the EU
legistature dlso makes.an infringement of the activity that led to
the result obluined, éven [ the latter was not broughi about
infentionally. Here, the penal provision contemplates conduet
expressing disregard jor the laws of society, in the form of
carelessness or negligence feading to the prohibited outcome...
the terms ‘ntentionally and ‘knowingly” include both mtenr;ona_!
Jault and the fadt of carelessness or negligence.”

(1) Afrasiobi was applisd by the General Court in Case T-434/11
Europdischlranische Handelsbank AG v Council
BCLEEU:T:2013:405 at paragraphs 135-6:

“The cumulative conditions of knowledge and intent.., are met
where the person participating in an activity covered by those
provisions deliberately secks the object or the effect, direct or
tudirect, of circumuvention connecked therewith, They are also met
twhere the person in question 13 aivare that his participation i
such an achivity con have that obfect or effect and decepts that
possibility...

Accordingly, transactions carried out vin a non-designated entity
are capble of infringing the prolibitio... where they have the ain
of earrying out finapcial transactions concerning a designated
entity and the entities involved in such a transaction are in foct
seeking to achieve that aim or know that their participation in that
transaction can heve that object or effect and accept that possibility.

Insuch gircumstances, it is for the entity relying on the conformity of
its transactions with Regulation No 423/2007 ... to demonsirate that
the conditions Jor the prohibition in Article 7(4) of Regulation No
423/2007 ... are not met.”

(D. the Plaintiff relies on the decision of the Court of Appeal in R v R [2016] 2
WLR 127 and submits that the following key points emerge from the

consideration of circumventien in the judgment of Briggs LJ:

(). the prohibition on eircumvention bears a wide meaning and may need

to be liberally interpreted.
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83223




(if). it is not to be equated (and is therefore broader than) evasion (as

opposed to avoidance) in domestic tax law.

{iif). it arises where the conduct is estensibly lawful. There is no-need to

shiow “dealing” within the meaning of Article 10,

(iv). the Key question is whether the ultimate purpose is lawful. If the
ultimate object or effect is unlawful, the lawful route to it is

cireumvyention.

). on the facts of R'v I, Brigge LI found that the ultimate purpose was
lawful because the EU Regulation-did not apply at all to payments.
between Russians in Russia (Artigle 17 of that Regulation), So, even
though the court order involved no-dealing, if the goal was te pay the
former spouse in 'En;gland without a licence, there would have been

circumvention,

(g).  the Plaintiff contended that the evidence established that the Defendants
were knowingly and intentionally participating in activities, the object or
effoct of which was to circumvent a prohibition in Article 10(1}. The
Plaintlff’s assessment of and submissions based -on the written and oral
evidence was presented in-outline and then in depth, after and in light of the
aross-exarination of the Deferidanits’ witngsses. Tt is helpful to'start with the

overview and then set out the more detailed analysis and submissions:
(h).  inoutling, the Plaintiff relied in particular on'the following facts and matters.
(i). as to the object of circumvention!

(A).  liquidating the assets and/or unfreezing them and/or

engbling the LIA to have gredter control over their
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(B).

(C).

(),

(7).

management are properly seen as abjects of circumvention
of Article 10(1). Each iz an action that Article 10(1) {or the
Sanctions Order tore generally) aims to prevent, in line
with its object of freezing the LIAs/LAP’s funds.

the LAP’s purpose in its initial attempts to redeem was to
obtain access to the First Defendant’s assets and remove the
Plaintiff from control of those assets. The LIA Board
minutes dated 9 February 2014 state that “the management
of [the LAP] wishes to transfer its funds in the Palladyne
Portfolio to another porifolio because they are frozen... their
strategy lies in liguidating the portfolio,..”. Sanctions
licences were not pranted to the LAP to achieve this

lawfully.

the LIA stated that its approach was (apparently instead of
trying to obtafn licences) to lquidate/redeem itself, out of
the Plaintiff”’s control, and to make changes to the
administration of the Funds, and to appoint Dr Jehani and
Mr Baruni as directors to do so. This is evidenced by for
example the 4 May Meeting Minutes (context for which is
provided by the LIA’s Board minutes of 1 March 2014
which noted that “[the LAP} would like the Palladyne

Parifolio to tguidete its monites in this portfolia” and that

“fthe LIA] would like to... personally liquidate the Portfolio

rather than have that portfolio’s manager liquidate it").

Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni were instructed to agt, accepted

those instructions and acted as the LIA directed.

Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni {working with the L.IA) contacted
the Custodians and sought to assert anthority over the assets




and to alter the custody arrangements.
(it} as to the effect of cireumvention:

(A). the Sanctions Order prohibits dealing with the assets by
liquidating them and/or unfreézing them in order to enable
the LIA fo have greater controi over the assets,

(B). the activities in question did engble the LIA, through Dr
Jehani and Mr Baruni, to have greater control over the assets:
Dr.Jehani and Mr Baruni became the registered directors of
the Funds and purperied to communicate with the
Custodians on -their behalf, asserting an entitlement to

control the agsets..

(iif}, the Defendants participated. knowingly and intentionally in the
.activities that had that object or effect in that:

(A). Mr Benyezza was at the 4 May Meeting, so knew of the
LIA’s plan (for removing the Plaintiff and liquidating the
Funds itself).

(B). Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni-were party to the LIA's plan, so
kmew that the Libyan Investors’ aim was to get rid of the
Plaintiff and get to the Funds. This is apparent from their
emails with Mr Breish sent on 3 and 4 May 2014 (set out
ahove), It is also to be inferred from their implenieritation of
what was said to be the LIA®s plan in the 4 May Meeting
Minutes and from their-appointment on the basis that they
were to take the actions requir’,ed by the LIA's lawyers.

{iv).  the Defendants knew and intended that the activities may breach
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(v).

sanctions in that:

(A)

(B).

Mr Benyezza was generally aware of the sanctions
prohibitions on the Funds and knew of sanctions issues caused
by previous attempts to gain access to the Funds. It is to be
inferred that he knew that the actions taken would or might
breach sanctions froi the plan recorded in the 4 May Meeting
Minutes and his awareness that the LAP had tried and failed

to get sanctions clearance,

it was admitied by the Defendants that Dr Jehani and Mr
Baruni were awate of the sanctions (see paragraph 58(1)of the
Defence and Counterclaim). It also appears from the emails
and calls involving the Funds’ Cayman Islands director, Mr
Murugesu, on the one hand and Mr Kennedy of Appleby, Mr
Alien of Enyo, Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni, on the other hand,
that Dr Jehani and Mr Batuni had been advised in respect of
sanctions fssues before (alternatively at the tims of) the
Resolntions and been in regular contact with those advisers.
Further, it is to be inferred that, as the persons deputised to

carry out the LIA’s plan, Dr Jehani and Mr-Baruni would have

been informed of the previous sanctions issues hampering

attempts to acoess the assets and dny plan to get around these,

aceordingly, the Plaintifl’s case was that the LIA’s objective was to

liquidate the assets without a licence (at the very least, the object and

the effect, if the Resolutions were valid, was to allow Dr Jehani and

Mr Baruni, the LIA’s agents, access to and greater contro! over the

frozen assets without a licence). Thus, even if the voting of shares

was not an unlawfil dealing with the shares or with ihe assets of the

Funds {(and therefore lawful without a licence), the object was

unlawful. As to the offect of circumvention, the activities in quiestion




(if valid) did allow er enable the LIA, through its agents Dr Jehani
and Mr Baruni, to have greater control over the assets without g
licence, They immediately contacted the Custedians and asserted an
sntitlement to control the asséts, There was no doubt that the
Defendants did these things knowingly. and intentionally. The fact
that they might have had what they considered.to be bona fide reasons
regardinig Mr Abudhet/the Plaintiff was entirely consistent with that

case, and effectively provides the metive.

{vi}.  as regards the detailed analysis and assessment of, and sybmissions based or,

the evidence the Plaintiff”s position can be summarised as follows:

(A). the Plaintiff identifies the plan Tormulated by and on behalf of the
LIA and the Funds; explains how the plan was executed and its
outcome; and reviews the reasons given by the LIA and the
Defendants’ witnesses justifying the removal of the Plaintiff (which

the Plaintiff says were contrived and not te be believed).

(B). the Plaintiff submits that the evidence demonstrates that Mr Breish,
‘Mr Baruni, Mr Benyezza and Dr Jehani {amongst others) had a clear
‘plan to arrange for the Funds® assefs and investments to be delivered
to the LIA (and other Libyan Investors) after- the removal of the
Plaintiff and before a new (ransition manager was agpo-in;.e_d by the
LIA and the Funds. The parties understood that before the transition
‘manager was appointed the powers of attorney would alléw Dr Jehani

and Mr Baruni to give instructionis to the Custodians,

(C) the plan invalved the LAP and the LFB providing powers of atiorney
to the LIA to allow the latter to effect the Resolutions necessary to
replace the Plaintiff with the new directors.. In his oral evidence, Mr
Breish agreed with the proposition that “whilst you were chairmean

and unless you had to step-down, it was your view that laking co
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or taking over the companies which owned the finds would give the
LI4 comtrol of the dssets”. Mr Breish accepied that the LIA’s
“primary object” was “io liquidate the portfolios” and that in order
to do so the LIA had to replace the dircctors of the Funds.

(D). on {4 November 2013, Mr Baruni had emailed the LAP and referred

to the plan to:

Uiguidate all the assets of the 3 funds together in g coordinated
manner. As each okie of us is the sole shareholder in our respective

ﬁm{iv we afe in a m.s'rﬁon o take comrof of the !mu:dcman

8., Cao#dmal‘ed liquidation fs almast certainly more efficient than

uncoordingted sales that may adversely move markets. I therefore
again strongly advise, recommend and request that you do rnot
proceed on yoyr-ovin. 1}t will not bring LAP optimal results and may
harm the interests of the LIA and the LFB. Please provide the L4
with the agreed power of dttorney... " [underlining added)

Having reviewed that email above, and in answer fo the question
during his cross-examination whether he thought of “liquidation™ as
“selling stocks and shares within the funds to generate cash”, Mr

Breish replied:

“All these are instruments, whether it's a security or cash. It can
stifl stay where in the same jurisdiction, in the same account, under
the sanctions regime, so there is no difference between the various
producls whether It was a bond or an equity or a stock or a
convertible or cash”

(E). in his affidavit for the purposes of an application early in the
procesdings Mr Breish had stated that:

“The primary objective of the LIA Directors was to end [the
Plaintfl’s] involvement, but the proceeds of the liquidation would
have remained subject to sanctions” (paragraph 21)

e e e BRI il L G o nriee e
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(G)

(H).

hold the proceeds in unmanaged gccounts subject to sanctions ar
State Street Bank-and Detsche Bank-who the LI4 believed were the
custadions” (paragraph 24)

Mr Breish’s evidence was that the LIA s directors did not believe that
a sanctions licence was necessary for the puipose of obtaining
“control over the finds™ but that whern it came to the “liquidation of
the fynd”® which was to be done by “experts, pansition managers”,
licences would be considered at that latter stage on advice. He
aceepied during his cross-examination that his view was -that a
sanctions licence might be needed only if the 1_i:t3uidaié_d asgéts were
to be transferred out of the jurisdiction but not if the proceeds of the
liquidated ‘were o remain within the jurisdiction (see the transcript
for-day 5 p.87 lines 1- 10).

Mr Breish’s eviderics should be given more weight than that of Mr
Baruni and Dr Jehani for a number of reasons: Mr Breish was the
Chairman of the L1A at the time: un iquely among these witnesses; he
swaore an affidavit on these points closer tothe eveiits in question and
before pleadinigs had been exchanged; and he gave evidence first on

a Friday evening, that is, before his recollection became distorted by

the particular case theorfes and legal arguments were advanced in

detail by the parties,

by centeast, when reviewing the same 14 November 2013 emaif, Mr
Baruni’s oral evidence wasthat the term “liguidare™ meant “Hyuldate
the mandates” i.e. PIAM®s mandate (see the nanscfipt_ for Day 6, p.
{27 lings 3-7), That the Plaintiff submits was an impossible reading
of the 14 November 2013 email which says in terms “Hguidate ol the
assets of the 3 fimds”. Mr Baruni érttemptedi to say that the language
in that email had beén a “mistake” {see the transctipt for Day 6, p.
127 linegs 10-11}.

o
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M.

)}

(K).

(L),

when confronted by what hie had written at the end of the same ermail
(“Coordinated lguidation is almost eertainly more efficient than
uncoordinated sales”) Mr Baruni did hot repeat his claim that
“liguidation™ meant terminating mandates but said “at no paint did 1
or the LIA fmiend to take conirol or liguidate assets withou! sanctions

licensing, Never. That was not the intent.” [underlining sdded].

in contrast, the conitemporaneous documents, including those written
by and to Mr Baruni, do not refer to any need to obtain a licence for
the purpose of taking control of the assets. The references to licences
i the context of liquidation are far less clear than My Baruni's. oral

evidence suggested,

Mr Breish’s evidence was that the Defendants® object was “getting
control of the funds that we had invested” (see the transcript for Day
5, p. 63 lines 8-9); to “lake control of the fund” (Day 5, p. 83 lines
22-24); “we would have control of the companies that own the assets™
(Day 3, p. 86 lines 23-24) and “control of the funds and the asseis”
(Day 5, p. 92 lines 14-17), His documents however made no reference
to needing o obtain a Heence for these purposes. The powers of
attorney would not require a licence but would allow the Libyan
Investors to obtain contro] of the assets without a licence (see Mr
Breish's evidence Day 5, p. 86 Tines 8-9 and p. 87 lines 18-24). Mr
Breish accepted that if the Libyan Investors “take ownership of the

comparties and you appoint the directors, you are effectively taking

over the assets — taking control of the assets” (see the transcript for
Day 5, p. 92 lines 10-13).

despite the absence of references to licetices in the documents and Mr
Breish’s evidence, Mr Baruni insisted in his oral evidence that “we

never intended to take control of the assels without a sanctions

licence”. The Plaintiff submitted that this was a recollection of belief

i
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(M),

™).

£0).

of intention which was particularly -vulnerablo to distortion and
should be given little weight, The Plaintiff velied (o this part of the
evidence but also more generally in relationto the oral evidence given
during cross-examination by the Defendants” witnesses on matters of
recollection) on the approacl: set out in the judgment of Leggatt ] in
Gestmin SGPS 84 v Credit Sulsse (UK) Lid {2013] EWHC 3560
(Commr) under the heading “Bvidence based on recollection”.

Paragraph 21 of the judgment summarised Leggatt J's guidance;

“In the light of these considerations,. the best approach for-a judge io
adopt i the frial of.a commercial aase is, ‘in my view, to place little
if any reliance al all on withesses' recollections of what was said in
meelings and conversations, and te. base faciuat findings on
mﬁe: ences drawn from the documeniary evidence and known or
probable facts. This does not mean that oral lestimony serves no
wsgfid puepose - though ity wiility is ofien disproportivmate fo its
length, But its value lies lgrgely, as I'see it In the-opportunity which:
cross-exariination affords to subject the documentary record fo
dritleal scrutiny and to gouge the personality, motivations and
working practices of a witness, rather than in testimony of what the
witness recalls of partioular conversations and evenls. Above all, it
is important to aioid the - fallacy of supposing that, hecause a witness
has confidence in his or her recollection and is honest, evidence
based on that recollection provides axy réliable guide fo the truth,”

on 9 February 2014, the LIA Board met and noted that the LAP’s
strategy was to dflow PIAM to liquidate the LAP assets. Mr
Wansink’s unchallenged evidence ‘was, that this involved the LAP

.seeking the necessary licences.

when pressed on the different liquidation strategies of the LAP and
LIA described at this Board meeting, Mr Benyezza replied “LI4 did
not want eashar the moment, LIA veanted to confrol His Jer nat ta....to

understand more about this porifolio,”

on | March 2014, the LIA Board met and the minites record the
following:

“fLAP] would like the Palladyne Porifolio to liguidate its monies: mt




portfolio. This is in contrast to the [LIA], which would like to., personally
liquidate the Portfolio rather than have that porifolie’s manager Jiquidate
it. That is the crux of the disagreement”

In answer to the question during his cross-examination “Now, what
did you wndersiand io be meant by the word ‘liguidate ? in the
context of this document, Mr Benyezza replied “Liguidate, mapbe
they will wont to redeem it or liquidate, maybe even appears to put it
in a different form of investment’. When asked what the LIA
understood ‘the term “liquidate” to mean in this context, Mr
Benyezza's evidence was as follows (Day 6 p.24 line 14 to p.25 line

)

“MR HAPGOOD: "Liguidate” in these minutes means selling the
securities within the portfolio and obtaining from that money, cash,
in a bank account?

MR BENYEZZA: Tt could mean ithat way under normal
eircuinstanges.

MR HAPGOOD: Well, My Benyesza, Is there any reasen fo regard
this context recorded in these minutes as exceptional such as fo give
liquidate™ a different meaning? ... " Liquidate” is being used here—
the sums of money are large, but liguidate is being wsed in a
perfectly normul sense of selling securities to obtain cash, that is
vight-lsn't it?

MR BENYEZZA: This is the definition of liguidation, okay.

MR HAPGOOD: So you are agreeing with ine?

MR BENYEZZA: Is the word "redeem” the same meaning?

MR HAPGOOD: Yes because the technical process by which this
occurs is that the fnvestor redeems his redeemable shares. He gels
the cash by way of a redemption of shares..... "

The Defendants’ submissions on sanctions — Article 10

148,  TheDefendunts submit that:

{(a).
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the Plaintiff’s primary case in relation to Article 10 (that the exercise of voting
rights to appoint and/or remave a director constitutes dealing with funds by the
*“use™ of shares within the meaning of Article 10(4) of the Sanctions Ordet) is

wrong in law, The Plaintiff’s interpretation of this provision is contrary to the

plain and ordinary meaning of the legislation, and is inconsistent withI{§s=.

o e e e




(b).

legislative history, context, object and purpose. The Plaintiff failed to put
forward a single example of international or domestic guidance, or a single
case, which supported its interpretation. By contrast, there was domestic
guidance and case law, directly on peint, ‘which supported the Defendants’

construction,

the Plaintiff’s alternative argument, that the appointment of directors “allow[s]
access” to or “enablefs] use” of the:assets.of the Funds, is alsa based on an error
of law, and is unsustainable on the undisputed facts. The prohibitions on
allowing access to or enabling use of funds are only breached where someone
who has the powet to permit a sanctioned person actually to access or use. funds
does so. This is thus an offence that will in most cases be camniitted by a
finaneial ‘institution (fypically, a ‘bank will breach the “allowing access™
prohibition, and the person who uses the funds after being allowed access to
them will breach the “use” provision). On the facts of this case, the
appointment of Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni as directors of the Funds was
incapable of having that effect, because the assets remained (and remain) in the
possession of the Custadians, who are the only persons who could allow access
to them or enable use of them. Ownership or control of the Funds {or even
control of the assets, in the sense of being able to prevent any otherpersen from
uging or dissipating them) is not the same thing as having access to them er

being able to use them. The Sanctions Order does riot prohibit the cantrol of

funds, a point made clearin the EU guidance.

149.  The Defendants say that the international sanctions regime should be read as a single

harmonious code. It is common ground that the Sanétions Order was intended to implement
SC Resolution 1970 and SC Resolution 1973 and it sust thetefore. be inferpreted

consistently with theny, Tt was also clear that the Sarctipns Order was intended to be

consistent with the legislation that applied in the United Kingdom, because the. wording is

in material respects identical. The UK legislation was made by regulation under s2(2) of the

Buropean Communities Act 1972, as an implementation of EU law. It followed that the

EU Jegislation was relevant to the interpretation of the Sanction Order, not becanse BUL

Ui
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law applied in the Cayman Islands, but because it was clear that the intention of the UK
legistator was to implement the RU regime, both in the United Kingdom by regulations,

and in the overseas terrifories by way of the Sanctions Order.

The object and purpose of the sanctions régime was to freeze the relovant assets, in order
fo ensure that those assets were not dissipated. The restrictive measures were protective
and precautionary, not penal: the sanctions were designed to ensure that the birthright of
the Libyan people was not dissipated, The sanctions measures were not intended to deprive
people of their property rights, orto paralyse the corporate governance of companies. This
point was made clear by the Counci] of Europe in its Best Practice Guidelines (which
stated that the restrictive measures did not involve a change in ownership or constitute
puititive measures). At the heart of the asset-freezing regime was the defiuition of
“Funds”, which covered “financial assets and benefits of every kind”, including “publicly
and privately traded securities and debi instruments”. This definition inade it clear that
the legislation was concerned with the share in its character as a financial asset, This
context was critical to the proper mterpretation of the prohibition on “dealing” with

(including “use of "y a share.

In order “to deal” with “Funds™, there must be a dealing, in a genuine sense, with the
relevant fund, as a financial assét. Hence, the Court of Appeal emphasised in L14 v Maid
that it was important fo look at whether there is “dealing in any real sense”, The reasoning
of the Court of Appeal in Meud {at paragraphs 16 — 18) showed the Court rejecting an
argument very similar to that advanced by the Plaintiff in this case, for reasons closely
analogous to those advanced hy the Defendants, The types of dealing referred to in
Article 10(1) and Article 1(b) of Council Regulation (EU} No..204/2011 all have some
effeot on the “Funds™ in their financial character, in the various respects that are there
listed: volume, amount, location, ownership, possession, character, or destination. The
reference to dealing “in any other way” (emphasis added) “that would result in any
change in volume, amoun, location, ownership, possession, character or destination”
of the “Funds” in question, makes it clear that the prohibition is only on types of

“dealing” which have these conséquences. In other words, the context makes clear that




dissipation of the funds and economic resources held by a-designated person, The forms

of dealing listed in the fitst sub-paragraph ate assumed to have one of those effects.

The general reference to dealing in any other way that has such effects is intended as a

sweep-up or anti-evasion clause.

152, There were three aspeets of the Article 10(4) definition that are relevant to the issues in

this case;
(a). the concept of “use” of “Funds® (Article 10(4)(a)(i) of the Order). Article 10(4)
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is concerned with “use™ a8 one. means of dealing with “Funds” as defined
financial assets. In the context of 4 share; this means buying it selling, it, trading
in refation to: it, or raising money psing it as -set:uritj_f. The prehibition is net
concerned with the exercise of the rights that a person had to do a particular agt
(1.6 vote) by virtue of their status as the owner of a share, The aim of the regime
is to'prohibit dealing in finariclal dssets, riof to prohibit the use of property rights
that do not involve such dealing, This is made explicit in the guidance of EU
Member States (as noted above). The guidance published by the Ministry of
Finance in Luxembourg states that “/(fhe fregzing of funds does nol, hawever,
affect voting rights or any Jegal conventions in general”. The French guidance
provided that “freezing has no effect on the voting rights and legal agreements
noted that the Plaintiff had submitted that the French guidance (which the
Plaintiff had added to the bundle) should be given lintited weight because the
puidance elsewhere stated: “Unless otherwise provided for in a law carrying
pencliles, the fact of o legal entity affected by a freezing mecsure
owningleontrolling a subsidiary does not autormarically entail the implenientation
of the freezing measure with régard to the subsidiary”. However, the Defendants
argued that (1) the statéthient was correct, given that the guidance was getieral, and
in ‘many instruments designated persons must be separately named in order for
their funds to be frozen. (hence the qualifier “[ufnless otherwise provided for”y;
(i) this-was, in any event, aseparate point urirelated to the point regarding voting
rights in shares; (iii) the Plaintiff had no answer to the differently framed




(b).
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Luxembourg guidance.

the concept of “allow access 10" “Funds” (Artiole 10(4)(a)(i) of the Order).

This prohibition is breavhed only where a person has allowed a pefson to have

actual access to “Funds™,

.

(i)

(iif).

in order to be in a position to “gllow access” to “Funds”, the individual
or entity must actually have the power to do that, This is a breach that
will typically be committed by a bank or other financial institution that

is holding the funds, and releases them to-a person who has no licerice.

A petson who does not themselves have the ability or power to allow
access to funds cannot commit a breach of this type: they are not in g
position to do so. The word used in this prohibitien creating a criminal

offence is “allow”. it is not “facilitate® or “seek”,

the fundamental flaw in the Plaintiff's submission was the elision of
control of funds and access/use, The object and effect of the Resolutions
was to remove conirol of the assets from the Plaintiff and to give control
of the Funds to the Libyan Investors. Control of the Funds (or even
control of the assets, in the sense that nobody else any longer had the
power fo dissipate them) was not the same thing as being allowed access
to or being able o use of the assets, The Libyan Investors wanted to
ensure that the Plaintiff could net misappropriate (or continue to
misappropriate) the assets in the Funds. However, gaining controt over
the Funds did niot give the Libyan Investors access to the underlying
assets in the Funds. At no point in time since the Resolutions have the
Defendants been allowed access to, or been able to use, the underlying
assets in the Funds,

on the Plaintiff’s interpretation, the Libyan Investors would be
helpless to protect the assets in the Funds from depletion or

misappropriation by a frandulent investment manager - which did

have acceds to the assets in the Funds, because it had a sanction i

e




licence - because any attempt to regain contral from sich a manager

would breach sanctions.

(iv) the Sanctions Order did hot prohibit the control of “fimds™. 1f it did, a
director of any company that holds fiozen funds would be in breach of
criminal sanctions, The point is put beyond doubt in the EU guidance,

-which stated:

“The freesing of “funds. unlike corfiscition, does not affect the
ovonership of the funds coricerned. Persons that hold o cantrol finds
owned by o designated parsov o entity (e.g. if the Sunds have beent
handed over to a gradit insritution as épllateral) are not reguired 16
cease such fm!dr’ng ar gontrol, or fo obtgin ar awthorization fo
contiriue it”

{v). by way of example, there was no prohibition on a designated person
having a debit card for an-account. Howsver, that debit card may only be
used if'a licence has bean granted which entitles the designated person t6
access or use the otherwise frozen money. The prevision of a debit card
does not allow ageess to, or efable use of, the monsy in the bank account.

However if the financlal institution were to release the funds to the
‘designated person, who did net have the appropriate licence, then there

would be 4 breach of the sarictions.

{vi). Mr Baruni and Dr Jehani were not allowed access to, or enabled use
of, tha,und.s_r_i_ying assets in the Fands, 'I‘h‘ey owed _praciwse;y-the samMe
obligations as the former directors .of the Funds. All of these
obligations would prohibit Dr Jehani and Mr Barni acting in a

mannet which would violate-the Sanctions Order,

(vif).  in any event, the Funds® assets had never been under the control of
Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni. They were under the control of third parties
(including Palint; State Street and Deutsche Bank who were all aware

of the applicable sanctions and would not permit any dealmgwmntm

A Hr
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the assets except with appropriate licences). The Funds’ assets were
all held by State Street and Deutsche Bank, pursuant to contractual
arrangements between Palint, State Street and Deutsche Barik. These
contractual arrangements provided a clear obstacle to “access” or “use”

of the assets of the Funds.

(c).  the concept of making a change that “would enable use” of “Funds” (Aiticle
10(4)(a)(iii) of the Order). The interpretation issues raised by this prohibition are
very similar to those arising in relation to allowing access. This prohibition will
only be breached where someone enables a person to have actual use of the
“fumds™. Tn order to be in a pesition to “enable wse” of “funds”, the individual or
entity muist have the power td do that. Again, this prohibition is particufarly apt to
deal with a financial institution that wrongly allows an individual to use frozen
funds.

153.  The Defendants submitted that these interpretations were all consistent with the object and
purpose of the Libyan asset freezing sanctions regime, which was to prevent the dissipation
of assets.

The Defendants’ submissions on sanctions - breach of Article 13 and/or intention
unlawfully io deal

154, The Defendants submitted that the conduct that had been alleged by the Plaintiff, even
if it could be proved, was incapable of breaching Article 13. The Resolutions did
nothing that would enable the Defendants to avoid the fiull application of the prohibition
in Article 10(1) of the Sanctions Order. In no sense could it be said that the Resolutions
enabled the Defendants to circumvent the operation or effeet of Article 10(t). The
Plaintiff had, during cross-examination, suggested that the making of various powers
of attorney had the object or effect of circumventing sanctions. This sllegation is not

pleaded, but in any event, was unsustainable for the same reasons.

155, Inany event, the Defendants submitted, the undisputed facts were sufficien
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the coritentions advanced by the Plaintiff. The evidence showed that the first action
carried out by Enyo on the instructions of D Jehani and Mr Baruni after the Resolutions
were passed, before notice of the Resolutions had evén besn given to the Plaintiff, was
to instruet the Custodians to. hold the assets exacity as they were, and to fiforimi thers
that they did not have licences. Simila information was provided to beth the Cayman
Islands regulator (the Financial Secretary)and the UK Treasury. Any allegation of an
‘intention gither to breach orto circumvent sanctions is impossible to sustain in the light
-of that conduyet.

Theso propositions of law and. undisputed fact were sufficient to dispese of the
Plaintiff’s claim. However, the various factual allegations and insinuations made by the

Plaintiff also cannot sustain the Plaintiffs case, even if proven,

The Plaintiff alleged in opening (although this case was not put to the witnesses) that.
the Lih_y_a;n Investors had appointed “compliant™ directors with the intent of breaching
sanctions. The Defendants argue that the distinguishad records and well-known beliefs
of Mz Baruni and Dr Jehani were entitely inconsisient with that proposition. If the
Libyan Investors had been secking to breach or cireumvent sanetions, it was wholly
implausible that they would have appointed to chair the legal committee, and as a

director of the Fynds, Dr Jehani, one of the chief ‘architects of th_e;'Lii?yan' sanctions

reginme; who had negotiated the terms of the resolutions with the UN and been a long-

time supporter of, and *hardliner” on, sanctions. It was also implausible that they wanld

‘have appointed Mr Baruni, who, with more than thirty nine years’ expericnce in the

field of investment banking and asset management, was very familiarwiththe sanctions

requiretments.

The Plaintiff had nevertheless alleged that the TIA, and Dr Jehani and My Baruni,
intended to breach sanctions, The Defendants submit that this is not credible on the
evidence, Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni had legal advice on sarictions throughout:the period
from the autumn of 2013 until the summer of 2014, All of the witnesses gave clearand
consistent evidence that they undérstood that the assets were sanctioned and that any

access ot wse of those assets required a [icense. There was unanimous evidenoe that
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Libyan Investors iritended to adopt a two-stage proeess: (a) to remove the Plaintiff and
get information about the assets; and then (b) to appoint an transition manager with
appropriate licences to manage the portfolios in accordance with wishes of the owners

of the funds (e.g., the LAP wanting cash, and the LIA wanting securities).

The allegation putto the witnesses that the Defendants intended to *take coutrol” of
funds wrongly elided the statutory concepts of allowing access and enabling use with
the idea of “control™ The evidence made it clear that the LIA and the Defendants
intended to remove control of the Funds froin the Plaintiff and re-establish control over
them, in the sense of preventing their dissipation by the Plaintiff and obtaining
information about the assets that were held by the Funds. The evidence made it equally
clear they had no intent of accessing those assets or using them without the appropriate

licences, and, indeed, that they were fuily aware that this would be impossible.

The desire to remove control of the Funds and assets from the Plaintiff was caused by
reasonable fears that the Plaintiff was misappropriating the assets. Those fears were
based, in-part, on criminal investigatioris that had been lamnched by the Dutch public
prosecutor inx respect of money laundering, forgery and embezzlement, arising out of
Mr Abudher and the Plaintiff’s management of these very Funds. It was, the Defendants
submitted, a perverse effect of the Plaintiffs case that, on the Plaintiff’s intetpretation
of the law, the Libyan Investors were unable to take effective action to safeguard their
assets, because the investment manager who may have been dissipating those assets
had a sanctions licence. That was, they argued, inconsistent with the object and purpose
of the sanctions regime which was to prevent the dissipation of the birthright of the

Libyan people, but not to destroy property rights.

In the light of all these facts, the detailed cross-cxamination on the meaning of
“liquidation”™ and “control” was irrelevant. It was always clear to everyoiie that
liquidation or control of the underlying assets in the Funds was subject to obtaining a

licence, and that it would be done lawfully, in accordance with legal adviee, after the

appointmant of interim transition managst with a licence.




162.  Furthermore, the Deferidants submitted, even had there been & breach of Article 10 or
Artigle 13 of the Sanictions Order, the Plaintiff was wrong to contend that it followed
that the Resolutions were void, There was nothing in‘the Sanctions Order that
expressly or by necessary implication nullified transactions that had breached the
Sanctions Order. On the contrary, on Ils proper construction, although those who-act
contrary to the Sanctions Order committed eriminal offences, any transagtions they

undertook remained valid, and had legal consequences.

163, The Defendants accepted that the relevant test was sef out in Afasiabi, The Court of
Justice held that a comparably worded provision was infended to capture:

“activities which havis the gim or result of enabling thelr awthor to avoid the application
aof fArticle 763) ]“ {paragraph 60)

Hence, it should be inderstood:

“as covering getivities in Fespect of which it appears, on the basis of objective factors,
that under cover of a forvial-appenrance which enables them to avoid the: coastituent
elemenis of an infringement of Avticle 7(3) of the regulations nonetheless have, as such
ar by reason of their possible link to other-activities, the aim or result, divect or indirect,
of ﬁ'us:fatmg the probibition taid down in Article 7(3)” {peragraph 62)

An example of a breach of Article 13 would be where a third party pays the debts of
an individual who was listed under a sanctions regime; on their behalf! see, e.g.,

Europdisch-Tranische Handelsbonk at paragraphs 134135,

164.  'The Defendants suibmitted that their witnesses had given clearand consistent evidence that-
‘the intention was to remave the Plaintiff as a director and asset manager of the Funds, so

‘that it nig Jonger had control of the investments, This was because the LIA was highly
dissatisfied with the Plaintiff, did nottrust it, and regarded it as unsuitable as a director and
investment manager. The: intention was to leave the assets with the relevant cistotians,

while further information was obtained about the nature, location and composition of the

assets in the Funds, 4nd not to aécess or deal with them in any way without a sanctions
licence. A transition manager would then be appointed and the necessary sanctions licences

would be applied for whern needed. The Defendants submitted that this evident

cotroborated by the contemporaneous documents.
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165, Mr Benyezza, Mr Baruni, Mr Breish and Dr Jehani had all given consistent evidence that

they were well aware of the sanctions that were in place, that they had taken legal advice

ptior to the making of the Resolutions, and that; in making the Resolutions, they had no

intention of breaching international or domestic sanctions.

166.  Mr Bieish described the LIA’s strategy as having “swo stages”(Day 5, p.62 lines 2-7):

“I think if you wanited to ask me what was the strategy, 1t was a strategy of two stages.
One, to remove PIAM as director and to secure the directorships for our own people.
and thén to look as {6 how we ure going to proceed of hiring transition manager of
probab!y dolrg this within the laws and regulations and the jurisdictions we were in.

167.  Mr Breish explained that, in this context, sanctions were “a giver™, and that the LIA

was “working within a jurisdiction, within a regulatory regime that is averilable, so we

are knowledgeable about that”.

168.  Mr Breish later explained that:

“I repeated myself many times, my Lord, that owr strategy had two stages: one, fo
remove [the Plaintiff] and twa, to hire a transition manager. And when we hire a
transition manager, at that peint in time we have to. decide how we are going to go
about it and [f we have.to apply for sanctions then we will do so. We are oper. aling in
Jurisdictions and with custodians that will rot allow any of these things to happen
unless one does things within the sanctions-regime.

The issue of timing is we had o go through a process of removing [the Plaintifff and
after having done so, 1o starl looking at transition managers and legal advisors and to
review what is required from us and that iakes o long time.”

169.  Dr Jehani described the strategy in similar terms:
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“By the time it came io May the declsion was o establish outhorities pver these
companies, the three companies, and move into the second stage where what to do,
bui never a decision was made to — that we liguidate, The. decision was to have a
unified approach thai the redemption would be done by maybe a transition manager
later on,”




170.

171,
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According to Dr Jehani, “/the intention is to take authority of these companies and
that is to change the divectors, We are taking stéps af the time so we-are ot falking

atrowt liguidation™.

The justification for the two stage approach was straightforward;

“How can you lguidate or redeem something that you don't even lmow? We dop’t
ever khow what 'sin these funds, We'had no idea, We only had alpt of concerns and

S0 we weren 't there, We said first iy to'take authority over these corporations and

then we niove 1o the second stage. 1t's noi vight pou can redeem, allows the manager
to redeein wihite you have Gll of this press-and all of this question mark™

Mr Benyezza and Mr Baruni had also both referred in their cross-examination to a

two stage process. Mr Baruni had said that:

“The first step was 1p-remoye Palladyne as.owner, as-controller of the threg companies.
We did that by appointing myself and Dy Jehani as members of the board andremoving
Palladyne from that, That was the first step. The second step was toterminate the asset
management contact fsicl. We did thal. The thivd siep was to demand that the
custodians not allow any payments fo anybody under any circumstances, te anybody.
We did that. The fourth step was to demand from the custodians that they deliver
custodial statements. We demanded that and fo .this day we don’t have those
statements, we the directors, we don’t have the statemenis and we do nol knew what
the composition.qf the portfolio is.

Having obtained the composition of the portfolio, we and LAP and LFB perhaps
would decide knowing where we are now, where do we wani la go-with these montes,
these gssels? Once we made a.decision where we warnjed to.go, we wold appoint a
fransition manager to gel us to-those sepurate destinations after obtaining licences. 4
trapsition manager-woutd not agree te deal with us without ficence.”

The Defendants in response to the Plaintiff’s reliance on the use of the word

“liquidete” in several contemporaneous documents:

noted that Mr Breish had explained that “Uliguidation” was used iva “brogd sense”
to-deseribe the second stage of the strategy; while Dr Jehani had explained that
the word “liguidation” meant different things, depending on the context and can

also mean “get rid of or sue somebody”,




(b).

(©).

(d).

(e).
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8§ the Defendants” withesses had made clear and as the contemporaneous
documents record any Yquidation of the Funds would only oceur after the
requisite sanctions licences were in place, This was consistent with the fact that
atall stages prior to the making of the Resolutions, the LIA and the Defendants

were obtaining legal advice,

this point had been confirmed in the evidence given in cross-examination. In
his first affidavit, Mr Breish-explained that it was “ar all fimes® known to him
and the other LIA Board membegrs that the assets were frozen, and that “any
movement of sanctioned assets would require the consent of the custodians and
licences from the appropriate regulatory authorities, It is implausible to
suggest that the Board of the LIA was not aware that this was the case; it is
even more ludicrous to suggest that it was aware but nevertheless formulated
such a criminal seheme 1o breach and/or circiimverit the sanctions and then
recorded-it in #s afficial minutes”, In his cross-examination, Mr Benyezza had
made clear that liquidation “cannot be done without following the procedure”
and that “we always stressed that there is anything weeds fo be ﬂJi’EoweH
regarding sanctions, we wil] follow ... We are following the rules and
regulations”. He later explained that “/wje have not reached the stage of
liquidation. We awe in the process of fallowing the proper procedure”, and that
the “technicality will be done by specialized people.”

Mr Baruni explained that “at no point did I or the LI4 intend 1o take control or
liquidate assets without sanciions licensing”. He later explained that the
Libyan investors “wanted (o obtain licences for all three memdates in gi
insegrated manner” and that the Libyan Investors “mever intended and we
never did — we never intended Lo mave vur assets without Hcence, Never. And

we didn'l.”

the Defendants noted that during his cross-examinafion Mr Breish was asked
whether the LIA could “lguidate the assets and leave them where they were”

and Mr Breish responded “In the same jurisdiction, yes”. It was subsequently py
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to him that if the assets were ¢ be transferred out of the jurisdiction, the LIA
would or might need 2 sanctions licenee, and Mr Bréish responded “Ves, indeed™.
The Deferidants submitted that insofar as it was suggested hy the Plaintiff that
this evidence supported the contention that M Breish, or the LIA, intended to
liquidate the assets without a ficence: (i} It was not put fo Mr Breish that he, orthe:
LIA, intended to liquidate the assets without a sanctions licence; (i) any such
proposition, If it had been put; would have been entirely ingonsistent with the clear,
cornisistent and unanimous evidence that the LIA would not{ake any-agtion without
the requisite sanctions licenee: and (i) gven if Mr Breish were confused as to the-
circumstances in which a licence would be required (which s unolear given the
nature of the questions put to hint), that is-irrelevant given the overarching intention

to. act lawfully within the sanctions regime,

The Defendants relied on the actusl coirse of events after the
Resolutions. were passed: immediate-steps were taken to inform the Custodians and
regulators of the situation, including the fact that the new directors did not have
Heences, and to.ensure that the assets were held in préciscly their eutrent fornt, and not

dealt with or accessed in any way.

Furthiermore, the evidence showed that there Were good reasons for remaving control of

the Funds fionythe Plaintiff, The contemporaneaus doctiments and the Defendants’ witness
evidence set out the reasons why the Defendants wanted to remove the Plaintf from
invelvement with the Funds. The Plaiitiff had conceded that these reasons were not “wholly
without basis” although the Plaintiff maintained that they were “exaggerated”, But the
Defendants weie nit réquhféd to prove that the reasons for removing the Plaintiff were good
reasons. All that was relevant for the purposes of these proceedings was what was in the
inind of the Defendanits at the time that the Resolitions were made, Notwithstanding that,
the evidence given at trial had demonstrated that all of ths reasons set.out by the Defendants
at the time were completely justified, The key reasons were the Dutch criminal
investigation and the US proceedings; the lack of transparency in the management of the
TFunds; the high mariagement fees and the Plaintif’s lack of a track record; and the concerns
regarding the circumstances in which the Plaintiff had come originafly to be appointed.




Sanctions ~ Article 10: analysis and decision

I75.  Inmy view the exercise of voting rights by the LIA and the other Libyan Investors fo

appoint Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni and remove the Plaintiff did not constitute a dealing

with funds by the “use” of shares within the meaning of Article 10(4)}(a) of the

Sanctions Order,

176:  I.do not consider that there was 2 prohibited “use” of “fimds™ in the present case {(fimds

in italics refors to the term as used and defined in Article 10(4)a) rather than the

definition [ have used elsewhere in this judgment to refer to the First Defendant, the
Second Defendant and the Third Defendant):

(a).

().

(c).
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I find the Defendants’ approach to and construction of Article 10{4)a)
persuasive and preferable ta that of the Plaintiff,

the term “use” has to be construed having regard to the language used in Asticle
10¢4)(a)(iy of the Sanctions Order, the language used in Article 10(4)(a) as a
whole and the purpase of the Sanctions Order understoed by reference to and
in the context of the UN sanctions regimie. In my view, as the Defendants
submit, the UK legislator must be taken to have intended to implement the EU
regime, both in the United Kingdom by regulations, and in the overseas
territories by way of the Sanctions Order, and the international sanctions regime
should be read as-a single harfionious eode. The EU legislation is relevant to the

interpretation of the Sanctions Order for that reason.

the definition of finds refers to “financial assets and benefits of every king” and

then to & non-exclusive but wide list of rights and instruments which can.

generally be described as money, rights to payment, securities that are or can be
traded on public of private markets and other liqid assets and insttumenits that
can easily and will often be turned into cash or money by discounting or other
transagtions. The assets arc financial assets because they are cash (or cash

squivalents) or other-assets which are [iguid (in the sense of being easily turned

S




into cash and hav:iﬁg 8 ¢lear monétary value). Economic resources by contrast
are other assets which can only be turned into rieney or liquid assets by being

dealt with i soie manner.

(d).  Article 10(4) provides a definition of “fo dea] with” There ate different
definitions for fimds and economic resources. As regards finds there are thiee
forms of prohibited dealing. First, under Article 10(4)(@)(i), there will be a
prohihited dealing if the person concerned uses, alters, moves, allows aggess to
or transfers the fimels, Second, under Article 10(4)(a)(iD), there will be a
prohibited dealing if the person concerned deals i anv othet way with the fimds

that would result in any change in-volume, amount, location, bwéngrship,.
possession, character er destination, Third, under.Article 10{()(a)(iii), there
will be a prohibited dealing if the person concerned makes any othei change
that would enable use including portfolio management, As regards economic
resources under Article 10(4)(b) thero will be a prohibited dealingif the person

concgtned nses or exchanges fhe economic tesources to obtain funds, coods or-

services including by selling, hiring of mortgaging the resources.

(&), the term use applies both to fimds and economic resourees. In the latter case it is
a particular type of use that is identified and prohibited, That is a use for a
patticular purpose, namely to obtain funds, goods or services including by
selling, hiring or mortgaging the resources. As far as fimds are concerned, there
is no such qualification, This difference must be the resilt 6f the different
character and nature of the assets concerned. Funds are already cash/money or
liquid assets that can easily be turned into cash/money. Using them for the
purposes of the Sanctions Order involves activity which touches 6i conderns or
affects those characteristics.

(f). s':uhrpal‘agraphs (i) and (iil) of Article T0{4)(a) refer to changes to the fimds. Sub-
patagraph (i) does not do so explicitly but identifies five actions which are
deemed to be dealings with funds. Three of them necessarily involve a change:

alteration, movement and transfer. The other two-do not. It is possible, asd e
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of pure language, to talk about using an asset without changing it. You can use a
chair by sitting on it, for example. But many uses do involve a change of some
kind. You can use avar by driving it but that will invelve a change in its location.
In the-present case the asset concerned however is a financial asset (and a benefit
derived therefrom) and so use of fimdly must be undetstood having regard to the
¢haracter of such assets. It seems to me that these terms must be taken as referring
to an activity in which the fiunds are employed (to use a term suggested by the
Plaintiffy as cash/inoney or liquid assets — activity which uses them as
cash/money or liquid assets. Such activity is likely to involve the generation of a
financial return or affect the monetary value of the fimds. Tt may also invalve
some change to or that affects the fimds. They can be used vp. But it might not.
The funds could be used as callateral where a non-possessory security-interest is
granted to the lender, This approach is consistent with the Defendants’
submission that the legislative definition of fimds made it clear that the legistation

was concerned with the share in its character as a financial asset.

a testrictive or gualified eonstruction of the term wse is also supported by a
consideration of the purpose of the prohibitions in Asticle 10(4). It is necessary
to identify the effects which Article 10(4)(a) is intended to prohibit. The clearly
stated purpose of the sanctions regime as repeatedly set out in the UN resolutions
was to ensure “that [the] assets frozen shall at a later stage, as soon as possible
be merde available to and for the benefit of the people of [Libya].” The assets are
to be preserved, intact. This indicates that the asset freeze is designed to prevent
arty action that would make the asset less valuable (including by allowing those
subject to the freeze to exiract value from the finds), give it to those who may deal
with it friconsistently with the sahctions regime, or make it more difficult to feeover

in due course,

for these reasons I do not consider that the exercise of voting rights by
shareholders to ¢hange the directors of the company in which they hold shares
congtitutes a “use” of or ailows access to the shares. Nor does it involve a change

that would enable-use,




a.

)

(k).
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the Plaintiff says that use in general usage covers ary-employment of an asset for
a purpose of the owner or holder of the right. It should not be limited by the other
terms-and prohibitions contained in Article 10(4)(a)(D) or (ii): Furthermore, use
wheti applied to an intangible asset such as a share includes the active exercise
of any rights attachied to-or given by the share. Thege iric.lud&v;}'ﬁng_ r;ghts “The
Plaintiff submits. that il is necessary 1o restrict the exercise of voting rights to
make the asset freeve effective (to ring fonce the shares, aterns not-used by the
Plaintiff but consistent with its approach). The freeze should prevent the person
affected from getting hold of orasserting rights over the asset: Use in this context
invalyes exercising the rights attached to and utilising the features and attributes
of the asset concerned. Dealing is-an all embracing ternrand the publie interest
il supporting and making effective the sanctians regime means that if there is
any doubt the proper approach is to adopt a construction which results fn the
freeze applying subject to obtaining a hcence, The proper censtruction of
Article 10¢4)(a) requires the ereation of a somplete "r'ing-fen_cing of affecied.
assets, so that the assets earmot be touched in:any way so thatan active exeicise
of rights gttached to the asset or the taking advantage of any benefit derived
from thie asset is prohibited and that use must be given & meaning separate and

independent from the other actions identified in the Article.

while I'see the force of this argument 1 do not consider; for tlie reasons set out
above, that the Plaintiffs proposed construetion of ‘Article 10(4)(a) is the: right
one. Furthermore, the wide construetion contended for by the Plaintiff would
significantly extend the scope of the asset freeze {as established by the other
prohibitions) and go beyond what is needed t0-achieve the purpose of the asset

freaze. Clear and explicit language would be needed in iy view to justify the

result contended for by the Plaintiff, particularly where breach of the prohibitions

would have such sefions consequences.

accordingly 1.do not accept the Plaintiff's submission that there is no principlg

basis, grounded on the text of the Sanctions Order, for distinguishing




vote by the shareholders to pass a special fesolution to reduce the company’s
capital and a vote to appoint new directors of the First Defendant, the Second
Defendant and the Third Defendant {as the LIA’s agents).

(). the Plaintiff is unable, as the Defendants point out, to find any guidance from
the relévant authorities which clearly support its approach. The Defendants
have referred to the governmental guidance issued by two EU Member States
which do explicitly refer to voting rights and make it clear that they are not
affected by the freeze, 1 do not aceept the Plaintiff’s arguments that this guidance

is not applicable to the Sanctions Order or should be given little weight.

(m).  the guidance relied on by the Plaintiff (the AQ Guidance) refates to a special
problem and specific situation, namely the position where the listed person
owns an asset in common with an unlisted person. The guidance seeks to
explain how the asset freeze should be applied in that context. In my view if
the Plaintiff*s construction were right it is likely that the risk of a breach of the
sanctions regime resulting from ‘the exercising of voting rights would be
flagged or at least mentioned directly rather than indirestly and elliptizally in a !
discussion on a tetally different topic (requiring the affected person to draw i
inferences and construet a complex analysis based on the discussion). The AQ
Guidanee is focusing on the giving of instructions by the listed person to a
third person regarding any benefit that may accrue from the financial asset,
The focus is on preventing the listed person doing indirectly through the
unifisted persor what he cannot do directly. In the present case the alleged use
is the exercise by the Libyan Investors themselves of their own voting rights,
I can see the argument (not made in precisely these terms by the Plaintiff)
that the right to vote can itself be said to be a non-financial benefit aceruing
from the share and therefore (in view of the definition of funds) a distinct
component of the relevant fumds which right is being used when exercised.
But T do not consider that the AQ Guidance, dealing with a wholly different
issue and context, can be relied on to establish that such a construction of

Article 10(4)(a) was envisaged or intended.
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not do 1 accept that Article 10(4)() should be construed as imposing a
requirement that new directors of ‘companies holding funds and whose:shares
constitute fimds for the purpose of the Sanctions Order be approved by the

Sanctions Coiminittee before being appointed. I ¢an accept that the Sanctions

Committee might wish to review the suitability of proposed new directors and
that the UN might have established a regulatory regime under which only
persons who satisfied 4 fit and proper person test and were approved by the

Sanctions Commitiee could be appointed 1o the board of such companies. But

if that had been a. desired objective and effect of the sanctions the UN

resolutions would havesaid so and the Sanctipns Order would have, and would
have needed to, make provision for this in clear terms. I do not coagider that
such & regime can he treated-as part of the prohibitions oh the use of shares
contained in Article 10{4)a} of the Sanctions Order.

as regards the question of whether the SQanctions Coinmittee would have been
able to grant a livence for the remaoval of the Plaintiff as a director and the
appointment. of Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni as directors of the First Defendant,
the Second Defendant and the Thirg Defendant and the impact of a licence
being available on‘the construction of the scope of'the prohibitions contained
in Article 10(4)(a);

(). it ‘seems to me to be far flom clear that & licéncé would have been
available under Article 15, Under-Article 15 of the Sanctions Order,
a licence may “relafe 10 access to funds-or economic resources. for
one or more of the identified purposes (humanitarian needs; fuel,
electricity and ‘water for strictly civilian uses; resuming Libyan
production and sale of hydrocarbons; establishing, operating, or
strengthoning institutions of civilian governmeint and civilian public

infrastructurey or facilitating the resumption of banking sector

operations, ineluding to support or facilitate intérnational trade with L

Libya). These putposes are nartow and do not in terms o



180730 Pellactonte 190130 Pollacyya Interpational Asset Managemant B.V: v Upper Brook fd) Limited etof - :

NS Jdgment

1131223

(if).

protection or management of foreign investments held for the Libyan
state by or through the LIA. The Platiff submits that because of the
LIA’s role in managing Libya’s oil revenues its activities are vital
for the long-term viability of the civilian government and civilian
infrastructure, so that aliowing the LIA to exércise its voting rights
in respect of the shares in the First Defendant, the Second Defendant
and the Third Defendant would “relate to” the establishing,
operdiing, or strengthening institutions of civilian government
purpose. In addition, sinee each of the Libyan Investors has a
mandate to purchase foreigh securities (which is international trade)
and this is the activity being undertaken by the First Defendant, the
Second Defendant and the Third Defendant, allowing the LIA to
exercise s voling rights in respect of the shares in the First
Defendant, the Second Defendant and the Third Defendant would
“relate fo” the facilitating the resumption of banking sector
operations, including supporting international trade purpose.
Furthermors, the Plaintiff argued, since the LIA’s overseas interests
included an ol refinery business in Switzerland it was a company
that invested in the production of hydrocarbons so that necessary
interventions in corporate governance, including the removal of
directors (of subsidiaries) guilty of mismanagement, would “relate
fo”" the resuming the production and sale of hydrocarbons purpose. |
find these constructions unconvincing and stretching the langnage
beyond a reasonable understanding of what was intended to be

covered,

in.my view the Plaintiff’s construction argument based on AL
Kishtaini v Sharshal is of limited assistance to the Plaintiff fn the
present case. In that case there was a clear general and unqualified
dispensing power. Here there was either no right or ability to apply
for a licence or only a limited and qualified one. I accept of course

the general approach described by Mummery LI in A1-Kishicin




Lord Radeliffe in Boissevain) to the effect that in the case of
legislation designed to infroduce governmental regulations with
prohibitions on cettain activity which legislation includes a4 wide:
power for a governmental official to grant licerices or exemptions, a
broad comistruction of the scope of the prohibitions wifl ‘be
appropriate. But this approach still requires, particuldrly-in the case
of legistation impasi_n-g,;:criminal liability, the Court to establish the
proper seope of the prohibitions by a careful reading of the statutory

language and an assessment of the purpose of the legislation.

(p).  lalso cousider that the view of the Financial Secretary in His letter dated 18
September 2014 provides some support for the conclusion [ have reached and
that it-is helpful that HM Treasury also did riot at least sxpress congerns when
notified as to the remoyal of the Plaintiff and the-appointment of D Jehani
and Mr Barin], I note the submissions made by the Plaintiff as to the welght
to be given to these letters. I'accept that betanse they were not wrttten as a
formal response to a licence application they should be treated with some
caution and not regarded a3 representing the fully informed and considered
views of the authorities, Nouetheless, the fact refains that having been
formally notified of what had happened the Financial Secretary explicitly
confirmed that no licences had been required and HM Treasury expressed no

issiies or-concerns.

(§). it also seems to me that the other authorities Arefarred'ioiby the Plaitiffand
the Defendants are of Htile assistance in the present case, Maud does involve
a consideration of the meaning of dealing with an asset under what is
effectively the same regime as that which arises in the presentcise, Buf the
Court of Appeal’s.analysis was only brief.and dealt with a central case of a

{dealing, namely the discounting or use of ai sssét as scourity.

) the present case involves two (ypes of fimd and three levels at which the funds

were held. The funds are the shares and the underlying investiients. The
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shiares are held by the Libyan Investors and the investments are held by
custodians for the benefit of the First Defendant, the Second Defendant and
the Third Defendant. The Resolutions left the shares and the underlying
investments held by the First Defendant, the Second Defendant and the Third
Diefendant unatfected. The integrity and effectiveness of the asset freeze was
unaffected and was as fully effective after the passing of the Resolutions as it

was before.

I also agree with the Defendants” submissions on the question of whether the exercise

of voting rights by the Libyan Investors “allow[ed] access to™ and was a change
which “would enable use” of the Funds’ assets {(within Article 10(4)(a)(i} and (5i1)):

(a).

(b

in the Amended Points 6f Claim the Plaintiff asserted that the adoption of the
Resolutions “*aliowed access’ 'by Dir Jehani and My Baruni (and/or the
Libyan Investors) tor funds ' by placing them in a position in which they had

powet as directors over the assets of each Fund,

so the Plaintiff argues that a company’s directors have access to the
company’s assets because they can exercise their powers as directors and
thereby manage and deal with the assets. Access arises on appointment and

the appointment was made by the Resolutions. The Resolutions therefore

allowed access. This is aceess as control (both legal and factual). The Plaintiff

argues that control was ultimately exeroised by the LIA as Dr Jehani and Mr
Baruni weio acting ds its agents and therefore Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni were
the means through which the LIA obtained and could exercise control over
and therefore have access to the Funds’ investments. On the Plaintiff's case it
was irrelevant that the investments were held by the Custodians since they
acted for the Funds and were required under the relevant custodian
agreements:to act as directed by the Funds. On this approach, as the Plaintiff

submitted, access to a bank account vontaining frozen funds would be given

where a bank issued a bank card and PIN for the account even before any .




(¢}
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and right to make a withdrawal (even if a licence were needed to-make 3
withdrawal 4nd spend the funds since the contractual right fo draw.¢n the

account gave access to the funds eredited o it).

the Defendants gave the same example bt teached the opposite conclusion.

1 agree with the Defendants. It is necessary to start by recatling that “alfow

agcess 107 funds appears in Article 10(4)(a)(i) with use, alfer, move -and

transfer, These are words which deseribe an effect on the fimds. Alier, move

and transfer also clearly involye a change to (an attribute of) the funds and

as | have explained zse of funds covers an setivity in which the fimds are

employed as cash/money or liquid assets. The inclusion of “allow accessto™in

Article 10(4)(a)(i) with these other terms is a strong indication that it too

anly covers activity which has an efféct on the funds and an effect similar to

use, alteration, movement or transfer. Appointing directors to a company
which owns funds does not result in such an effedt. Thefimds are unaffected.
Nor does the mere issuing of a debit-card «allow aecess to the account, For

this reason it seems to me that the Plaintiff’s arguments are unsound and to

be rejected.

furthermorg, the prohibition in Articte 10(4)(a)(i) is directed to a person. The
statutory prohibition on allowing access fs directed to that person. The
inference to my mind is that the prohibition applies o the:person who holds
the fimds and who can -allow ‘something t0 be done to them which is
prohibited by the Sanctions Order. A bank in the example given by the
Plaintiffand the Defendants would be covered. The Custodians in the present.
case would also be covered. A customer of the bank or clieat of the custodian
can of course authorise a third party to draw on the account or give
instructions for the transfer of securities held by tha custodian. But this
would not.involve atlowing access. The breach would come later when the
persen given the anthority takes action te deal with the funds in one of the
pichibited ways. Taking control of the account holdér or gustomer also

oannot be treated as having access to the account or securities.




(e).  the prohibition is on being allowed access. The Plaintiff is never explicit as
to who it thinks in the present case is allowing access. Its approach is to say
that if the effect of an action is to give access, in the wide meaning it gives
to rccess, then there is a breach. But the statutory language does not cover
obtaining access. Presumably the Plaintiff assumes that the Funds are
allowing access to the LIA through its directors. This is obviously

unconvincing.

{f. Lalso do not consider that the passing of the Resolutions amourit to a “change
that would enable use” of the Funds' assets, It seems to me that the change
referred to must be a change to the fimds whose use will be enabled as a result
of the change. [n the present case there has been no change to the assets of the
First, Second and Third Defendants.

Sanctions — Article 13: analysis and decision

178.

[79.
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I also consider that there was no breach of Article 13 of the Sanctions Order, In my
view the Defendants” interpretation of the documentary and oral evidence is correct and

I aceept their submissions en the law and fasts.
Article 13 makes a person guilty of an offence if they:

“participate knowingly and intentionally in activities the object or effeel of which is
directly or indirectly to ... circumveni a prokibition in article 10{1) ...”

The Plaintiff contends, as [ have explained, that the evidence establishes that the
Defendants were knowingly and intentionally participating in activities the object or
effect of which was to circumvent a prohibition in Article 10(1) of the Sanctions Order.
The Resolutions formed part of a caurse of activities with the object or effect of

circumventing the dsset freeze under Article 10 of the Sanctions Order, in which

activities vatious persons participated knowingly and intentionally.
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The legal test for circumvention is not in digpute. The test set out by the CIEU in
Afvastichi applies. Circumvention covers activities in:respect of which it appears, on
the basis of objective factors, that under coverof a formal appearance which enables
them to-avoid the constituent elements ofan infiingement (of Article 10) nonetheless
they have the aim or result, direet or indirect, of frustrating the prohibitien laid down
(by Article 10). The person accused of eircumvention -of Article 10 must have (a)

participated in an activity having such an object or such an effect and (bY he must (i)

The Plaintiff says that the test was satisfied because:

(a). the object of the course of activities kead ing up to and involving the passing
of the Resolutions was the lquidation of the assets and/or unfreezing them.
and/lor enabling the LIA fo have greater contro! over their management and
Article 10(1) (or the Sanctions Order more generally) aims to prevent sueh
actions in lne with its object of freezing the LIAS/LAP's funds. The LAP"s
purpose in its initial attenipts to redeéin was to obtdin acéess. to the First
Defendant’s assets and remove the Plaintiff from control of those assets. The
LIA’s purpose was fo transfer its investments held by the Funds to another
portfolio and to liquidate them but in both cases sanctions licehces were not

granted to achieve this lawfully.

(b).  the effect of circumvention was that these activities enabled the LIA, through
Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni, 1o have greater contro! over the assets: Dr Jehani and
M Batuni became the registered directors of the Fuids and purporied to
communicate with the Custodians on their hehalf; asserting an entitlement to
eonfrol the assets. The Sanctions Order prohibited a dealing with the assets by
liquidating them and/or unfreezing them in orderto enable the LIA to have

greater control aver the assets.
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(¢).  the Defendants participated knowingly and intentionally in the activities that
had that object or effect in that Mr Benyezza knew of the LIA’s plan (to
remove the Plaintiff and liquidate the Funds itself) and Dr Jehdni and Mr
Baruni were party to the LIA’s plan, so knew that the Libyan lnvestors’ ainy was
to get rid of the Plaintiff and get to the Funds. They also knew of and intended

terbreach the sanctions.

(d).  the LIA’s objective was to liquidate the assets without a licence {or allow Dr
Jehani and Mr Baruni as the LIA s agents to have access to and greater control
ovar the frazen asséts without a licence) so that even if the voting of the shares
was notan unlawfinl dealing with the shares or with the asseis of the Funds the
object was unlawful. As to the effect of circumvention, the activities in
question allowed or enabled the LIA, through its agents Dr Jehani and Mr
Baruni, to ‘have greater control over the assets without a licence. They
immediately contacted the Custodians and asserted an entitlement to control

the assets and aeted knowingly and intenticnally,

I have already summarised the key aspects of the evidence which the Plaintiff argues
establish these elements of the test. The core allegation was that the LIA through Mr
Benyezza (and Mr Breish} together with Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni had intended to
breach sanctions and de so by formulating and implementing a plan that would allow
the LIA (and the other Libyan Investors) to liquidate and transfer to a new custodian
the investments held by the Funds. This would be dene by changing the directors of
the Funds, having the new directors exercise the Funds’ rights in respect of the
investments and giving instructions to the Custodians, and arrange Tor the investments

to be transferred to a new custodian,

The Plaintifl"s pleaded case is set out in paragraphs 65-70 of the Amended Points of
Claim, as to what it says the Defendants (and the LIA’s) alms and objects were and
the effects which it relies on. The Funds are alleged to be liable in addition to Dr Jehani
and Mr Baruni because Dy Jehani and Mr Baruni are alleged to have been the directing

minds and will of the Funds at the relevant time. The Plaintiff relies, as |
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clear that the individuals concerned always had in mind the need to comply with: th

explained, in particular on the redemption tequest made by the LAP and the
discussions evidenced in emails, board minutes and affidavits, between the LIA and
the other Libyau Investors and the LIA’s diregtors 6f 4 course of action that would
‘involye the LIA and the other Libyan Investors obtaining ¢ontrol of the Funds so that
they could control the pracess of iiquidating-ﬂ;e.Funds?'invsastmenits-and ultimately of
the investments themselves (or their proceeds). The realisation process would be
managed by a fransition manager and would resuft in the investments being held in a
new account by a new custodian, The Plaintiff also-argues that the reasons given for
wanting and justifying the need to remove the Plaintiff were contrived: This agpect
was dealt with in the evidence given by Mr Abudher and Mr Wansink, The Plaintiff
says that the alleged concerns were, in the period bativeen November 2013 and the
date of the Resolutions, either addressed, dropped or the. actions and attitudes of the
Libyan Tnvestors demonstrate that they wete iiof tedl concerns. The. Plaintiff argues
that its fees (both those initially charged and the significantly discounted fees) wete in
line with market practice; the Plaintiff had provided or.offered {on occasions through
its London solicitors) to provide further information such that there was.not serious
deficiency that could justify.a serious concern; foltowing a written assurance from the
PlaintifP’s London solicitors _(_Deg;he-rt_) to Enyo confirming that the Funds” assets had
not been misappropriated nothing further was requested or sought; the Punds’
performance, as confirmed by the unchallenged evidence of Mr Abudhier and
there were no reasonable grounds for concern or suspicion because of the Dutch

investigation of alleged nepotism,

In my view the Plaintiff is ynable-to satisfy the burden of proef and establish thatthe
elements of the Aiticle 13 offence are satisfied jn the present case. The statements
made in-the documentary evidence relied on by the Plaintiff do not show that the-
identified thdividuals intended to achieve a result that frustrated the prohibition and

asset freeze contained in Article 10(1) by.a course of conduet that had the same effect

as a dealing with the Funds® investments without the need for a licente, In my view

the evidenceé of the Deféndants® witnesses and the contemporary decuments make it
poraty




186.

187.
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UN sanctions regime, to pursue a two staged process that would only involve taking
steps in relation to the Funds” assets after obtaining whatever sanctions licence was

required, and the discussions regarding taking control of the investments and the

proposed process for liquidating the investments involved businessmen who were

focusing on the business aspécts and the ultimate commercial objective without

feeling the need to qualify their comments with what they would have regarded as
obvious and accepted by everyone, namely that sanctions had to be observed and
licences obtained as and when the legal advisers rdvised that this was necessary. |
have based these conclusions o areview of, and given particular weight to, the whole
documentary evidence as well as the view I have formed of the credibility and integrity
of the witnesses who gave evidence. [ have borne in mind the points made by Leggatt
J in Gestmin on which the Plaintiff rélied. [ have also taken account of the fact that the
documentary record is incomplets and drawn the inferences which seem to me to be

Justified in light of the evidence as filed.

As 1 have already noted I accept and find persuasive the Defendants® submissions on
the Article 13 claim. In my view the Defendants’ position is supported and borne out

by the history and the evesnits as | have summarised thern above.

T would make the following additional points:

(a).  the Defendants’ witnesses were honest and genuinely seeking to provide an
accurate socount of their actions and intentions during the relevant period
from the middle of 2013 to the third quarter of 2014. I accopt the Defendants’
submissions as to the significance of their seniority and varicus roles in the

formulation and implementation of the sanctions regime for Libya.
(b). T accept their clear evidence that they each had no intention of breaching
sanctions or of circumventing the need to comply with the sanctions regime

and.obtain licences when and where required.

(¢).  The Defendants’ concerns regarding the risks faced by the Libyan Inve




(d).
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in leaving the Plaintiff in control of the substantial investments held for the

Libyan state were real dnd genuine. The contetnporary emails bear this out.

So for example (&) the email sent to State Strest by BEnyo in Navember 2013

indicates that the LIA considered that it did net have important information
regarding, and was coneerned abaut, the investments and {byMr Batuni in his
email dated 14 November 2013 to Mr Kashada mentioned serious risks and

(¢) Mr Baruni in his email dated 12 March 2014 to Mr Breish expressed

concerns about insolvency risk if there was a collapse of the Plaintiff (which
concerns he said he had had for-some time). Once it became clear just how
much was being managed by the Plaintiff for the Libyan Investos and that
extent of the LIA s interest and exposurathe level of serutiny increased, There
were clearly a number of grounds for concern which included fees,
performance and the absence or slow delivery of information, These appear to
have combined, in all probability with the results of Deloitte’s work, to make
My Breish and Mr Baruni conclude that it was eritical for the LIA’s (and the
other Libyan Investors’) interests that the investments be protected by being
uirder the control of a new manager or the Libyan Investors themselves. The
Plamtiff*s response to the concerns that had been expressed and-their offers to.
discount ‘their foes wete beside the point. Mr Breish and Mr Baruni had
reached the conclusion by the first quarter of 2014 that the Plainiff
represented a serious risk and their focus was then on pbtaining the necessary
appravals and support for action, This also explains why Mr Breish did not:
wish or need to meet Mr Abudher and why his fallire to 44 so should-nat be

considered as evidence of a deferral or the ahsence of a decision to proceed,

the LAP was aware of the need to observe the sanctions tegime froi the
outset. In the letter dated 8 Februnary 2014 from Mr Kashada te Mr Abucher
notifying the Plaintiff of the LAP*s decision 1o redeem, My Kashada asks for
copies of the Plainfiffs sanstion licences so that the LAP can decide whether
ddditional licénces aré required. The LAP's solicitors Hogan Lovells were in

discussions with the Plaintiffs solicitors Dechert dboiit the nesd for 4 further

sanctions licence, While Hogan Lovells werg pressing Dechert for an answepes =,




(e).

().
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that would allow the redemption process to proceed, Dechert were clear that
confirmation in relation to the LAP’s sanctions licence -applications was
needed. from the anthorities before proceeding, No action was or could be
taken without the necessary sanction. Applications for sanctions licences were
made in February 2014 (although there is no evidence as to the outcome of the
applications and 1 assume that no licénoes were forthcoming). The need for
licences was also mentioned at the LAP Steering Committee meeting on 26
March 2014, Mr Baruni had been in touch with Mr Kashada and was
discussing in detail his proposed way forward. It is inconceivable that when
discussing the steps required fo implement this plan Mr Kashada would not
have raised the need for sanctions licences. But Mr Baruni had been, as I have
noted, discussing lifs proposed course of action with Mr Kashada since at least
November 2013 and so it cannot be suggested that Mr Baruni formulated his
plan onee it became clear to him that licences were needed and perhaps could

not be obtained,

it also seemns to me that the conduct of'the Defendants’ lawyers at the time and
immediately after the passing of the Resolutions supports the conclusion that
the Defenddnts and the L1A had no intention of proceeding without a sanctions
licence, of frustrating the asset freeze by a course of conduct that had the same
effect as a dealing with the Funds® investments without the need for a licence.

Once again [ accept the Deﬁ%ndants_’ subrmissions on this issue.

it is true that there ate no contemporary documents in the evidence from the
Defendants’ witnesses or in the LLIA Board minutes which refer to the need
for = sanctions licence. But that of itself is not determinative. 1 must form a
view on the gvidence as presented and decide whether the Plaintiff has

satisfied the burden of proof based on'that evidence.

the Plaintiff relied on an apparent conflict between on the one hand the

evidence given by Mr Breish during his cross-examination and on the oth r

the evidence in his affidavit and the evidence given by Mr Baruni. D

R




188,

cross examination, as I have explained, Mr Breish indieated that in his view a
sanctions [icence had only been needed after the Funds® investments had been
liquidated and at the time that the proceeds were moved out of the jurisdiction.
This answer, in a brief and somewhat cryptic part of the cross examination
does not in my view bear much weight. [ accept the Defendants’ submissions

as-to'the weight to be given to and the significance of this answer,

(h). I also agree with the Defendants that if and to the: extent that the Plaintiff
's_bu_ght'ta supplement its Article 13 case by arguing that the granting of the
LAP Power of Attorney was intended o have and had the samé commereial
effect as if the LIA or the Third Defendant had scguired the investinents hefd
by the First Defendant and that the LFB Power of Aftorney had the same
commercial effect as a trangfer of title to the LIA of the shares in the Second

Defendant, that argument failed.

Furthermore, T aceept the Defendants’ submisstons in refatien to the further and
alternative case pleaded by the Plaintiff that since the Resolutions were adopted with

the intention of eontravening Article 10(1) they were void for illegality or by reason
.of being contrary to public policy, The case was not separately argued and advanced
during the hearing and since ] have held thatthe Resolutions were not passed with that

intention the claim fails in any event.

The Authority Point — the Plaintiff’s case in outline

189.

190,

)

As regards the Authority Point the Plainfiff seeks a declaration that each of the
Resolutions is void ab initio and/or of no effect and/or unenforceable; that D Jehani
aid Mr Batuni are not and have never been validly appointed as directors of any of the
Funds; and that the Plaintiff was not remaved as a ditector of any of the Funds by virtue
of the Resolutions and is, and has at all times since those purported Resolutions

remained, a director of each of the Funds.

In its closing submissions the Plaintiff says that thete is no dispute that the Regg
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are each purported unanimdus written resolutions of the relevant Fund. The issue in

dispute and the relevant question is whether those purporting to act for the Libyan

Investors by signing the Resolutions (Mr Benyezza and Dr Jehani) were authorised to do

s0. The Plaintiff submits that it is the corporate constitution (the Articles of Association)

of each of the Funds that regulates who isentitled to signa written shareholders resolution

on behalfof the sharehalders and these require that the signatory to a written resolution to

be properly authorised by the relevant shareholder. Where the shareholder is a Libyan

entity with separaté corporate personality the issue of who has authority to act on behalf

of the entity is governed by Libyan law,

191, The key points in the Plaintiff’ s argument can be summarised as follows:

(a).

{(b).

(c).
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the issue in dispute was whether the individuals who signed the Resolutions.
were authorised to det for the relevant Libyan Investor as shareholder of the
relevant Fund. The requirements for a valid written resolution were set out in
the Funds” articles and these stipulated that such a resolution could only be
effective if the person signing it on behalf of the shareholder was authorised to

do 50,

whether the person who signed -2 Resolution on behalf of the relevant Libyan
Investor was authorized to do so was, for conflicts of law purposes, to be
characterised as giving rise to an issue relating to the authority of agents of
Libyan entities under the constitution of the entity, Therefore the issue was
governed by the law of Libya as the law applicable to such constitution and the
manner in which such entities may properly empower and appoint agents to act

on their behalf.
as regards-the LIA:
(i). the Board of Directors was the competent body to take a decision fo

remove existing and appoint new directors of companies, funds and

investment portfolios outside Libya (including the Third Defendant]




(i1). a-decision of the Board of Directors. was therefore required to remove
the Plaintiff and appoint Dy Jehani and Mr Barini as direetors of the
Third Defendant.

(ii). no such decision (or-at least there was insufficient svidence to allow
the Court to conclude that such a decision} was n fact made by the
Board of Directors or made in a legally effective ingnuer..

{iv),  in the absence of such a decision, it was open fo the Board of
Direetors to decide to delegate to Mr Benyezza the authoriiy and
power to remove and replace directors.of such investment vehicles in
general or specifically to teniove the Plaintiff and appoint Dr Jehani
and Mr Baruni as directors of the Third Defendant, However, there
was no decision to-delegate (o at least there was insufficient evidence

to allow the Court to-eonclude that thers was such a decision),

(v). in the absence of a decision by the Board &f Directors to remave and
replace the directors of the Third Defendant or to delegate the
authority to do So to Mr Beryezza, Mr Benyezza did not have
authority himself to decide to reinove the Plaintiff and appoint Dr
Jehani and Mr Barunj as directors of the Third Defendant,

(vi).  Mr Benyezza therefore did not have authority to sign the Third
Defendant Resohition on behalf of the LIA.

(vil).  the Third Defendant Resolution was a nullity and of no effect even
though Mr Benyezza had purported fo sign on behalf of the LIA and
signed (and was expressed in the Third Defendant Resolution to have
signed) as Chairiman of the LIA. Under Libyan law actions
purportedly taken on behalf of public authorities and state bodies such

as the LIA were subject to Libyan administrative law and challsiiggmsses.,
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(viii),

before the Libyan administrative eourts. In accordance with the
applicable law and deeisions of the Libyan Supreme Court, the action
taken by Mr Benyezza (in purporting to act and sign on behaif of the
LIA} was treated as a gross defect of authority (sometimes referred to
as g “usurpation”) and was therefore non-existent and without legal
effect, Furthermore, the principle of Libyan law which permits a third
party to hold a principal liable for the unauthorised acts of a person
‘held out by the principal to be his agent (apparent mandate) does not
apply to the Third Defendant Resolution (indeed the third party in the
present case is the Plaintiff who does not seek to hold the principal,
the LIA, liable for the acts of the agent, Mr Benyezza).

the Libyan rulé of evidence that decisions of public authorities and
state bodies such as the LIA are presumed to be valid does not apply
or cannot be relied on by the Defendant to validate the Third
Defendant Resolution.

as regards the LAP:

(M.

(it).

(iii),

the LAP Steering Comimittee was the competent body to take all
management decisions i relation to the LAP including the decision
to remove existing and appoint new directors of subsidiaries
(including the First Defendant),

the LAP Steering Committee at its meeting on 26 March 2014
decided to avthorise the LIA to take decisions on behalf of the. LAP

in relation to the TLAP*s investment and share in the First Defendant.

But it did so.on a-qualified basis. The LIA was not authotised to make

such decisions “without the prior consent of [EAP s] management.”

putsuant to the LAP Power of Attorney (executed and delwmed at
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{(iv).

(v)

(vi).

(vii).

{who was referred to in the LAP Power of Attorney as the Chajraian

of T,AP, althotigh the Chairman under the LAP*s-articles was also the
LAP’s General Manager) granted a power of attorney to Dr Jehani

and appointed him as Mr Hebry’s ““attorney in fact” in the. matter of
resolving all issues related 10" the Tirst Defondant “in conjunction
and coordination with the resolution gf" the investments of the LIA

in the Third Defendant and the LFB in the Second Defendant
pursyant ta the other powers of attorney granted to Dr Jehatii by the

LiA and LFB. The LAP Power of Attorney stated that Dr Jehani was
granted authority to take such aefict as Mr Hebry “might or could do
if personally present,”

no consent was giver (and there is no evidence of any consent having
been given) by the LAP’s management to a decision of the LIA (if
there was one) to remove the Plaintiff and appoint Df Jehani and Mr

Baruni as directors of the First Defendant.

in the absence of such consent {and tlierefore in the absence of

‘approval from the LAP Steering Committee) Mr Hebry did not have

authority to decide on the LAP’s behalf to remove and appoint
directors of the First Defondant, Therefore, sinee the LAP Power of
Attorney was expressed to. grant Dr Jehani authority only to do
whatever Mr Hebry himself could do, it did not glve Dr Jehani the
authority or power to remove and appoint directors of the First
Defendant..

Dr Jehani therefore did not have authority to sign the First Defendant
Resolution on behalf of the LIA.

¢ven if management consent had been given so that there was an

effective decision by the LAP Steering Committee, Mr Hebry was not

authorised without more to take steps to implement the degision. The



(e).
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(viii),

(ix).

LAP Steering Committee needed to delegate either to Mr Hebry or
Dr Jehani the authority and power to implemerit the decision of the
LAP Steeting Committse. There was no such (there was no eviderice

of such) delegation,

the First Defendant Resolution was a nullity and of no effeet even
though Dr Jehani had purported to sign on behalf of the LAP, The
rule of Libyan law and Libyan Supreme Court decisions already
mentioned. (that actions putportedly taken on behalf of public
authorities and state bodies such asthe LAP were subject to Li‘bya'n
administrative law and challenge before the Libyan administrative
courts) applied. Accordingly, the action taken by Dr Jehani in
purporting to sigh the First Defendant Resolution on behalf of the
LAP (and possibly the action of Mr Hebry in purporting to authorize
Dr Jehani to bind the LAP) is treated as a gross defect of authority
and non-existent and without legal effect. Once. again, the apparent
mandate principle of Libyan law does not apply to the First Defendant
Resolution,

once again, the Libyan nile of evidence that decisions of public
authorities and state bodies such as the LAP are presumed to be valid
does not apply or cannot be relied on by the Defendant to validate the

First Defendant Resolution.

as regards the L.FB;

(a),

(b).

the LFB’s Board of Directors was competent and authorised (in
accordance with LFB’s Articles of Assoeiation) to take the decision
to remove and appoint directors of its subsidiary, the Second

Defendant,

putsuant to the LFB Power of Attorney (executed on 17 July




{c).

(d).

(&),

®.

Mr Ben Yousef-(who was referred to in the LEB Power of Attormey
as the chief executive officer of the LEB) grantéd 1o Dr Jehani. a
power of attorney and appointed him his “attorney in fict in the
matter of resolving all issues related to-the [Second Defendani] which

s owned by the LFB il siich time as iy conveyance can be

£

compleled™™ The gromting of the power of atforney was “in
conjunction and coordivdtion with the resolution of* the investments
of the LIA in the Third Defendant and the LAP in the First Deféndant.
The LFB Power of Attorney stated that Dr Jehani was granted
authority to take such action as Mr Ben Yotsef “might or could do if

personally present?

the LFB. Board of Directors did hot degide (there is hio sviderite that
the LFB board decided) to remove the Plaintiff and appoint Dr Jehani

and Mr Barunf as dicectors of the Second Defendaiit,

in the abgence of such a deeision Mr Ben Yousef did net have
authority to remove the Plaintiff and appoint Dr Jehaid and Mr Baruni
as directors of the Second Defendant. Therefore since the LFB Power
of Aftorney was expiessed to grant Dr Jehani sutherity only to do
whatever Mr Ben Yousef could do, it did ot give Dr Jehani the
authority or power to remove and a}:_zpoiht divectors of the Second
Defendant.

the Second Defendant Resolution (signed by Dr Jehani as attornoy in
fact for the LFB) was therefore null and void becayse it was made in
breach of the LFB’s Articles of Association. Alternatively it was not
binding on the LFB becauge Dr Jehani did not have authority-to-sign
it

furthetmore, the LFR did not hold (there is insufficient evidence to
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behalf of the ESDF as the LFB’s client, Even if'it did, Mr Ben Yousef
was not otherwise authotised (by reason of being the. LFB’s chief
executive officer) by the LFB’s Articles to remove the Plaintiff and
appoint Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni as directors of the Second
Defendant because that was the will of and instructions given by or
on behalf of the ESDF as the LFB’s client. There is no legal basis for

such authority in the Articles or otherwise.

(). if the LIA was the bensficial owner of the shares in the Second
Defendant then the decision to remove the Plaintif and appoint Dr
Jehanj and Mr Baruni as directors of the Second Defendant would

need to be taken and approved by both the LFB Board of Directors
and the LIA Board of Directors.

(h), there was also no other delegation by the LFR board to Dr Jehani of
the power to remove the Plajntiff and appoint Dr Jehani and Mr

Baruni as directors of the Second Defendant.

192, The Plaintiff submitted that the key disagreements for the Court to resolve were as to.

whather:

(a).  the LIA Board of Directors decided to appoint of remove the directors of the
Third Defendant (since the Defendants have adduced no evidence of any
decision by the LAF Steering Committee or the LFB Board of Directors fo
appoint or remove the directors of the First Defendant or the Second Defendant,
the Plaintiff suggesis that it appears not to be in dispute that neither the LAP
Steering Commitftee nor the LFB board actually made such a decision, and i

caritiot be proved that either of them did make such a decision);

(b).  if no such decision was made by the LIA, the LAP or the LFB, whether the
relevant Resolution was affected by a usurpation/serious defect of authority {(or

is otherwise non-existent and of no legal effect),
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{c).

(d).

(&)

whether the LIA Board of Ditectors, the LAP Steering Committee and the LFB
Board -of Directors must delegate implementation of any decision (and the

consequences of this),

Defendant Resolution,

the applicability of appareiit mandate in relation to the LIA.

The Authority Point —the Defendants® position in outline

193, The arguments relied on by the Defendants on the Avthority Point can be summarised

as follows:

(a).

().

(@)
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As & matter of Libyan law, Mr Hebry and Mi Ben Yousel were gach properly
authorised to sign the powers of attoiney and to give Dr Jehani the power (o
sign the Resoclutions and Mr Benyezza was pmperi'y avthorised to sign the
Third Defendant Resolution.

but even if those signing the Reselutions were not authorised to.do so ag a
matter of Libyan law, there were four grounds on which the Resolutions were
valid and should be upheld as a matter'of the law of the Cayman Islands, [f any

one of the grounds was upheld the Resolutions would be valid,

thefour Cayman Islands law grounds are;

(). the Articles of the Funds operated fo validate the Resolutions. Two

separate provisions were refied on: Article 88 and Article 77

(if), the Dusmatic principle operated to validate the Resolutions;




(iii). principles of ostensible authority, agency and estoppel validate the

Resolutions; and

{iv). the Resolytions should be presumed valid as 8 matter of Cayman

Islands law,

The Authority Point — the Plaintifs arguments in detail

The applicable law

164,
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On. the issus of the proper chardcterisation of the issue for private international law
purposes and o determine the governing law applicable to that issue, the Plaintiff
submits that the only question that arises under the Articles of Association of each
Fund is (i) whether the Resolution was “executed by or on behalf of” the relevant
Libyan Investor, a Libyan-incorporated entity, under Article 77 or, in the alternative,
(ii). whether Mr Benyezza and Dr Jehani were “fauthorised to sign the Resolutions on
behalf of the relevam Libyan Investor] in accordance with [ihe relevant Funds']
constitutional docianents, or in the absence of such provision, by resohution of [the Libyn
Investor's] directors or other governing body”, under Article 88. The question on authority
is whether Mr Benyezza’s act in signing the Third Defendant Resolution and Dr
Jehani’s acts in signing the First Defendant Resolution and the Second Defendant
Resolution were done on behaif of (that is, are attributable to or hind) the LIA, the LAP
and the LFB respectively. This is a question of authority to act. The relevant question
is for each of the LIA, the LAP and the LFB: “who are the corporation’s officials
authorised to act-on s behalf’? This accordingly requires consideration of the law of

the place of incorporation of the LIA, the LAP and the LBF, namely, Libyan law.

The Plaintiff relies in particular on Azov Shipping Co v Baltic Shipping Co (Ne 2) [1 9991
CLC 1425, Inthis case Baltic alleged, and Azov (a Ukrainian company) denied, that
-Azov was bound by -an arbitration agreeément, Azoy argued that under Ukrainian law

“Azov could only be bound by iis president or persons ucting with power of daftorney

Jrom the presidens” and that those alleged to have bound Azov lacked such a power of




attorney, so ‘the agreement did not bind it.Colman J held (obiter) that this went to
“actial ewthoriy” (and the formal validity of the contract), rather than the capacity (ar
power) of Azov to make it. He considered Ukrainian jaw on the point and held: “If there
hodd been assent to be bound by the [dgreement in issue/, ... neither [of the people who

were sald (o have.acted on Azov's behalf] would have had detual guthority to bind the

company ubder Azov's grticles, for both would have needed p power of attoyney from
the president.”

Azov is analogous to this case, The Plaintiff’s case is that, under the constitutive
documents of the LIA, the LAPand the LFB, the required body did not authorise the
Resolutions. Azov applied Ukrainian law ta that ssue, whieh is ‘not in pringiple

different, Libyan law applies here to determine whether there was actual authority o

make the Resolutions.

The Articles of Associction of the Funds

195.

I'need at this peintto set out the relevant terms of the Articles in tore detal, The following Articles
arg relevant (underining added):

@.  Aricle 77 provides:

“A resolution in writtag executed by or on behalf of ench Member who wouyld have

been entitled fo vote upon it if it had been propesed at @ general meeting qt which he
was present shall be m effectual as if it had been passed at a general meeting duly
gorvened and held ...

(b).  Article 78 provides (in relation to single member companies):
“Iandfor sa long at the Company has anly (1) Member entitled to vote:

(al. in relation to a genergl mesting the sole Member or a proxy Jar thai
Member or (if thé Member Is a corparglion) a duly authorised
represenialive of that Member is o quorum and these Articles are modified
‘accordingly:

(4)
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(c).

tel. all other provisions of the Articles apply with the necessary modificgtion

nnless the provivion expressiyv provides otherwisel,

Article 88 provides:

“Amy corporation or other tonnatural person which is ¢ Member may 1h accordance with
s constitutional documents, or in'the ubsence of such provislon, by resofution.of its
directors of pther governing body, qiithorise such person as it thinks fit to act as its
representative i any meeting of the Company or any class of Members, and the person so
authorised shatl be entitled i exereise the-sume powers on behalf of the corporation which
he represents as the corporgtion ould exercise if it were an individual Member"

196, The Plaintiff argued that Articles 78 and 88 do not apply to the Resolutions since these

provisions are concerned only with general meetings and have no application to a

unanimous written resolution (for which Article 77 lays down a selficontained

procedure). In the alternative the Plaintiff argued that even if Article 88 applies it

requires the Court to adopt the same approach as applied under Asticle 77. The

questions. were whether Mr Benyezza was authorised to sign the Third Defendant

Resolution wunder applicable Libyan law and the constitutive and constitutional

documents of the LIA and was Dr Jehani authorised to sign the First Defendant

Resolution and the Second Defendart Resolution under applicable Libyan law and the

constitutive and constitutional documents of the AP and the LFB respectively?

Libyan law

197.  Inreliance on the expert evidence of Ms Bakir, the Plaintiff submitted that the following

were the applicable principles and propositions of Libyan law:

().

(b).
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decisions of the I.TA and the LAP, including the Third Defendant Resolution
and the First Defendant Resolution, are administrative decisions and subject to
Libyan administeative law whereas. decisions of the LFB ar¢ not subject to

administrative lave.

fn Libyan law, an administrative decision is constituted by “tke

administration’s clear declarasion of its binding will pursuant to the authority

vested therein by tha laws and regulations with the intent of cenisin




legal situetion 1o exist” (an extract from the Libyan Supreme Court decision
No. 1/1 of 5 April 1954 quoted by Ms Bakir),

(¢).  only the Board of Directors of the LIA under Article [3 of Law No. 13 of 2010
(under which the LIA was constituted), and only the Steering Committee of the
LAF under the LAP Articles, had anthority to deeide, on behalf of the LIA dnd
LAP sespectively, to gppoint or remove directors of the Third Defendant.or the
First Defendant respectively.

{(d).  ifinrelation to an administrative decision, there was what Ms Bakir refers to
as a “uswrpation of muthority” and what Mr Elgharabli calls a “seriows defect
of authority” the consequence was that the affected decision ‘was “non-

existent”, that 15, of no legal effect a8 4 matter of substaritive Libyan law,

{(e), there was a “presumption” that an administrative decision was valid (atthough
this presumption did not arise, as the Defence and Countérclaim pleaded, from
Atticle 8 of Law No, 88 of T971) — this was a Libyan rule of evidence which
reflected the burden of proof.

(f).  ifan administrative decision was non-existent, it could not be ratified:

(g). if an administrative decision was non-existent, there ‘was no time limit that

applied to limit the period in which it could be challenged,

(h).  the Plaintiff was able to challenge the Third Defendant Resolution and the First
Defendant Resolution, Article 8 of Law No. 88 of 1971 did rot prevent the
Plaintiff fiom deing so and the LAP was not the only person who miay
challenge the First Defendatit Resolution,

(i). binding customary rules as to the manner and form in which administrative

decisions must be taken may exist in Libyan law,

190130 Palladyrie: 190130 Palladyig Trijerpational Assel Management BV, v Upper Brack (4) Limited et.al — FSI 68
(NS} Judgment

1361323




G-

failure to follow such a binding customary rule results in a decision being non-

existent,

The Plaintiff’s position in respect of each of the Resolutions

198, As regards the Third Defendant Resclution:

(a).

(b).
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the Plaintiff argued that the Third Defendant Resolution was non-existert and

of no legal ffect (and therefore not authorised under Libyan law) for three

independent reasons:

(i)

(i),

(iii).

the LIA Board of Directors did not decide to remeve the Plaintiff and
appaint Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni as directors of the Third Defendant
{and, in purporting to do so, Mr Benyezza usurped the authority of

the Board, so his decision is nonexistent):

the LIA Board of Directors did not issue a separate resolution
document recording any decision (in breach of a binding customary

requirement to do so, which results in non-existence); and

the Board did not delegate to Mr Benyezza implementation of any
Board decision in relation to investment companies (so, in purporting
to do so, he usurped the authority of the Board, and his decision is

non-existent) (the No Delegation Point).

the Plaintiff makes two arguments in support of the submission that there was

no decision by the LIA Board to remove the Plaintiff: first, that there was no

decision in fact (the No Decision in Fact Point) and secondly that even if there

was 4 decision in fact there was no legally offoctive decision since the manner

and form in which the decision was taken was insufficient to satiafy the

requirements of Libyan law and did not establish & clear declaration of the

biriding witl of the LIA as an administrative body (the No Legally Effective




Decision Poini).
©. as regards the No Decision in Fact Point:

(i), the Plaintiff invited the Court to find that no miemorandum was
circtilated to the LIA Board specifically about the Plainiiff in advance
of or atthe 4 May Meeting, and ft i's,.i'z:ihgel'ﬂn_tbz implausible that the.
LIA Board of Directors would make a deeision about a US$300
million investment (let alone other investments of an additional

US$400 million) without proper analysis having been presented,

(D). the Plaintiff noted that the 4 May Meeting Minutes. did not record any
memorandum having been diseussed and that when a memoeandumn
was before the boatd, this was recorded. This it is said apparent on
the face of the 4 May Meeting Minutes (and can also be shown for
that meeting by referenceto the Board pack?. [t was also, the Plaintiff
submitted, apparent from the LIA Board minutés more generally
{which the Plaintiff pointed ouf werg only provided in un-redacted
‘form by the Defendants for the first time on Thursday 8 March 2018,
two workirig days before the trial started).

(iii}.  the Plaintiff relied on the documents disclosed by Dr Mahmoud
which included the board pack of decuments sent to the directors
ahead of the. 4 May Meeting. The Plaintiff submitted that a
comparison of these documents against the 4 May Meeting Minutes
established that, where a dosument was placed before the board, the 4
May Meeting Minutes referred to it, The Plaintiff says that it is to be
inferred that this practice was general, and that the Defendants and/or
thieir witngsses did not (despite the Plaintiff’s réquests to do so) obitain
and produce the board packs for further meetings as this would have

furthér-borne this out,

{iv) the Plaintiff referred to the evidence given by Mr Breish in pg
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45 of his witness stateinent regarding his receipt and circulation of a
memorandum from Eryo dealing with the Plaintiff, in particular that
the memorandum was distributed to the LIA Bosrd members on 1
May 2014. Mr Breish said that:

“ [ asked Dr-Jehani to prepare a viemorandum in conjunclion with
Enyo with respedt o the Palladyne Investments. | received thai
memorandum af ddvice on 1 May 2014. [ then circulaied the
memorandum to the entite board of the LIA at that Hime, which
consisted of myself (as Chairinai), Mr Ali Hebri (Deputy Chairman
of the LIA Board and Chairman of the LAP), Dr Ahmed Attiga, Dr
Faisal Gergab, Dr Al Mahmoud (referred io above), Mr
Abdulrahman Benyezza and Mr Hassan Bowhadi. Thal memorandum
was headed “Priviléged and Confidential” and its contents remain
privileged and confidential and 1 do not waive any privilege by
referring to that memorandum or- any other advice received by the
LiA or other privileged conimunications herein” '

(v). the Plaintiff submitted that during his cross-examination Mr Breish
offectively “recanted” this evidence, The Plaintiff argued that when
pressed during his cross-examination by Mr Hapgood QC about why
there was no mention of this alleged memorandum in the 4 May
Meeting Minutes Mr Breish had accepted that this “could have been

presented to a previous boawd, not the board you are referring (o™,
The exchange between Mr Hapgood QC and Mr Breish was as follows:

O, Now, | suggest that that evidenee is wrong. We
have seén no evidence of the existence of any such
memorandum and #'s not been produced on disclosure and it's
notreferred io in the board minute. I suggest you are simply wrong
about that?

A. No, if this was stated, this is correct, You may have not seen it,
but it is correct.

Q. Why is it not referred to in the board mintes?

A, 1 don't kmow. [ have wo reason to say this wasw't done.

Q. You can't explain i, because there is no explanation?

A. It doash't have to be in the board minutes.

. 1 think you agree with me already that if o memorandum was
placed before the baard

A. It could have heen presented to a previons board, not the board
you are referring to. I don't vecall *
Q. [fitwas « if you are Fight about the date IMay 2014 in pa

190130 Palleidyrie 190130 Paitadyne Iniernational Awset Management .V v Upper Brogh (4) Limited etal - FS i
(NS Juelginent

1391223




45 and your ciréndated i, yout eo-direciors wounld have haditnt the
board meeting on 4 May 20142
A, edi't aiswer-thay,

{vi). the Plaintiff also relied on the absence of a referetice to the
memorandum in the evidence of'the Defendarts” other witnesses, Dr-
Jehani does riot say that he prepared and provided a memorandum to
Mr-Breish around 1 May 2014 (which could obviously: be done
without breaching privilege, had it vceurred); Mr Benyezza did not
mention re¢eiving any memoranduom around 1 May 2014; and nor did

Mr Ismial mention any such memorandum,

(vii).  furthermore, the Plalntf says, no merorandiim, ever in redacted
form, has been disclosed. In its Closing Submissions and at the
hearing the Plaintiff also elied on the fact that such a memorandum
had not been separately listed by the Defendants and that any
commuhication by which it was eirculated to the Board had neither
been listed or produced (and argued that'such a commuiication could
not coneeivably be subject to privilege). However, as 1 discuss in
detail in the Discovery Judgment, the Re-Amended List of
Decuments filed by the Defendants after the hearing included in the
schedule documents not produced on the basis that they are privileged
(buf the Defendants confirmed that they did not rely on these

additional documents):

“A memarandum conveying legal advice from [Enyojlo the LIA
dated 1 May 2014 (and drafis of the memorundum), emails from Dr
Jehgni and Mr Baruni of 1 May 2014 conveyping the memorandum
to-Messrs Breish and Ismail [sic] on Behalf of the L4 and earlier
emails conveying drafts of the memarandum,”

(viii). thé Plaintiff also submiited that the fact that the copy of the 4 May
Meeting Minutes that bas been produced was annofated suggested
that it did not accurately reflect the board’s discussion,

.

| o ‘ , 1y
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(ix).

{x).

(xi).

recording that decision {which the Plaintiff says was an inves

the Plaintiff also relied on Dr Mahmoud’s evidence in which he
suggested that the 4 May Meeting Minutes were incorrect and that no

decision to remove the Plaintiff was made.

The relevant exchange during Dr Mahmoud®s cross-examination

was as Tollows:

“Q Right, If a decislon had been taken 1o sack Palladyne, do you
think that ls something you would have remembered? A: It is a
huge issue. I am actually surprised that in the minutes in front of me,
It is coming within a few little issues; and [ would definitely have — 1
would have definitely remembered, yes. We are talking about $700
millien and a nine howrs long meeling, ond it can't be something
that, like, gets mentioned In the last hour of @ nine honrs meeting.
And before that, somebody who had an accident or something, very
minor issues like 5, $10 thousand, it doesn’t look reasonable. And'
then you insert samething Hke this; [ don’t think that we would be —
like, wa were working on a miich more professional level thow this.
And as you can see, everybody was o listener. There was nobody
intervening or unyihing. It looks suspicious, to be hanest... O Weould
you have, at-the fime, regarded that us a4 major change in the
conteol and management of tire LIA's $700 million funds? A;
Aguin, I repeat the same remark, that this is a big issue to have been
detailed in a much bigger way than this. If it actnally took place, 1
would heve suggested or at least would have expected it o be
detatled. When we hud a similar change as suggested i this
paragraph, we had loads of discussions ... Qr Would you Have
expected a major topic like this to be addressed in Jis own
memorandum? A; Definitely, yes, Before the meeting, we would
have had a memo on that and then we would take part in taking the
decision as well. And we would be prepared for discussing such a
major issue. ”

the Plaintiff submitted that the fact that the anticipated call between
Mr Breish and Mr Abudher had yet to occur made it inherently
unlikely that any desision was made at the 4 May Meeting.

furthermore the Plaintiff noted that the Defendants had disclosed no
separate resolution document analogous to the resolution document
relating to the LIA Board’s deeision to appoint and remove directors

of First Energy Bank which was produced in addition to the minutes

P O P




(i,

with 4 mitch lesser value to the LIA than that with the Plaintiff), The
Plaintiff submitted that even'if it was wrong irf its argurient that such
a separate document was as a matter of Libyan law a customary
requirement such that its absence mieant that there-was no effective
deeision to remove-the Plaindiff, the circumstance that no separate
resolution. document was issued suggests strongly that no decision
about the Plaintiff was in fact made.

the Plaintiff also submitted that it was inherently unlikely that a
decision.on a US$700 million callestion of portfolios would be made
at the very end-of an LIA Board of Directors meeting, under a heading

of “Any other business”,

(d).  asregards the No Legally Effective Decision Point:

O

().
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the Plaintiff submitted that the Third Defendant Resolution was
ineffective becayse the LIA had not taken 4 decigion to remove the
Plaintiff in the manner required by applicable Libyan law. The

Plaintiff submitted that thiere was a binding customary requirement

affecting LIA Board decisions to the effect that decisions of the type
which include a decision to remeve a director of an LIA subsidiary
must be recorded in &z-sfgpai‘&te dociiment. Sinde this was not done for
the decision to remove the Plainliff' the decision was not Ije_gafly.

effective,

the Plaintiff relied on the expert evidence of Ms Bakir..She explained
that customary requireiiients arise undet Artiele 1 of the Libyan Civil
Code from “the continnous aﬁservanc;fe_qumceicium! and formal sieps™
by the administration (see Ms Bakir’s First Report paragraphs 41 and
60~62 and Ms Bakir’s Reply Report, paragraphs 59-65 and 142-150).
Ms Bakir relies on the Chief of Tribes case (Administrative Appeal No.
1544 J of 12 April 1970). where the practice of issuing a ds
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on the administration. The Plaintiff submitted that Ms Bakir's approach
and opinions were o be preferred to that of Mr Elgharabli, He suggested
{see Mr Elgharabli’s Reply Report paragraphs 32 and 36), in reliance
on textbook commentary written by Dr Essiwi, that Ms Bakir had net
accurately stated the requirements for custom. He accepted during
cross-examination that (1) the only awuthority of which he was aware on
customary law was the Chief of Tribes case and (2) that the judgment
indeed “concluded that the behaviour of the administration in
appointing and remaving chiefs of a tribe consiitutes o customary rule
and I [sic] followed that or find that enough ground to reach i
conclusion”™. Accordingly, the Plaintiff submitted that while there was
academic support at a theoretical level for Mr Efgharabli’s view that a
“mental element” was required, “it was not the case that the Libyan
courts engaged in a mind-reading exercise when trying o identify
customary rules”, The suggestion that the court is looking at any
subjective mental element was irteconcilable with the Supreme Court’s
teasoning to-which Ms Bakir referred and on which Ms Bakir relied (see
Ms Balir's First Report paragraph 41 and Ms Bakir's Reply Report
paragraphs 37 and 62). At paragraphs 40 and 41 of Ms Bakir’s First
Report she said the following about the Chief of Tribes case:

“40.  Failure to adhere to an established customary rule in the decision-
making process also causes an act or decision to be non-existent.

41 This is established by the Supreme Courl, in its decisien in
Adminisirative Appeal No 15/4.J ef 12 April 1970, In that case, the
Supreme Court held that the customary form used by the
administration for appeinting or removing the chifef of a tribe was
by a wriiten decision and thai failure to follow that reguirement
was a grave error that made te purported decision nonexistent ...
The Court explulned this as follows;

"As has been settled by the administrative judiciary, if the
law requires a certain form.to be followad for the issuance of
an gdministrative decislon, then any breach of the required
Jormal rules rendery the decision non-gxistent in the view of
. the law ... This is wot comparable with mill vnd void
adminisirative declsions for which it is ruled that the
chailenge therelo did not take place within the statutory tip
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or for which a judgment of restindment is.issued. Instead it
I8 to-be considered a decision that does nol express the will.
of the administration, No legal impact or positions yesufi
Jrom it

(iii).  at paragraphs 64 -68 of Ms Bakir's First Report she dealt with the

application of the principle she derived from the Chiefof Tribes case

as follaws:

64, Law No(13) of 2010 {Annex 4 Tab 13) does not provide the

65E

procedural and formal rules that must be followed for a
degision fo be taken by the Board of Directors to he legally
effective ('mfd there is no relevant rule in Blomic Shavig).

Thergfore, in acvordance with Article I of the €pil Code,
custom specifies the procedural and formal rules which give
legal effect to-a decision of the Board of Directors such as
changing the divectors of investment companies,

I have been provided with 0 documents recording the
decisions af the Board of Directors of the Authority (or its
Interim Steering Committeg) during the period Jrom 27
November 2012 to 28 September 2016 ...). These
documents make elear it they were :,s*sued gfter the
Authority’s Board of Directors had made o degision and
consistently have certain features. By following o S,zzaa.:fze
procedure for issuing these documents over o considerable
period of time when it makes decisions (such ay the
rep!acemem of « director of an investmeni company,, the
Authorily has made these procedural and formal rules inta
a binding eustomary requirement,

The practice which the Board of Directors of the Authority
has followed, as shown: by. the documenys that 1 have been
able tn review; is thefollowing:

(1 4 separate document Is issued that states thal the
Board of Directors has taken g decision.

(2).  The document s signed in the hame of the Bowrd of
Directors of the Authority fiself, and rot in the name
of the person-who signed it

(3).  The document contains the matters
listed below:

(a). the name of the authority that fisued the dacision
(the Board of Directors vf the Authority);

{b). - serial vismber ineluding the year in w:"xwh tha
decision was made ..

:(C). a file .,




(e},
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(d). a pregmble that recites the name of the issuing
authority a list of the legislation upon which the
decision is based, and o reference to the minutes of
the meeting at which the decision was made

(e). articles bearing mumbers setting oul each
element of the decisian;

(7). an article that includes a reference fo the
gffective date of the decision.

{g). the name of ihe aytharity that isswed the
deeision in the signature field:
and

(h). the date of issuance of the document,

(). The document contains the date the resolution enters
into force and direction from the Board aof Directors
ds to the.authorities who are competent to implemeny
i,

87, An example of this hinding eustomary practice, which Js
very close (o the circumstances of this case, i3 Decision No
11 6f 2014 {Annex 2 Tab 3), the decision of the Authority's
Boaid -of Directors to change the director whom the
Authority appointed to Firsi Energy Bark in Bakrain, That
decision was reflected in a document that matches the
description ser ouf above,

G8. [ have norsean il of the minutes or all decision documents
issyed by the Authority. My opinion above s presented on
the basis of the sample of minutes and decisions documents
L have seen, which are attached to this report”

As regards the No Delegation Point:

{.

the Plaintiff argued that the Third Defendant Resolution is alse non-

existent because: (1) under and due to the provisions of Law No. 13

of 2010, the Chairman did not have the authority to implement or
executs a decision of the Board of Directors (on a matter within the
Board’s areas of responsibility) (relying on Ms Bakir’s opinion as set
out i Ms Bakir’s First Report, paragraphs 89-95 and Ms Bakir’s

Reply Report, paragraphs 223-242); and (2) there is no evidence

|
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{ii).

(1)

that the Court Sb.oui;‘ia_ in consequence, find there was none). The
Plaintiff’ says that the Defendants did not run any ease of any

delegation and accordingly the Court should find that none was made,

the PlaintHf submitted that Ms Bakii*s opinionwag to be prefetred on
the question of the proper construction of Article 13 of Law Ne, 13
tothat of Mr Elgharabli. The Plaintiff noted that Mr Elgharabli argued
that the Chairman had authority under Article 13 o implement board
degisions but submitted that Ms Bakir's consiruction was to be
preferred (she explains in detail and by referance to its provisions
why Article 13 does not confer such authority and that degisions
about the Third Defendant are within the Board’s authority}.

the Plaintiff further relied on Libyan Supreme Couirt autherity in
suppott of the propositian that for administrative decisions,
“[dlelegation of competence ... ntust ... be explicit and clear, not
assumed”. At paragraph 176-178 of Ms Bakir’s Reply Report she said

as follows:

176 Mr Elgharabli’s contention is confrary to Adminisirative
Appeal No 48/35 J of 26 December 2004. In that case, the
Supreme Court held that ¢ delegation must be made by the
body whose authority is being delegated must be explicit
ang clear (not assumed), and must speci iy who the
authoriser is and the authorities the delegate is given. [t
did not hold that o partieular form was wot needead, bt it
made clear that a delegation must be positively made.) The
Supreme Courl decision summary states:

“Dglegafwn gf competence is lawful only [f it is based
on prioy permission granted by a legitimate aztthfmry

Since it iz deemed to full owtside the rules of
Jueisdiction, it must therefore be explicit and clear, it
assumed. It must specify the delegated’ body and the
compelences cavered by the delegation,”

176 Alfhough tlw Supreme CGW.‘!‘ was cons:der!ng @ powe;




().
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{iv),

177, The Caurt concluded on the facls that meeting minutes of
the Committee did not explicitly and clearly show a
delegation to take expropriation decisions. The delegation
made was restricted o finding solutions to particular
problems”

the Plaintiff also relies on Article 107 of the Implementing Regulation
for Law No. 12 of 2010 which imposes requirements for explicit
delegation in writing within administrative units. These, Ms Bakir
opines, apply to the LIA and require amongst other things an explicit
and exhaustive delegation, Article 107 states that:

"Pergons holding senivi and Supervisory positions within the
administration way from time lo time delegate some of the
authorities entiusted to then o persons holding lower positions,
subject to the foliowing checks:

l. The delegation must be for reasons of official interest;

2. The. delegation must be of certain defined authorities;

3 The delegation must not exceed the authorities granted the
official;

4. The delegation must be explicit and must exhaustively state
the tasks delegated;

5. The delegation mist be made in writing. "

the Plaintiff aiso submitted that the Third Defendant Resolution could not be

‘treated as valid on the other Libyan law grounds relied o by the Defendants,

namgly the presumption of validity, ratification and apparent mandate;

(i},

23-26). The reliance on the presumption contained in the Defendan,

the Plaintiff submitted that it was common ground that any
presumption of validity was a Libyan rule of evidence so that it was
inapprepriate for the Cayman Istands Court to apply it (in reliance on
Dicey, Morris and Collins or the Congflict of Laws (15th ed, 2012)
paragraphs [7-0021-{7-0031). In any case, the Plaintiff submitted, M
Elgharabli accepted that, if the Third Defendant Resolution was non-
existent, this presumption did not prevent this Court from holding that

it is of nio legal effect (see Mr Elgharabli’s Reply Report paragraphs




pleadings (in paragraph 122 of the Defence and Counterclaim)

therefore fell away,

(i), the Plaintiff also submitted that the Defendanis were unable to rely
on the ratification of the Third Defendant Resolution since- it ‘was
now commen ground that if the Third Defendant Resolution was
non-existent, it could not be ratified (citing Ms Bakir's First Report
at paragraphs 117119 and Mr Elgharabli’s Reply Repert. at
paragraph 51) The vatification issue only arises if the Third
Defendant Resolution was non-existent and so 1o issue of
vatification can fall for decision. The pleading of ratification in
paragraph 123 of the Defence and Counterclalim thérefore fell away.

(ii).  the Plaintiff further submitted that the Defendants cannot rely on the
ostensible authority of Mr Benyezza as Chairman and executive
direetor of the LIA to bind the LIA. The Plaintiff says that Mr
Elgharabli argued that there could bhe an apparent mandate (a
Libyan law concept somewhat analogous to ostensible autherity in
Cayman Islands law) between Dr Jehaniand Mr Baruni, on the one
hand, and the LIA, on the other (Mr Elgharabli’s First Report,
paragraph [58]). But the Plaintiffrelied on the opinion of Ms Bakir
that, as the Plaintiff did ot rely on any belief, it could not be
affected or bound by-any apparent mandate (s¢e Ms Bakir’s Reply
Report, paragraphs 130—13%and 212-215). The Plaintiff also relied
on Ms Bakir's opinion that apparent mandate can have no
application to a non-existent decision (see parageaph 217 of Ms
Bakir’s Reply Report).

199, The Plaintiff*s position in relation to the First Defendant Resolution was as Tollows:

(a).  the Plaintiff's case was that there was no decision of the LAP Steuring

Committee (and the Plaintiff submitted that it was common ground that
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(b).
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Steering Commiittee was the only hody authorised to make such.a decision on

behalf of the LAP)to appoint or remove directors of the First Defendant and, in

consequence, the First Defendant Resolution was nonexistent.

the Plaintiff submitted that the Court did not have an adequate basis to make a
finding that such a decision was made. The 26 March 2014 LAP Steering
Committee meetinig minutes that the Defendants have disclosed indicate that the

LIA wag not authorised to take any action without “the prior consent of the [LAP]

managenteny”, Theie was, the Plaintiff says, no sufficient evidence of that

consent having been given;

().

(it}

(iti).

the Defendarits have not sought to explain what (in particular who)
is meant by the “LAP management”. Noris there any evidence from
such a person. The Plaintiff submits that the Court should be very
slow in these circumstances to infer consent, in cifclimistances
where (1) the etmails disclosed by Defendants show that Mr Breish,
Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni were frequently in contact with the. LAP,
in particular Mr Ali Hebry (the LAP Chairman} and Mr Kashada
(the LAP CEO) and (2) there is no explanation of why evidence was

not obtained from them on these matters.,

the emails that the Defendants disclosed demonstrate that the LAP

resisted providing a power of attorney for a significant period of time,

They do not show that the LIA told the LAP that its plan was te

change the directors of the Funds, Accordingly, it is impossible to
infer from the bare provision of the power of attorney whether the

“LAP management” agreed to what the LIA was proposing or not.

the Defendanis instead rely, in order to establish the approval of the
'LAP, on Mr Hebry’s attendance at the 4 May Meeting of the LIA
‘Board of Directors. But the 4 May Meeting Minutes do not record Mr




(c).

(iv),

V).

i),

less that he agreed on behalf of and as, the LAP managsment. The
emails show that Mr Kashsda was the LAP’s Managing Director so
that it is to be expected that the approval of the LAP’s mariagement
would come from him. But thete is nothing that suggests that he
agreed to the LIA’s plan.

the Defendants cannot ety on the September 2014 LIA Board of

Directors meeting to suggest that the LAP had approved (or given its
assentto} the actions that oceurred on 8 July 2014 (it is untenable to
suggest that the authorisation requived by the 26 March 2014 LAP

minutes meant anything other than approval'in advance),

Ms Bakirexplains that, if the LAP Steering Committee did riof decide
to appoint or remove the directors of the First Defendant, thern Mr
Hebry (the LAP Steering Commities’s Chairman and General
Manager) did not have authority to appoint/remove dirgctors of the
First Defendant (and this is common ground). It is further commen
ground that the power of attofhey issued ty Mr Hebry'to Dr Jehani
conferred only-authority that Mr Hebry himself had. Accordingly, in
the absence of a decision of (or completed authorisation from) the LAP
Steering Committee to do so, the power of attorneydid not authorise

‘Dr Jehani to appeint/temove directors of the First Defendant,

Ms Bakir also explaing thai, in these circumstances, the First

Defendant Resolution is & usurpation of the authority of the LAP

that.Dr Jehani-was not an “unrelated individual” to the LAP so that
the defect.of az;;f_thﬁox‘i._ty- was a.simple defect, not a usurpation or gross
defect the Plaintiff submits that the opinion of Ms Bakir is to be

preferred.

the Plaintiff submitted, in the alternative, that the First Defendant Resolution
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was non-existent also because: (1) under the LAP Articles, the Chairman did not
have the authority to implement or execute a decision of the Steering Committee
(on a matter within fis areas of responsibility) and (2) theie was no delegation
to Dr Jehani to implement any decision-to appoint or remove directors of the
First Defendant:

(i). there was no evidence of any such delegation. This, the Plaintiff says,
is unsurprising when there was no decision to appoint or remove
directors of the First Defendant and the Plaintiff submits that the

Court should conclude that there is none.

{ii). the Plaintiff notes that Mr Elgharabli opines that the Chairman has
authority_ under the LAP Articles to implement a Boatd decision.
However the Plaintiff says that the opinion of Ms Bakir is to be
prefeired. She explains why Mr Elgharabli is wrong to say there is no
general rule requiring such delegation and why he is wrong to suggest
that any of the provisions In LAP Articles which he mentions confer
such authority,

(iif).. the Plaintiff also noted that during his cross-examination M
Elgharabli eriticised Ms Bakir for her interptetation of the LAP Articles
as requiring delegation. The Plainiiff submits that Mr Elgharabh
accepied that the LAP Board did have authority to decide how a
decision is implemented and that in relation to the LIA the Board’s
competences are exclusive and did not suggest otherwise for the LAP,
Accordingly, hie accepted, the Plaintiff says, the main premise of Ms
Bakir’s argument, namely that the matters that are the subject of
delegation are in the authority of the Board, from which it follows

that for others to exercise those authorities, they must be delegated.

the Plaintiff also submitted that the presumption of validity, ratification and

%

[




-validate the First. Defondant Resolution, for similar reasons to those it puf

forward in relation to the Third Defendant Reselution, As the PlaintifT argued

in relation to the Third Defendant Resolution, it submitted that the Court should

not apply a Libyan law presumption of evidence and that, in any case, My

'Elg_harabl‘i had aceepted, as noted above, that the presumption does not prevent
the Court from holding that the First Defendant Resolution is of o legal effect.

“The-argument based on ratification was of no assistance and Mr Elgharabli did

not suggest that apparent mandate had any possible application to the LAP and
the First Defendant Resohution,

200.  The Plaintiff*s pesition in relation to the Second Defendant Resolition was as

follows:

(a).

(b).
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the Plaintiff’s case was that the Second Defendant Resolution was not®

authorised forthree independent reasons:

(0.

(i)

(liiy.

the LFB’s Board of Directors did not decide to remove the Plaintiff
and appoint Dr Jehaii and Mr Baruni as direclors of the Second
Defendant. This meant that, firstly the Second Defendant Resolution
was absolutely null, because it was made in breach of the LFB
Articles of Assoeiation; and secondly that in any event, its making
was outwith. Dr Jehani®s authority se it does not bind the LEB:

‘the LFB Board did not delegate to Dr Jehani implementation of any

dooision fo appoint or remeve direotors (with the same legal

consequences); and

the LIA was tho beneficial owner of the shares in the Second
Defendant, but the LIA Board of Dirgetois did not decide to appoint

or remove directors of the Second Defendant.

the Plaintlff submitted that there was no evidence of dny decision by thiwmem,:




- (&)

().
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LFB Board of Directors to appoint o temove directors of the Second
Defendant. The Plaintiff notes that minutes purporting to show board level
decisions have been produced by the Defendants for the LIA and the LAP but
not for the LFB. There is no explanation of why this is the case — the emails
disclased by the Defendants between Mr Baruni, Mr Breish and Dr Jehani show
that they were in frequent contact with LFB and so should be aware of the LEB
decision making process — and the Plaintiff submits that the Court should find

that neo such decision was made.

the Plaintiff submits that, alternatively, the Second Defendant Resolution was
null and of no legal effect, and/or not authorised and binding on the LFB,
because: (1) in reliance on the opinion of Ms Bakir, under the LFB Articles of
Association, the Board had authority for decisions pertaining to shareholdings
and under Article 187 of Law No. {23) of 2010 (the Commercinl Law), a Board
may delegate some authority to a Board member, but without such a delegation
the Chief Executive Officer does not have the authority to implement or execute
a decision of the Board (on a matter within its areas of responsibility); and (2)
there was no delegation to Dr Jehani to implement any decision to appoint or
remove directors of the Second Defendant. There is no evidence of any such
delegation, which the Plaintiff says is unsurprising since there was no Board

decision to appoint/remove directors.

in the further alternative, the Plaintiff argues that the Second Defendant
‘Resolution was not authorised iay ar on behalf of the LIA and its making was a
usurpation. The Plaintiff relies on Ms Bakir's opinion that, if the LIA was the
beneficial owner of the shares in the Second Defendant, then under Law No. 13
of 2010 the LIA Board must in addition to the LFB Board approve any changs to
the directors of the Second Defendant. The Plaintiff submits that the approval of
both boards was needed (and that Mr Elgharabli’s opinton that only the LIA
Board’s approval was needed is inconsistent with the LFB’s Articles of

Assosiation and should be rejected). In support of its case that there was, in fact,

no approval given by or on bghalf of the LIA the Plaintiff relies on: Mr Breish’s




4 May 2014 email to Mr Baruni and Dr Jghani which suggests that the LIA did
not at its 4 May Meeting make any decision-about the removal-of the directors of
the Second Defendant; Mr Braish’s own evidence in his witness statement that a
decision was made only in relation to the *LI4 and LAP” (see paragraph 49 of his
witness statemont); and the terms of the 4 May Meeting Minutes which record
that the LIA was seeking, but had not received, 4 power of attorigy from the
ESDF,

The Authority Point— the Defendanits’ case in detadl

201. ‘The Defendants argue-that the Resolutions are valid as a matter of Libyan law either

because they were made with actual authority or alternatively, if they suffered from a

defect in authority, this was a simple defect and the Resolutions-are: now immune from

challenge.

202, ‘Butthe Defendants alsorely, as I have .alr‘erady explained, on Cayman [slands law. They

submitted that the Resolutions were valid on the basis of four grounds which [ have

brietly referred to-above, These four grounds or arguments are as follows:

(&) ;

(b).
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that the Articles of Association of each of the Funds operated to validate the
Resolutions (the Articles Arguments). There wete two Separate arguments:
made by the Defendants based on the Articles. The fest (the First Articles
Argument) was made by reference to Article 88, and was that each Resolution
was passed by a person whe under the Articles 'was what the Defendants term
an Authorised Representative so that the Resolution was valid under the terms
of the Articles, regardless of ary issucs of internal management or corporate
governanee at the level of the Libyan investor. The -segdnd argumént,.‘maée b_y
reference to Atticle 77, (the Second Ariicles Argument) was that each
Resolution was executed by ot on behalf of the relevant ,Libyan investor and

was therefore as effective as a vote in a general meeting;

that the Duomatic principle operated to-validate the Resolutions (the Dia




Argument),

{c).  that the principles of ostensible authority, agency and estoppel validated the
Resolutions (the Agency Argument); and/or

(d).  the Resolutions should be presumed valid as a matter of Cayman Islands law

(the Presumptive Validity Argument).

203.  The Defendants thercfore argued that Libyan law only has limited relevence. They say
that if they succeed on the first of their two Articles Arguments, or
the Presumptive Validity Argument or the Duomatic Argument, then the Resolutions
are valid and there is ne need to consider Libyan law at all. But if they do not succeed
on either their First Articles Argument or the Presumptive Validity Argument, thenthey
accept that it will be necessary to consider Libyan law but only to the following extent;

{a).  inrelation to the Second Articles Argument, Libyan law is only relevant to
determine the effect of the relevant constitutional documents. The Defendants
submit that both Libyan law experts were agreed that the constitutional
documents of the L1A, the LAP and the LFB granted representative powers to
Mr Benyezza, Mr Hebry and Mr Ben Yousef respectively,

(b). inrelation to the Agency Argument, Libyan law was only relevant to determine
whether the Chairman of the LIA and the LAP and the Geneéral Manager of the
LFB had apparent anthority to bind the relevant Libyan Investor. The
Defendants submitted that both Libyan law- experts were agreed that the
refevant constitutional documents of the LIA, the LAP and the LFB granted
representative powers to Mr Benyezza, Mr Hebry and Mr Ben Yousef
respectively so that at the very least, those Chairmen/that General Manager had

apparent authority to bind the LIA Board and the LAP Steering Committee.

The Cayman Islands law arguments

(NS} Judgment
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204, Asregardsthe First Articlés Argument:

(a).
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the Defendants rely, based on Cayman Islands law and their construction of the

Articles, on seven propositions:

(.

().

(i),

(iv).

v

member in his own right. In the case of ari individiial member voting i

his own right no limitation of authority can arise. In this it

members may by-ordinary resolution remove and appoint directors.

otdinary resolutions can be passed by the merbers entitled to vote at
& goneral meeting,
written resolutions passed by those entitled to vote at general

meetings are effective as if passed at general meeting.

in the case of a body corporate or other non-natural person the person
entitled to vote on its behalf at a general meeting is the ‘person
authorised by its constitutional docnments to rict ds its represeritdtive
at any meeting of the company (the Authorised Representative). If
there is nione, then the Authorised Representative can be a person

authorised by resolution of its governing bady.

a.vote by an Authorised Representative is valid notwithstanding that
it is not specifically authorised by the member on whose behalf it is
cast 45 a matter of that member’s own internal management or
governance, The Defendants say that where it is engaged the
consequence for which Article 88 stipulates is that “ ... the person so

quihorised shall be entitled to.exarcise the same powers on behalf of the.

corporation whick he represenis as the corporation covld exercise as if it

were an individyal member...”. Tt does not iimit the powers that the person
can‘exercise. It does not, for example, stipylate that the person shall be

entitled to exercise such powers as have been conferred on him. On the

contrary, it equates votes cast by that person to votes cast by an individual




(b).
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(vi}.

(vid).

coneern seen elsewhere in the Articles to promote certainty in the

company’s affairs, where necessary by iefererice to deemed validity.

if thersfore a unanimous written resolution to change directors is
passed by the Authorised Representative then it is valid and binding
notwithstanding that as a matter of the internal management or

governance of the member in question it is not properly authorised,

what is required before a person is an Authorised Representative
is'a.question of consiruction of the Articles. Under the Articles the
authority in question is 8 general authority to act as the member’s
representative at-a general meeting and not a specific authority to
pass a particular vote. The Defendants argue that once you have
identified & person with such authority you have identified the

Authorised Representative,

the consequences of these propasitions and this argument is said by the

Defendants to be as follows:

)

(ii).

as regards the LIA and Mr BenyeZzza: Mr Benyezza was the
Authorised Representative of the LIA because of his represontative

‘powers under Law No, 13 of 2010 and he signed the Third Defendant

Resolution. Accordingly, the Third Defendant Resolution was valid
{regardless of the position within the LIA under Libyan law or

otherwise),

as regards the LAP and Mr Hebry: Mr Hebry was the
Autherised Representative of the LAP because of his representative
powers under its Articles and he executed the First Defendant
Resolution by his attorney-in-fact Dr Jehani. Accordingly, the First
Defendant Resolution was valid (regardless of the position within the

LAP onder Libyan law or otherwise).




203.

206.
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As regards the First Defendant Resolution the Defendants noted that.
the form of the LAP Power of Attoiney that was sentto the LIA under
agovering lefter dated. 18 June 2014-was itself dated 13 March 2014,
But they say that this was not the date oh which the power of attorney
was. finalised and that, ‘while it was not elear exactly when it was
finalised, it was dertainly before the letter and document were sent to-
the LIA on 18 June 2014, It was therefore certairily before Dr Jehani
signed the First Defendant Resolution,

(iii}.  as regards the LFB and Mr Ben Yousef: Mr Ben Yousef was
the Authorised Representative of the LFB because of his
representative powers under its Articles and hé executed the Second
Defendant Resolution by his attorney-in-fact Dr Jehani. Accordingly,
the Second Defendant Resolution was valid {regardless of the
position within the LFB under Libyan law).

As regards the Second Articles Argument, the Deféndants siibinitted that the Second

Artictes Argument raised the question for each Resolution whether or not it was an act

of the sharcholder, the respective Libyan Investor. That was said to be a:question of

atiribution which the Defendants say falls to be determined by the rules set out in
Meridiom Global Funds Maragement Asia Lid v Securities Commission [1995]2: AC
500 -and is resolved by the rules of attribution and agency diseussed in this case.

As regards the Duematic Argument:

(). the Defendants submitted that if there were formal defects under the Articles
but a sufficient maniféstation of assent by the relevant Libyan Investor as
sharcholdet, the Duomatic principle .operat‘aé to c¢ure the want of formal

validity,

(b).  the Defendants in their elosing submissions summarised tite ‘propositi
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lew and authorities on which they rely as follows:

(i)-

(i),

(iii).

(iv).

the Duomatic principle operates such that where a decision is taken
with the informal but unanimous assent of the shareholders it will be
legally effective, notwithstanding any formal deficiencies: Monecor
v Euro Brokers [2003] EWCA Civ 105;

the principle applies to a sole shareholder company: Wright v Atlas
Wright (Europe) Ltd [1999] 2 BCLC 301 (CA) at 175C;

where shares are held on a bare trust, such that {1) the beneficial
owner can compel the legal wner’s consent or (2) the legal owner
has expressly orimpliedly authorised the beneficial owner ta exercise
thevoting rights on their behalf, the assent of the beneficial owner is
sufficient for the Duomatic principle to apply. The Defendants rely
on the analysis and authorities set out in Gower Principles of Modern
Comparny Law, 10th edn (2016, by Paul L Davies and Sarah
Worthington) (Gower) at paragraphs 15-17 where the authors say: “j
the trustee could be compelled to vole in accordarice with the wishes
of the beneficial vwners, then their consents arve effective for the

purpose of the [Duomatic] rule” (“the Gower approach™,

the position taken in Gower is supported by the judgment of Hart J in
Deakin v Faulding (2001) 98(35) L.S.G. 32 (31 July 2001) (Deakin)

- where the proposition formed patt of the ratio of the case, Hart J said as

follows;

“Mr-Kosmin submitted. that, as a matter of low, the assent of the
shareholder himself must be proved, and that it was not sufficient
simply to show that assert had been given by the bengficial wvner of
a share held by a nominee. He cited In Re New Cedos .. as guthority
Jor that propesiiion. 1 am wnable, however, to derive any such
praposition from my reading of that case. Nor do [ seé why as a
mtatter of prineiple it should be regardsd as itorvect We are
voncerned Here with the application of the equitgble rule that a

Jiduciary musi not profit from his office vilthout consent of the, .
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(V).

{vi}

(vii)

corporators. Where a person ... bad an equity to compel a consent, 1
see no reason why-equity should not have regard to the position of
the beneficial as-vpposed to the legal owner in iis application of the
rule™

in . Shahar v Tsitsekkos [2004] EWHC 2659 (Ch) Mann J had (albelt
obiter) taken the view that the consent of the beneficial owner will be
sufficient, at loast where the registered shareholder hag feft the
decisions to the beneficial ownsr so that the consent of the beneficial
owngt is to be treated as the consent of the registered shareholder.
Mann J had said that (at paragraph 67}

(i}t seems to me that the point of principle. velied.on by My Tager
(namely; that the Duomatic principle don never apply to the consent of
-a bengfiokal but non-registered ownee) is not clearly right, and itshowld
not be determined on a simmary Jua’gm@nt app!teqtton such as this, In
factmy view is that as a stivement of, ‘priviciple it is wiong, I do not see
why in e appropriate case the prineiple showld gt operate in relation
o the corisent gr informed participition of & benficial owner of shares
iFthe facts justify It. Ir may well be thar the.appropriate anadisis is the
agency qrgument—in many cases it will doubtless be possible to-argue
that ‘a nominee shareholder has lefe all the real decisions to his
beneficiary so that techmicaliy the consent of the bengficiary is the
consent of theregisteréd shareholder.”

in Twlsesense Ltd Re [2010] EWHC 244 (Ch) Newey J consideting the
situation where thete was more than: one beneficial owner of a shave, was
willing to assume, without deciding the point, that the beneficial owner’s

assent engages the principle;

the Deatkin analysis and the Gower approach were to be preferred to
the conirary views expressed in other authorities. The Defendants
referred to the decision of Supreme Court of Queensland i Jalmoorn
Pty Lid (In Liguidation) v Bow (1997) 15 ACLC 230 (which held that

the consent of the registered owner was required), of Lindsay T in

Domoneyv Godhino [2004] EWHC 328 (in which the couit had recognised
that there were arguments both ways) and the obiter dictn in Secretary of
State for Businiess Innovation and Skills v Hamilton [2015] CSOH 46




at [39] (which noted the uncertain state of the law on this issue);

(viil),  the wider approach was supported by the discussion in Kosmin and
Roberts, Company Meetings and Resolutions 2™ edn (2013)
(Kosmin) paragraph 16.34:

"It can fairly be conclyded from the above analysis that the rofe of
the bengficial vwner in the application of the Dusmatic principle
remains unsettled in English law. However, In most cdses the
problem may be svaed by consideration of the rules of agenay

Where it can be shown that the benefivial pwner is actl
for the nominge the consent of the beneficiory. will property be
regarded us including the comsent of the nominge repisiered
shareholder. Where ng agency relationship can be shown ta exlst
it is unlikely that the court would hold thut the Duomalic principle
is appiicable. I the Interests of certainty it will simply look at the
ister of members and the position of the registered legal
members.” [underlintng added)

(ix),  the persons giving their assent must have been aware of sufficient
details of the transaction, such that their assent ¢an be described as
inforined, citing Kosmin at [16.11(3)];

(x). assent may be express or by acquiescenee; verbal or by conduct; at
different times or simultancously; before, at the time of or
subsequent to the fransaction, citing, infer alia, Kosmin at [16,11(3)]
and £1C Services Lid v Phipps [2003] EWHEC 1507 {Ch).

207, The Defendants also relied on what they described as the presumption of validity. They
argued that the prosumption arising under Cayman Islands law appfied to and could be
relied on to establish the validity of all of the Resolutions. They also argued that there
was & presumption under Libyan law which applied to decisions of state and
administrative bodies and therefore was refied on to establish the validity of the First
Defendant Resolution and the Third Defendant Reselution. In their closing submissions

they summarised their submissions on the Cayman Islands law presumption as follows;
(a).  there is a maxim of the common law that applies to commercial transéctie
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(b).

and acts and public acts and establishes a presumption that sverything his been
done according to due form. They refer to a passage from Phipson on Evidence
(19™ ed., at [6-30]) dealing with the due performance. of ptiblic er official acts
which states that “On the praof that a public orofficial act has beer performed
it is presuried that the act has been regularly and properly performed. Persons
acting in public capacities are presumed 1o hieve been regulirly and properly
appointed” and say that the-maxim has wide application,

the maxim applies to commercial transactions such that where there is proof of
the intention to do a formal act, and the evidence is consistent with that
intention having been carrded intg effect in t_h_e;f—pmper‘ way but there is no proof
of the formalities having been complied with, there is a presumption that the
corect formalities were followed, They cite and rely on the following
autherities: Harris v Knight (1890) 15 P.D. 170, 179-180; Sovereign Trustees
v Glover [2007] EWHC 3460 (Ch), at paragraphs 39-40; Entrust Pension
Limited v Prospeat'ﬂgsp;ﬁee Limited [2012] EWHC 3460 (Ch); [2013] Pens.
L.R. 73 at paragraphs 39-40; Trustees of the Scottish Soh'_c;iiom_ﬁtcﬂ Pension
Fund v Pattison & Sim [2016] 8C 284 at paragraphs 19-21 and Johnston Press
Pension Plan Trustees v Sedgwick Noble Lowndes Lid [2017] CSOH 21 at
paragraph §.

208. 1 have already explained the Plaintiff’s position on the application of the-‘prasumptign

of validity under Libyan law, As regards the Caymen Islands presumption relied on by

the Defeﬁdants_,-the Plaintiff argued that:
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documents and the Court had heard from the Defendants” ‘witnes:

the-authorities relied on were of ne assistance and did not apply in the present

case. This was because first they concern situafions where thére has been a

significant effluxion of time. (many years), Here, by contrast, the events in

question acourred less than four yeats ago. Seconidly and in consequence, they

¢onsider situations-where it Is not within the power.of either party fo prove its

case, Here, by contrast the parties have access to some contemporancous




209,

{b).

attended relevant board meetings and were involved in the internal processes
of the Libyan Investors. Furthermore the Defendants and their witnesses had
produced documents from which the Court could make findings of fact and
teach a view on the issues in dispute - even though the Defendants were
criticised for selectively obtaining and producing some, but not all, relevant
documents refating to LIA méetings and to the Libyan Investors (to which the
Plaintiff had no aceess) and asserting the LIA’s legal privilege as a reason for
not producing critical documents. In any event this was not a case where it was
necessary for the Court to apply 4 presumption of regularity: contemporansous
documentation was available, Since the Defendants had generally been able to
obtain and had produced documents when it suited their case the Court was
asked, when evaluating the evidence, to bear in mind Lord Mansfield’s dictum
that: “all evidence is to be weighed according to the proof which it was in the
power of one side jo have produced, and in the power of the other to have
coniradicted”: Blatch v Archer (1774) 1 Cowp 63.

having said that, the Plaintiff accepted that it bore the burden of establishing
the facts it asserted. But the Defendants bore the burden of establishing the
facts that they asserted. The usual principle that “he who asserts must prove”

applied.

Shortly after the conclusion of the trial the English Court of Appeal handed down a

decision that discussed the presumption of validity (and the Duomatic principle). This

was Shannan v Viavi Solutions UK Lid [2018} EWCA Civ 681 (Skannan). It seemed

to me to be important to take this decision into account and 1 therefore invited the

parties to file further written submissions if they wished to do so on whether they

wished to rely on Shannan, The Plaintiff and Defendants filed further submissions

(a).

‘which I'summarise briefly here:

the Plaintiff argued that Shamman confirmed and made clear that the

presumption was in fact no presumption in any meaningful sense but only a
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(b).

ot enable an inference that a consent was given (whers that was in issue) but

instead related only to the manner in which that consent is found to have heen
given and did not shift thé:-bzr:'den of proef away from the party that asserts the
existence of the consent, The Plaintiff also submitted that Asplin LJ had held
that there must be evidence thaf a decision was made-by the registered holder
of shares qua sharcholder, havin g applied jts ming and with the infentionto act
in the capacity as shareholder, The Defen dants were notable to show sufficiént

evidence to satisfy this test in the present case,

the Defendants took no position on whether the correct interpretation of the
presumption was a rule about adopting a common sense approach. to the
drawing of inferences rather than a formal evidential presumption. The key
point was that the presumption applies or inference may be diawn where
intention is proved and the evidence does riot show one-way or another whether
the formalities necessary to give effect to that intention are also present. The
Defendants submitted that in relation to each Fund there was evidence of the
relevant infention to change the dirgctors of the Fund and in light of that the

Court-should not be ready to conelude in the absence.of specific evidence that

the acts of the legal representatives and senior officers of each of the Libyan
Investors acted without the proper formalities having been complied with.
Furthermore, to the extent that it is necessary to show thai the decisions made
by the Libyan Investors {or ESDF) were being made qua shareholdsrs, the
evidence satisfied the test.

The Libyan law arguments

210, The Defendants submitted that (1) there was a decision of the LIA Board to remeve
the Phaintiff and appoint Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni as directors of each of the Funds

(which was sufficient to appoint and remove the directors.of all of the Funds); (2) there

wete no binding customary formal requirements which applied to require the desision

(or decisions) to be separately documented and issued as a decision (or decisions) of
the LIA Board; and (3) there wag no requirement for the LIA Board to make a distinet
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and separate or indeed any decision to delegate to Mr Benyezza the authority to sign
the Third Defendant Resolution,

It appears that the Defendants argue that a decision by the LIA Board was sufficient
and was in fact made in relation to the exercise of all three of the Libyan Investors as
shareholders in the Funds. This is becatsse, it is argued, the LAP Steering Committee
authorised the LIA Board, and the ESDF and LFB Boards authorised the LIA Board
(orat least the LIA Board had authority to take decisions in respect of the shares in the
Second Defendant), to make 4 decision in relation to the removal and appointment of

directors of the relevant Funds:

(a).  atthe meeting of the LAP Steering Committee on 26 March 2014 it decided to
grant the authorisation requested by the LIA and the minutes of this meeting
record that (1) the Director-General stated that there were no objections 1o
granting the LIA the requested authority; (2) the LAP Steering Conmittee
members decided to grant the authorisation; and (3) decisions made by the LIA
under the authorisation were to be approved by the LAP “management” (not
the LAP Steering Commitiee as a whole) (and there was no recorded objection

from any member of the Steering Committee).

(b).  since the LIA is the beneficial owner of the shares in the Second Defendant the
LFB performed the services of investment trustee and held the shares as an
investment portfolio for the LEA and, when providing such services, the LFB
was required to act on the instructions of its clients including the LIA, so that
there was no requirement for the LFB Board separately to authorise the Second

Defendarnt Reschition.

As regards the LIA, the evidence which the Defendants rely on in support of their
submission that a decision was in fact made by the LIA Board to remove and appoint

divectors of the Funds (including to exercise its rights as shareholder in the Third




(@)

(b).
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the Defendants submit that the LIA Board decided upon the appoirtment and
removal of directors of the Funds at the'd May:Meeting, The Defendants rely
on the 4 -M:ay Mee_tin_g and argué that, read as a whaole, the minutes sustain a
single: sensible interpretation: that the LIA was tinhappy with the Plaintiff as
investment manager and resolved to work together with the LAP and ESDF to
(1) appoint Dr Jehani and Mr Barunf & diréetors of the Funds; and (2) remove
the Plaintiff (who in the context of the minutes — in particular the concemn
registered with regard to the Plaintiffs failure to provide information — eould
not plausibly be the “cooperative ard informative™ direstor that the Board
decided to'retain). That is exactly what happened. Mr Murngesu was Tefton the
board, Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni replaced the Plaintiff.

the Defendants. rely in particular an following parts of the 4 May Meeting

Minutes:

). the Chairman reported thei. “there wére several issues concerning”
the Palladyne investment, including “the high nianagement feis, the
wnbiguity sirrounding this partfolio, and the LIA"s tnability 1o obigin

any clear information aboi the ampinis invested in this portfolio”.
(i), the Chairman repoits that the legal committee recommended working
with Enyo as “they would be stricter in deafling with those

responsible for the Palladyne portfolio”.

LEI .

(lif). the. “procedures called for now” included the “nepd to change the

Palladyne porifolio’s Board of Directors”,

(iv). in relation to the “three” directors of the Funds, the LIA’s aftorney

proposed keeping on onig -of them who was “cooperative and

informative ™ whilst “replacing the other two”,
74 g

(v).




()
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M Ali Al-Barouni [sic] ... because what they are asked to de is to
approve some of the decisions required of LIA's atiorney for the
liquidation of this portfolia®,

finally, the minutes nots that the Board of Directors “#ave discussed
this issue, imd have decided to approve the appointment of Dy Ahmed
AlJahani [sic] and Mr Ali Al-Barouni [sic] without allotting them

any remuneration”.

the Defendants say that it is clear from the minutes that a proposal was made
by Mr Breish:

(i),

(i),

(i),

(iv).

* ... we need to change the Palladyne Pertfolio’s board of directors
... The Defendants say that the words “Palladyne Porifolio” refer
to-all three of the Funds (referring to the heading to this part of the

minutes and the opening thrse senténces),

“ .. there are three members on the Palladyne's Portafolio’s Board
of Directors, onz of whom the LIA s attorney proposes keeping on ...
while veplacing the other two ...”, The mistake as to number (three
directors when there were two) does not change the meaning of the
proposal to replace. The identity of those being removed is not in
doubt, because the one who is being kept on is the one who is co-
operative and informative. Even if he is not named he is sufficiently
identified. It is clear that the proposal is that only he remains,

“. ln that regard the Chairman proposed appointing Dr Ahmed
Jehani and Mr-Alt Al-Barouni ...”. The words “in that vegard™ clearly

refer, the Defendants® submit, to the proposal to “replace™.

‘thie decision of the LIA Board after the discussion is recorded ag ..

The Board of Diraciors have discussed this issue and deci




approve the appointment of Dy Awmed Al-Jahani and My Ali Al
Barouni ... The appointment thit they were approving was the one
being proposed by Mr Breish,

(d}.  the Defendants also s:e’Iy on the evidenge of Mr Brei’sh_, Mr-Benyezza, and Mr

Ismial both in their witness statemerts and in cross-examination,

The Defendants say that they confitmed that the appointment of Dr Jehatii and
Mr Baruni and the removal of the Plaintiff had been decided upon at the 4 May
Meeting, with. no objections, .and that the: minutes of that meeting were

accurate,

During his vross examination Mr Brelsh stated that at the 4 May Meéting the
Board did “indeed take action and they resolved to iake: certain aciion as far
as their relationship with [the PZ&M@&]" ‘was concérned and that the Board
“resolved wngnimously the decision”, Mr Breish further assisted the Coust by
providing a fransiation and textual analysis of the Arabic fanguage version of
the minutes and said, in responise to niy quéstion a5 to whather théte was one
Arabic word that transldtes into the word used in the English translation ¢
“decided”) by referring to “Qararat almuafuga” which he said meant “decided

‘to agree; in-other words, resplved,

Mr Benyerza had stated ;d,ufing cross-examination that “the hogrd decided jo”
change the directors of the Funds and that at the 4 May Meeting “Mr Breish
_presented and agreed with the hoard memibers, so the matter is- taken by all the
board members in establishing this straregy™. The Defendants noted that when.
challenged by the Plaintiff’s counsel on whether a deeision {as opposed o a
decisfon in principle) had been made, Mr Benyezza respanded unequivocally:
“it's o decision, It 'is g decision. Noy i pringiple, It is @ decision. 4 firts

decision”,

Mr Ismial had also stated during his cross-examination that “there is ardecision -

and it Is —appraved then the notice in minmes of the meeting”,
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().  the Defendants also rely on the email sent by Mr Breish to Mr Baruni
immediately following the 4 May Meeting as being consistent with Mr
Breish’s oral and written evidence that the decision was made: it stated that
“a Board resolution was taken today to have you and Dy Jehani represent
LIA and LAP", The Defendants submit that this email is strong evidence of
Mr Breish’s contemporaneous understanding of what had taken place that,

same day.

(f).  the Defendants rely also on the proceedings at and minutes of the LIA Board
meeting on 29 September 2014, They say that at this meeting the LIA Board
agreed (and assented either by conduet or acquiescence) to the decision made
at the. 4 May Meeting and the subsequent Resolutions. They submit that the
September meeting is also strong corroborating evidence of the fact that

agreement (and assent) were given at the 4 May Meeting, In particular:

{i). the record of the meeting shows that: (1) Mr Hebry, Mr Benyezza,
Dt Gergab and Dr Mahmoud were present; (2} Dr Jehani gave a.
presentation on the progress of the legal cases; (3) the progress in
relation to management of the Funds and the Plaintiff’s position
was discussed; {4) there was no recorded dissent from any of those
present to the actions taken by Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni as
directors of the Funds; and (5) the Board approved further funding

in various legal actions against the Plaintiff,

(i1). Mr Beunyezza states in his witness statement (at paragraph 40) that at
the 29 September mecting the LIA Board was *fully aware” of the
action taken in relation to the Funds and raised no objections to that

action,

(2).  The Defendants further rely on emails sent in December 2014 and the separate
LIA Board decisions Nos 21 and 25 as evidence of the Board’s agreem
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the 4 May Mesting) and assent (subsequently) to the remaval of the Plaintiff
and the passing of the Resolutions required for that purpose;

On 7 December2014, Dr Jehani forwarded an einail from Enyo Law tp Messis

‘Hebry, Mahmoud, Bovhadi, Benyezza, Aftiga, Gergab, Baruni, Ismial (le.
those present at the 29 September 2014 LIA Board tegting, plus Mr Baruni).

While substantial parts of the email and a nuimber of the attached resoliitions
have beett redacted, the unredacted parts include a request for “concurrence
with the proposed resolutions” and a draft decision of the LIA Board. (The

draft decision which was circulated was to become Decision Na. 25),

The additional decision ¢irculated in drafi wa,&“‘fexpres;sed to be further to an
eatlier decision alse issued foltowing the 29 September 2014 meeting, This was

decision No. 21 which appears to have been dated 8 October 2014, In decision
No. 21 the LIA Board had confirmed “that at all material times [Briyo Wiadimirgfl
and Appleby] have been authorised by the [LIA} Board {o take steps to remave [the

Plaintiff] as divector and investinent manager of [the Third Defendant and the Second
Defendant} and deal with consequential staps therefo are authorised by the Chairman
of the Board as he deems approprinte,,.”,

It appears that Enyo congidered it to be necessary also to have a fusthier separate
written decision issued by the LIA Board (which became No. 25 dated 9
Decomber 2014) to confirm the appointment of the investigation and litigation
committee and-the authority of the commiites to give instructions to Enyo and
the ethet: advisers, The draft decision stated as follows:

“Further to Decision No 21 of 2014 confirming that at all material times
[Enyo, Wiadimirelf and App!eby] have been‘authorised by the [LIA] Bagrd
to take staps 1o remave {the Plaintiff] as dfrector and invéstment manager
of fthe Third Defendant und ‘the Second Defendent] and deal with
consequential steps therelo as aré authorised by the Chairman of the Board
as he deems appropriate, the Board lirehy ﬁm‘her resolves thal an
investigation and Iitigation éomuitiee comprising [Mr {smralj [Bw deliani]
and [Mr Baruni] gcting upanimausly be avithérised lo give instruciions to

{Enyo] and to any other profassional advisors in connection-with-the above o

mentionied matters ond that such authorily have effect from 1 Octohe




2’014;”

A further email sent on 7 December 2014 confirms the approval of Messts
Benyezza and Bouhadi; and an email from Dr Mahmoud sent on 8 December
2014 states: “Tapprove with all the best Ali hassan”.

(h).  the Defendants say that the matters set out in (#) to (g) above are consistent
with an intention to change the directors of the Third Defendant. They also

submit that this intention is further evidenced by the matters set out below:

(0. the Defendants rely on the email record and written evidence of
their witnesses {whick I have summarised above) which shows that
during the [ast quatter of 2013, Mr Breish and Mr Baruni became
concerned, based on the information _pro.vi'ded to them by journalists
and parties other than the Plaintiff regarding investigations and raids
by the US and Dutch authorities (and allegations of fraud), about the
management of and risks to the L1A s investments ard as to the

suitability of Plaintiff to be the investment manager of the Funds.

(i) the Defendants note that the LIA had also in the same period
instructed Foyo fo congider allegations against the Plaintiff and
instructed Deloitte to review all of the LIA’s investments, This had
resulted in the fetfer from Enyo to the Plaintef on 23 October 2013,
together with the subseguent correspondence I Have summarised
above which included statements made by Enyo that the LIA had
“great concernfs]” with regard to its investment and that the LIA
was nvestigating the Funds and would contemplate bringing
proceedings against the Plaintiff if those "imvestigations reveal

wrangdaing”;

(iiD). the Deféndants also note the formation of the litigation committee

in late February 2014 specifically to deal with the Funds and

proceed urgently (the emails refer to the need for the com o, {;g"%&
"ﬁ{,&’f"‘z
‘ iR B4
X 2 i M & H
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(iv)

(vi).

(vil).

“tmmediately come to a conclusion as to how best to resolve the
issue” and that Dr Jehani was to repory the conclusions of the legal
committee to Mr Breish on 14 March 2014),

the Defendants note that in March 2014 Bayo codfirmed 'to Mr
Baruni that the Plaintiff had been named as a defendant to
proceedings in the US that alleged that the Piaintiff was a front for
kickbacks and meney laundering and that in April 2014, Enyo had.
confirmed to Mr Baruni that the Plaintiff was under investigation by

the Duteh Publie Prosscutor for tax evasion arid maney larmdering,

the Defendants further noted that’-b_y‘ May 2014 it was known inLibya
(and within the LIA) that Mr Shukri Ghanem and his son Mohammed
had been accused of roeciving bribes and that Mr Breish and Mr
Baruni had concerns as to whether Mr Abudhet’s relationiship with
Mr Shukti Ghanem had been the reason why he had been appointed

48 the Funds® investment manager.
| &

Mr Breigh had confirmed in his oral evidence that the issues relating

to the Plaintiff arising out of the ‘press reparts,. the action ftaken by

‘the autherities, the allegations made in the litigation, the concemns

gbout Mr Abudher’s relativaship with Mr Shukri Ghanem and the

‘results of the Deloitte and Enyo investigations had led to 4 decision

‘to remové the Plaintiff as director of the Funds, During his cross-

examination Mr Breish had confitmed that “When it came to [the
Plaintiff] we didn’t want fo —[the Plaintiff], we didn’t want to
assoéiate ovrselves with an entity that had — that was in the press in
a negative way, and so this was one of the reasons we wanied to end’

the relationship. ...

the Defendants relied on Mr Breish’s evidence thiat the LIA




213.  Asregards the evidénce which the Defendants rely on in support of their sut
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{viii).

(%),

(x).

(xi).

stage was, as he said during his cross-examination, to “remove PIAM
as director and to secure the divectorships for our own people ond
then to look as to how we are going to proceed of hiring transition
manager” . Mr Benyezza also gave evidence of this two-stage

strategy,

the LIA s intention to remove the Plaintiff as director is reiterated in
the mitutes of the meeting of the LIA Board held in March 2014, in
which it is noted that there were some “troubled investments” and
that the LIA and the LAP had been considering the “strategy [to be]
used when dealing with the Palladyne Portfolio Manager, [Mr
Abudher]”.

the Defendants relied on the email from Mr Baruni to Mr Breish just
before the 4 May Meeting asking for instruetions as to who should
remain on the Funds® boards (and suggesting that Mr Murngesu be
retained as director of the Funds but that all other directors be

removed and Dr Jehani and himself be appointed in their place).

the Defendants relied on the fact that, immediately following the 4
May Meeting, Mr Breish had sent an email to Mr Baruni confirming
that an LIA Board r¢solution had been passed, that Dr Jehani and Mr
Baruni were to be appointed as directors of the Third and First
Detendants (and the Second Defendant once the power of attorney
from the LFB/ESDF had bzen provided).

The Defendants relied on the fact that the 4 May Meeting Minutes
were approved by the LIA Board at their meeting on 1 June 2014
and that Mr Benyezza had gone ahead and signed the Third

Defendatit Resolution on 8 July 2014.




that-a decision was made in relation to the First Deferidant by the LIA Board and the

LAP’s Steeting Contmittee, the Defendants submit that the matters set out below (in

relation to the deciston making of the LAP Steeting Committec) and 111 the paragraphs

immediately above are consistent with an intention of both the LAP Steering
Cominittee-and the LIA Board to ¢hange the directors of the Pirst Defendant. That
‘intention, they say, is further evidenced by the fact that the LIA had decided that it
was best for the Funds to have.a unified strategy to deal with the Plaintiff . The LAP

power of attorney was granted expressly for that veéason, following a decision of the

LAP Steering Committee and was specific to Balanced,”

214.  Having asserted that the LAP Steering Committee had authorised the LIA Board to act

on the L.AP’s behalf and make decisions with respect to the shares in the First

Defendant subject to the requirement that decisions made by the LIA under that

authorisation were to be approved by LAP “management”, the Defendants submit that

the requisite furtheér management approval is evidenced as follows:

{a).

(b).
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the approval came in the form of the power of attorney granted by Mr Hebry
(as Chairman of the LAP Steérinig Committee) to Dr Jehani and sent to the LTA
on 18 June 2014 under cover of the letter from Mr Kashadah (General Manager
of the LAP) which stated: “[bJased on your request, we refer to you the power
of attorney for the Palladyne Portfolio™,

Mr Hebry (the Chairman of the LAP-Stocring Committee) was in-attendance at
the 4 May Meeting at which the decision to remove the Plaint{ff was fhade. The.
Defendants submit that the minutes of that meeting note-that: (1) Mr-Hebry was-
presént and agreed to the course of action decided upon; (2) the LAP had
provided the LIA with a power of attarney to deal with the management of the.
First Defendant; and (3) the Chairman of the LIA Board reported that the LIA
would eoordinate the Libyan Investors’ approach to-temoving the Plaintiff as
manager of the Funds, and they note that there was ao recorded objection to this
approach from Mr Hebry.




{c).

Mr Hebry was also in attendance at the LIA Board meeting on 29 September
2014 at which, the Defendants submit, the LIA Board assented (either by
conduct or acquiescence) to the decision made-at the 4 May Meeting and to the
subsequent Resolutions. The record of that meeting in evidence notes that: (1)
Mr Hebry was present; (2) there is no record of any objection made by Mr
Hebey to the matters reported by Dr Jehani; and (3) on the contrary, Mr Hebry
(speaking in his capacity as head of the LAP Steering Committee) stated that
“any measure approved by LIA board is acceptable and binding on the [LAP],
as LI4 owns [LAP]”.

215, The Defendants submit that in relation to the LIA and the LAP, that evidence is

sufficient as a matter of Libyan law to amount to an expression of the administration’s

will even on Ms: Bakir’s understanding of the concept. This Is for the following three

reasons:

{a).  the decisions were put in writing.

(b).  thedecisions were made expressly with the intention of causing a certain legal
sityation to exist.

(6).  the decisions were considered by the LIA Board and the LAP Steering

Committee to be binding,

216.  Asregards the LIA:

().

().
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the decision was recorded in the 4 May Meeting Minutes,

the 4 May Meeting Minutes record that the LIA Board was acting on the
advice of its legal committee and other professional advisers. The decision
relating to the appointment and removal of dir¢ctors was necessary in order
to aflow the legal committes to procesd with their strategy for moving the

Funds “away from the Palladyne portfolio management™.

i e L BT




217.

218.
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Asg-regards the LAP:

().

®).

the decision was recorded inl the minutes of the 26 March 2014 LAP Steering
Comimittee meeting and the LAP Power of Attorney; and

‘the minutes show that the LAP Steering Committee _gr-anted' the LIA

authorisation (subject to approval only by management, i.6, Mr Hebry, not
the Steering Committee as a whole) gnd antisipate the LAP being legally

bound by the decisions of the LIA mads under that authorisation,

Ag regards the LFB, in their closing submissions the Defendants rely on two main

arguments:

{a).

(NSJy dudgment
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that the Duomatic principle applied so that the LIA"s informed assent to the
removal and appointment of directors of the Second Defendant was sufficient
to validate the Second Defendant Resolution. It was ¢lear from at lsast the letter
dated 15 May 2014 from Mr Breish to the General Managerof the LFB that the
LIA {as beneficial owser) coild order the. LLFB as fo how to vote the shares in
the Second Defendant and only required authotisation merely t& “avoid any
problems” with the Plaintiff and the Custodians, The ESDF’s letter in response
(the ESDF letter), which was also dated 15 May 2014 and in which the General
Manager of ESDF confirmed thatthe LFB would sign'the required authorisation
as requested, together with the LFB Power of Attorney demonstrated that the
ESDFALFB had authorised the LIA to exercise the powers of sharcholder. As
such, even if the Duamatic principle does not apply to cases invalving all
beneficial owners, it applied here because of the agency relationship between
the ESDF/LFB and the LIA, The judgment of Hart J in Deakin and the approach

set out in the passage from Kesmin, as cited above, were correct and applied in

this case. Thus, the LIA’s informed assent to the removal and appointment of

directors of the Second Defendant was sufficient to validate the Second




|

(b).

Defendant Resolution. Even if it were not, the ESDF and/or the LFB’s assent
could be inferred from their authorising the LIA to address issues relating to the

Second Defendant,

the evidence demonstrated that decisions were made by both the ESDF and the
LFB and those decisions were also recorded in writing. They relied once again
on the ESDF letter and the LFB Power of Attorney. In any event, the
authorisation from the LFB and ESDF Bodards were only sought by thé LIA
owing to a surfeit of administrative caution. The LIA was the beneficial owner
of the Second Defendant. The LFB performed the services of investment trustee
and held the Second Defendant as an investment portfolio for the LIA. This role
was expressty provided for at Article 2 of the LFB Articles and Law 1/2005, Tt
was not equivalent to the LIA merely depositing funds with the LFB. When
providing such services, the LFB must, as Mr Elgharabli stated, act on the
instructions of its clients, Ms Bakir had sought to avoid this conclusion by eliding
the distinction between the role of the LFB as depositee and custodian of an

investment portfolio. Asa result, she did not consider either Article 2 of the LFB

Articles or Law 1/2005 in her written evidence.As Mr Elgharabli had made cleat,

her position was unsustainable in Libyan law. Tt made no commercial sense, Mr

Elgharabli’s view was to be preferred. As & consequence, there was no

requirement for the LFB board to authorise the Second Defendant Resolution,.

219, Inrelation to the existence of customary rules applicable to decision making by the
LIA Board, the Defendants submitted as follows:

(a).

{b).
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Ms Bakir initially avoided committing herself to any test by which customary

administrative rules can be established, She asserted only that those rules arise

from continuous practice.




().

().
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separate resolution document. Thi evidence of Mr Ismial, Mr Breish and Mr
Benyezza made this élear,

Mr Ismial stated in his witness staterient that he was:

~SQmetimes required to produce a shorter ‘Board of Dirsctors’
Resolution” which would describe o specific resolution passed ...
Whilst T always produced detdiled minutes of the board meetings, I
was generally only required to prepare en.addition written resolution
as well If'it was requived 10 be shown to outside third parties and it
was certainly not. obligatory to do so in respect of every decision of
the LI4 Boord” [underlining added]

He gave as an example that only one of the decisions made at the 4 May
Meeting was recorded in a separate document hut that this “does not of coupse
mean that this was the only thing the board resolved 1o do at the meeting of 4
May 2014, quite the contrary”, During his cross-examination Mr Ismial stated
that there was no rule that stipulated tiie form of dn LIA decision: “... there is
no. definite form or definite form to take when I iake decisions ... there is no

such a law that requires me fo issue decisions in definite form”.

Mr Breish confirmed the LIA"s practice in similarly categorical terms during

his eross-examijnation;

» by ferw the LIA 3 not pbligated to lssue specific resolufions on decisions.
tal;en in board sessions. The minutes of the board meetings is eonsidered the
document to go —ito use as aresolution, so the enfire minmde is used, sofrom
time ko time we de issue a specg‘?a resolution If somebody asks for-jt. And
Srom time to time we don’t issue o specific vesolution. The minuies
themselves ave resolutions,™

Mr Benyezza's evidence during cross-examination was the same. He said that
LIA decisions “can heave any kind of form” and that */w]hen [the LI Board]
make the decision in the board nieeting that is the prevequisite for everything
else. That is it. We don’t need.as board members, no need to see a resalution,
It’s been agreed, decided, finished”.




. this evidence was consistent with the evidence of the Plaintiff’s witness, D

Gergab, who stated that (emphases added)

“Imjormally, decisions, or critical decisions [taken by the LIA Board], they
have to be basically summarised and there are also specific resolntions.
That is the normal practice ... But in some cases that s not the case, As
long as It Is minuted, then the decision has been sort of recorded in the
minutes, and s fav as the LIA's sort of law Is concerned, that is deemed 1o
be u legally binding decision ” '

(g).  none of the witnesses described a continuous practice so that Ms Bakir’s test
was not satisfied. In addition, there was no practice that was regarded by the
LIA Board as binding so that Mr Elgharabli’s test was also not satisfied. In
thoge circumstances, there cannot be any binding customary rule regulating the

form of LLA decisions,
The Authority Point —analysis and decision

220. 1 agree with the Plaintiff’ that the issue in dispute and the relevant question is whether
those purporting to act for the Libyan Investors by signing the Resolutions were

authorised to do so:

(a).  the cerporate constitution (the Articles of Association) of each of the Funds
regulates whe is entitled fo sign a written shareholders resolution on behalf of the
sharehalders and they require that the signatory to a written resolution be properly
athorised by the relevant shareholder, Where the shareholder is 4 Libyan entity
with separate carporate personality the issue of who has autherity to act on behalf
of the entity is governed by Libyan law. Cayman Islands law governs the proper
construction of the Articles of Association and questions regarding the voting of
shares in a Caymar Islands company but Libyan law governs the question of who
is properly autherised to act on behalf of a Libyan entity.

(b).  Cayman Islands law glso applies io the question of what is required for a

(NS Juderment
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the shareholder in a Cayman Jslands cothpany is to be treated as having given
its consent. The Duomatic principle involves determining whether there has
been an.informal assent by or on behalf of the registered member. The legal
nature and terms of the relationship betwaen the registéred member and the
person - who gives assent on its behatf is a matter for the governing faw of the
agreement or arrangement between them; whether the agreement or
relationship is sufficient to satisfy the Duwomatic ‘prineiple is & matter for

Cayman Islands law.

221, As regards the Third Defendant Resolution:

(a)

®.
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evidence and the surrounding circumstances) establish that the LIA Board did,
in fact, decide that the Plaintiff be removed as a director and that Dr Jehani and
Mr Baruni be appointed as directors of the Third Defendant, I therefore decide
against the Plaintiff on the No Decision in Fact Point.

the 4 May Meeting Minutes make it clear that the removal/appointments were
to be made and were approved. The drafting is, in some respects, cryptic and &
disproportionate part of the record focusses on the internal issues between the
Libyan Investors. But the 4 May Meeting Minutes cover the:critical points: the
steps required to chiange the boards of the Funds (the 4 May Minutes refer
generally to-the “Palladyne Portfolio™); who will be removed and retained is

discussed; there is & report ‘that the LIA’s attorney has recommended

(proposed) that orie‘cooperative board member be kept in office (obviously not
the Plaintiff); Mr Breish says he “proposes” to make the new appointments
(and by implication the assasiated reriovals) and mentions D Jeharnii and M
Baruni as the new appointecs; Mr Breish is also reported as saying that the new
appointees will be expected to adopt certain resolutions (10 Hgquidate this
Portfolia™; and the board is recorded as having discussed the maiter and
having decided to appoint Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni.




(e).

(d).

(e}

(-
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‘the wording, as it seems to me, makes it clear that Mr Breish had explained his

proposed course of action which he made clear he intended to carry out (and

‘put into effect) and the Board then made a decision and gave its approval to

him doing so.

it also seems to me to be implicit {as a matter of language and meaning, leaving
aside the Libyan law question as to whether there were further formal
requirements to be satisfied in order to make the decision binding and effective)
that the Board had decided that Mr Breish should be authorised to carry his

plan and the Board’s decision into effect,

Mt Breish and Mr Benyezza gave evidence that.the 4 May Meeting Minutes
aceurately record what was said and decided at the 4 May Meeting. They were

firm and clear, both in their'witness statements and in ¢cross-examination. So,

for example, when Mr Hapgood QC put to Mr Breish that the LIA Board only
took an in principle and not an irrevocable decision, Mr Breish made it clear

that he disagreed.

by contrast Dr Mahmoud’s evidence (given before Mr Justice Mintoff in Malta)
was qualified and based on a limited recollection of the key events. When asked
by Mr Hapgood QC about whether he remembered what discussion took place
at the 4 May Meeting regarding the Plaintiff and the Funds he said that hedid

not remmember, When asked whether he remembered whether a decision had

been taken by the LIA Board regarding the Plaintiff and thie Funds he said that

he did not remember. He does say that a decision to sack the Plaintiff was a
“huge issug” which he would have remembered and that the aceount recorded
in the minutes was “suspicions” and should have been more detailed. But he
acknowledged that it was-hard for him to remember what had taken place neatly
four vears earlier, Tn my view only limited weight can be placed on Dr
Mahmoud’s evidence: The credibifity of his doubts and questioning both of thie
taking of a decision and the form of the 4 May Meeting Minutes is further

undermined by the fact that he was present at the LIA Board meeting on 1 June




().

(h)-
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2014 at which the 4 May Meeting Minutes were reviewed and approved.

italso appears to me that had any of the other direetars present at the 4 May
Meeting taken a different view and thought that no such deefsion had been
taken (for example because the Board discussion had been incofichisive and a
formal decision was only to be-taken at a subsequent meeting) they would have
siid 50 either immediately upon receiving the draft minutes or at the latest by
the Board meeting-on 1 June 2014. Instead the 4 May Meefing Minutes wers

approved at that meeting without comment or dissent.

the Plaintiff made-much of the:omission from the 4 May Meeting Minutes of a
teference to the memorandum of legal advice from Enyo and challenged Mr

Breish's evidence that he had ciroulated the mernotandvm. to-the entive Board:

(1. the Plaintiff argued that the failure of the 4 May Meeting Minutes.to
record that this memorandum had been cireufated to the Board (and
the failure of the invitation to attend the Board meeting to-siate that a
copy of the memorandum wads attacked) was svidence that no
memorandum from Enyo was in fact circulated to the Board and the
Court should infer that it was unlikely (inherently implausible) that a
final deeision would have been taken by the Board without sight of
detailed fegal advice, The Plaintiff also argued that the abssnce of a
refererice to the mgmorandum in the 4 May Mesting Minutes and the
invitation, and the failure of the Defendants to produce a.copy of the
email from Mr Breish to Board Members (or a copy of the Enye
memorandum in ‘redacted form of indeed any other dacument
referring to the Enyo memorandum) undermines the credibility of Mr
Breish’s evidence and the Court should infer and conclude both that
the Enyo memorandum was never sent and that Mr Breish’s whole

aceount could not be trusted or accepted.

(ii}. 1 do not aceept these submissions. 1 do not consider that (even f‘




190130 Palladyne 190134 Pallestyne International Asset Management B.V. v Upper Brook f4) Limited et.al - FSD 6}

(NSH) Fudgment

153223

(iif).

(iv).

{v).

were to discount the evidence of Mr Breish) the abseénce of references
to the Enyo memorandum in the 4 May Meeting Minutes or the
invitation justify the conclusion that the Board did not reach a
decision and would not have done so in the circumstances shown to

exist by the evidence that has been produced.

the problems with the investments in the Funds, the need for the LIA
(and the other Libyan Investors) to take action in the near future and
the leadership role of Mr Breish and others working with. him
(including legal and financial advisers) in the development of the
detailed strategy and action plan had been clear for many months. The
4 May Meeting took place at a time when the LIA Board was familiar
with the background and major issues and it was apparent that there
had been developments in the investigation and action planning and

that action needed 1o be taken.

the need to consider and concerns regarding the investments in the
Funds being managed by the Plaintiff had been discussed by the
Board since the Board Meeting in December 2013 and it is clear from
the minutes of the February 2014 meeting that progress was being
made with the investigation of the Funds and the Plaintiff, that serious
issties had emerged and that some action was under discussion and
likely to be needed. The concerns and need for action were further
discussed at the LIA Board Meeting in March 2014 when it became
clear that the strategy favoured by Mr Breish involved termination of

the Plaintiff’s involvement with the management of the Funds” assets.

it seems to me that the context makes it likely that a Board decision
was both needed and taken. I cannot accept that the failure to show
that a memorandum of legal advice had been seen by the Board and

was under discussion at the 4 May Meeting should be giver great

weight and justify the conclusion, despite the context in which the 4
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(vi).

May Meeting took place and content of the'4 May Meeting Minutes,
that no decision was taken at the 4 May Meeting.

Mr Breish gave svidence in his witness statement that he had received
the Enyo memorandum on 1 May 2014 and then circulated it to the
LA Board, During his eross-examination Mr Hapgood QC put it to
him that his written evidence was wrong, Mr Breish confirmed his
evidence that the Enyo memorandum had been circulated before the
4 May Meeting and said that ke did not knew why the 4 May Meeting
Minutes madeno reference to it (although no reference was required),
It seems to me likely, from the evidence, that the memorandum was
indeed circulated as Mr Breish 'says but that the detailed advice was
not discussed 4t the-4 May Meeting (probably because the main steps
in the: action plan propesed by Mr Breish for dealing with the Funds
and the Plaintiff which the Board was being asked to approve wete
clear and the legal analysis was not considered to be relevant or

significant),

I have also conghided that the LIA Board's deecision wag effective as a matter

of Libyan law, | therefore also decide against the Plaintiff on the No Legally

Effective Decision Point:

().

(i)

paragraphs 82 and 83 of the Plaintiff’s Amended Points of Claim set
out the Plaintiffs pleaded case on this issue. This asserted that the

LIA”s past pragtice established a procedural and fortnal rule that had

‘to be satisfied fo give legal effect to a decision and the decision to

pass (make) the Thied Defendant Resolution required a separate

document containing articles sgiting out each elemetit of the decision,

Ms Bakir, in Ms Bakir’s First Report, relied on the Chief of Tribes

gase -as establishing the applicable principle of Libyan law and her

review of nine documents containing written resolutions of
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(iii).

(tv),

(v)..

(vi),

Board which had been prepared separately from the Board Minutes.

in Ms Bakir’s opinion binding customary rules are established
through the continuous observance of procedural and formal steps

(see paragraph 63 of Ms Bakir"s First Report).

in paragraphs 64-68 of Ms Bakir’s First Report {quoted above) she
refers to the nine documents she had reviewed which were issued
over 4 period of alimost six years. In paragraph 68 Ms Bakir notes that
she has not seen all the minutes or decision documents issued by the
LIA (during this period or more generally) and that as a result her

opinion is based on the sample she has seen.

the nine documents include (as Ms Bakir confirms) some decisions
of the LIA’s interim steering committee and cover a variety of

subjects including internal appoiniments (such as the appointment of

‘the CEO of the LIA) and internal grants of authority (such as an

authority given to the Chairman or Vice-Chairman or the CEO fo sign
the LIA’s financial accounts or a statement of who has authority to
instruet Enyo) and external appointments (such as the appointment of

Dr Gergab as director of the First Energy Bank in Bahrain).

Ms Bakir says that the nine documents follow a particular format and
that “by following & specific procedure for issuing these documenis
aver a considerable pericd of time when it makes decisions (Such as
the veplacement of a direcior of an investment company) the [LI4]

has made these procedurdl and formal rules into a binding eustomary

requivement,” She carefully identified what the practice when

followed Involved (what goes in to the separate document) but fails

to say precisely when the practice required a separate document to be
used, Ms Bakir says {in paragraph 63) that the binding customary

requirement “appears Lo exist for certain types of decision™ but




which types of decision, Ms Bakir’s Reply Report did not elaborate
ar assist further,

(vii}.  ‘she'notes that the appointment of Dr Giergab as director of the First
Energy” Bank in Bahrain appears to be “very close to the
cirewmstances of this ease” and that 4 separate documgnt was used on
that accasion. She appears to be suggesting that since: a separate
dotument was uged in an.analogotis case it must follow that there was
a binding customary practice that 4 separate document be: used in the
present case, and perhaps on every occasion when the LIA Board

appointed & director to an Investinent company.

(vili).  but thefe is no evidence that supports the existence of such & practice
bevond the existence of the ‘doctiments themselves. There s no
evidence that on every other occasion that appointments to the boards
of investment subsidiaries were made a decision by separate
document was produced. Furthermore, the Board minutes that have
been produced refer to a number of Board .d’eéisioras appointing
dirsctors of subsidiaries oi velated funds and no separate dociiments
making ‘or :confirming the appointments are in or referred to in
gvidence. One example will suffice: the LIA Board minutes for the
meeting on 2 April 2014 refer to the appointnent o:f Mr Benyszza as
Chairman of the Board of the Libyan Imternal Investment and
Development Board. Furthermors, the svidence of the Defendants’
witnesses is ¢lear and unchallenged by others in a position to know

about and undetstand the practices of the LIA Board,

xh Dr Gergab’s-evidence also supperts the conclusion that it was not the
invariable pragtice of the LIA Board ta réquire a separate document,
The Plaintiff argued that Dr Gergab had said when examined that,

had a decision in relation to the Funds been made at the 4 May

Meeting he'would have expected a séparate resolution recording % o _‘
&
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(xi)

{xii).

be produced:

"G Would you have expected any such recommeridation to be in writing and
to give reasons for termination? A. Generally, of course, that is the practice
of course. EXAMINER: If you were going o moveé on from that, Just one
question. Wowld you expect any decision made by the Board on such «
matter o ba the subfect of o resofution? A. Well I mean, i is du Important
guestion. Normally, degisions or critical decisions, they have to bé basically
summarized _and thereé are also specific resclutions. That is_the normal
practice, Such gs the appeintment of represéntatives lo the Board of
Direcicrs, Bul insome cdses s not the case. As long as it Iy minuted, then
the declsion bias been sort of recorded in the mimites, and ns far as the LIA'S
sorr-of faw 13 s concerned, thal is deemed 1o be a legally binding decision.
EXAMINER: So this soit of decision wouldn't necessarily need a
resolution? A. If depends what Kind of decision. EXAMINER: [ ain talking
about the precise deoision that? A, The trermination? EXAMINER: Yes. A,
Yes, pormally thot kind of decision would be in a resolution, yes.”

(underlining added)

8o Dr Gergab makes it clear that the practice varied and that on some
occasions a record of a board decision by way of the minutes was
sufficient. As regards the decision to remove the Plaintiff and appoint
Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni, a separate resolution would normally be
used but his evidence as a whole makes it clear that such & résolution

was not (continually) required.

it therefore secems to me that even assuming that Ms Bakir's
formulation of the applicable Libyan law prineiple is correct, the facts
and circumstances of this case do not establish that the LIA Board
had a binding customary rule that required the decision to remove the
Plaintiff and appoint Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni to be recorded in a

separate document.

it also seems to me that the Chief of Tribes case supports the

proposition that there needs to be clear evidence and good reasons for

the practice. In that case a written administrative decision had been

e o e




as the sheikh of the tribe and to appoint other sheikhs (who were
appointed at the same time as he was subsequently removed). The
Supreme Court held that “This means that the administrative
prineiple that was fal_‘_i_’bwed by _[ﬂzje gg_é‘}niz‘ﬁ'iﬁmﬁan_], which Is the only
imaginable principle to be followed in appointing or removing a
tribad sheikh, was by issuing o written administrative decision. Tn
my view there was no clear evidence or good reason (either because
of the nature of the -action being taken or the internal governance
arcangements within the L1A Board) that required the issue of
separate. documents to evidence or record a decision fo remove and
appoint. directors of investment subsidiaries such as the Third
Defendant. It certainly might on oceasions be neceéssary of helpful for
a separate decision to be prepared. For example, because it was
negessaty to have-a.document to be shown to third parties, Birt the
evidence does not establish that there was a continual practice that
always required a separate decision to be made, Indeed the-evidence
that is available indicates that there was no such invariable pragtice,
This was the clear evidence of Mr Tsmial. His responsibilities as
former head of the LIAs legal department and extensive invelvement
in the preparation of minutes and decisions give his evidence

considerable weight.

{xiii).  accordingly 1 do not need to consider Mr Elgharabli’s alternative
-opinion as fo what needs to bs éstablished before a binding customary
rule van come into existence. I would however note that 1 found
persuasive his view (which was based on textbook analyses) that

there needed to be both a relevant act (& p'hysi"cal'imaterife;l glement)

(giv).  Ms Bakir also opined that there was a separate requitement under
Libyan law that there be a clear declaration of the LIA*s binding

decision and will. She relied for this proposition on two Libys
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(xv}.

{xvi).

Supreme Court decisions, namely the Supreme Court Decision No.
1/10f 5 April 1954 and the Supreme Court in Administrative Appeal
No. 1/8 of 24 June 1961,

she offered her opinion not only on the applicable ruje of principle of
Libyan law but also its application to the facts. In her opinion, the 4
May Meeting Minutes did not satisfy this requiireinent, The problem
identified by Ms Rakir was the omission of Iraportant matters and a
lack of detail. For example, the 4 May Meeting Minutes fail to
hention the removal of the Plaintiff or the tasks which Dr Jehani and
Mr Baruni were being appointed to perform. She also considers that
the paragraph in the 4 May Meeting Minutes st the conclusion of the
record of the discussion of the Funds and the Plaintiff, in which the
statement is made that the LIA Board had decided to approve Dr
Jehani’s and Mr Baruni’s appointment, fatled to cover the matters
covered, during that discussion, including the replacement of two
members of the boards of the Funds and the retention of one oard
member, This lack of particularity calls into question, in her opinion,
whether a decision was made regarding the appointment of directors
to the Third Defendant. Ms Bakir compares the 4 May Meeting
Minutes unfavourably with the more formal and detailed separate
resolution document prepared in relation to the appointment of Dr

Gergab 4s a director of First Bnergy Bank in Bahrain,

as regards the formulation of the applicable principle of Libyan law
Ms Bakir quoted from the summary of Decision No, 1/1 of 3 April
1954 which she considered set out the legal issue (and I would say

the applicable principle of Libyan faw):

“the administration’s cléar declaration of its binding will ..
with the intent of cousing a certain legal situation 1o éxist
and the motivation of which is the uchievement of a pz:blz
inderest.”
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(xvii).

{xvili}.

Noither of the two ‘Supreme Court gases to which Mg Bakir refers,
nor Ms Bakir in her opinjons, explains what {s meant By {or elaborates
on the meaning of) the requiremerit that there be a'clear declaration
by the administration of its binding will. M Elgharabli, who did not
challenge the existence of the principle, considered that there were no
-ambiguities or omissions from the 4 May Meeting Minuses which

resulted in there being no legally effective decision by the LIA Board,

it seems to me that the principle of Libyan law, on which both experts
agree, requires that the administration expresses s position insuch a
manner that allows others clearly to see that it has reached 3 decision
which. it cansiders and intends fo be binding on . The decision
making of a public body shiould allow the public elearly to-see when
a deliberation has resulted in a decision and there should be po
matetial ambiguity o uncertainty-as to this, In my view the 4 May
Meeting Minutes satisfy this test, They clearly repord that a decision
has'been taken ¢and-even use the word “decided”). The decision that

has been taken is sufficiently particularised sa that it is elear what has

‘been decided, Dr Jehani and Mr Baruii will be appointed. The fact

that the decision also fnvolved the removal of the Plaintiff was clear
from the earlier discussion recorded in the 4 May Meeting Minutes —
indeed this was the purpose of the appointment of Dr jehani and Mr-
Baryni. Tt does not seem 10 .me that the om tssion Trom the final
paragraph of the record in the 4 May Meeting Minutes of the Further
details referred to by Ms Baldr resulted In there being no sufficiently
clear decision to appoint Dr Jshani and Mr Baruni and remove the
Plaintiff

Ms Bakir’s further point was that, even if thare'was a decision i fact

by the LIA Board to appoint Dr Jehani arid M Barinf and reinove

the Plaintiff, and even if the 4 May Meeting Minutes svidenced a

sufficiently clear statement of the binding will of the LIA Boar
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(ix),

(xx).

(xxi).

(xxii).

nongtheless, as a matter of Libyan law, Mr Benyezza was unable to
give effect to and implement the Board’s decision without there being
a clear express delegation by the Board sither in the 4 May Meeting
Minutes or subsequently. Not only did the Board fail to make z
decision to delegats the implementation of its decision but Mr
Benyezza as Chairman of the LIA Board did not have authority to do

80,

in Ms Bakir’s opinion Article 11 of Law No, 13 of 2010 makes it
clear that the Board bas the power and authority to decide on the
implementation of its decisions. That article stipulates that the Board
“Is the comipetent body to oversee the mandgement of the [LIA] and
moniior the implemientation of its programs to achieve s
objectives...” The principle of Libyan law requiring the
administration to maks a clear declaration of its will and decision
applies. She accepted that an implicit delegation was permissible —
which T'taketo mean that the decision to authorise the implemsntation
of the decision by & person’er persons is to be implied if it is apparent.

that the will of the administration was fo make the delegation.

Ms Bakir considered that there was nothing in the 4 May Meeting
Minutes that indicated that the LIA Board had delegated the power to

effect the removal and appeintments,

in Mr Elgharabli’s opinion Libyan law did not require there to be an
express or formal delegation by the Board of a power to implement.

its decisions.

n my view, even assuming that Ms Bakir is right and applying the
legal principle which she considers to be applicable, the LIA Board
did actually or impliedly delegate the implementation and execution

of decision to remove/appoint the directors of the Third Defer

e g

ot
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{xxdii).

(xxiv).

Chairman and CEO. Accordingly, the applicable Articles of Lav,

The previous discussion as recorded during the 4 May Meeting
proceeds on the basis that the steps required to effect the
removal/agpointment would be taken by Mr Breish as Chairman of
the Board. That was the whole cantext and tenor of the discussion and
must bé taken in my view to be part of the decision made by the board,
The discussion and decision must be taken to have-conferplated that
Mr. Breish as Chairmian would get en with and take the necessary

steps that were required (with 2 degree: of urgeney) fo be taken

without the need to return to the Board for a further d ecision as to the

implementation process,

of coutse Mr Breish was not the person who signed the Third
Defondant Resolution on behalf of the LIA. By the fime of the
Resolution, he was no longer Chairman afid had beenreplaced by Mr
Benyezza, I consider that the decision of the Board st be treated ag
authorising Mr Breish as Chairman or if he had ceased fo be
Chairman whoever else was Chairman to-iimplement the desision to
removefappoint the directots, The Board was, froin a governance
perspective, approving the removal and -a_'p’pointments-and_auﬂfx@ri_'sing

its-Chairman (for the time being) to implement it.

i Mr Elgharabli’s opinion Mr Beriyezzy in any event had authority
to implement the Board’s decision and sign the Third Defendant
Resolution by virtue of being the Chairiman, This was because Article
13¢5) of Law No. 13 of 2010 granted to the Chairman the authority
to represent the Board iii transactions with third parties, Mr
Elgharabli said that the Law had to be construed and understood in
the context that the LIA’s Board was not an executive body with
rogular daily or weekly ‘meetings {it appears to have met sice a

month). Execution and implementation of the Board's decisions was

(and had to be) cartied out by the executives which included the




13 were to be understood as generally authorising the Chairman and
CEO to execute board decisions without the need for a separate
decision to delegate. Even after giving weight to the fact that the LIA
is.a public body and subject to the additional and serious requirements
of Libyan administrative law, this seems to me fo be the proper
interpretation of the articles in Law No. 13 and the preferred
approach. Accordingly, if I am wrong to conclude that the evidence
establishes that there was a sufficient delegation by the LIA Board to
the Chairmen to implemerit its decision, I would prefer and aceept Mr
Elgharabli’s opinion on this point.

(xxv). therefore I hold that Mr Benyezza was properly authorised as a matter
of Libyan law to sign the Third Defendant Resolution and it was
effectively made and passed for that reason. I therefore do not need
to consider the other Libyan law arguments or the Cayman Islands
law arguments relied on by the Defendants.

222, Asregards the First Defendant Resolution:

(a).

(b).

(©).
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it is not disputed by the Plaintiff that the LAP Steering Committee made a
decision to amthorise the LIA to act on its behalf in relation to the First
Defendant. The LAP Steering Committee decided that: “The [LIA} shall be
granted authorisation for the [LAP] in the Paliadyne Porifollo as per the
Jollowing terms and condirions ... the [LIA} shail be responsible for protecling
the [LAP’s] invesiments in [the] Palladyne Porifolio [and] ... [t1he
authorisation does not allow the fLIA] to make any decisions gn this Portfolio
without the prior consent of the [LAP 8] management,”

sa the question becomes whether such consent was obtained,

the Plaintiff says that there is no, or at least insufficient, evidence of such

conserit having been given. It is not clear who the LAP’s management was fo
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this purpose ner is there'a clear act or c'iiki;u:znent-eyidem_ing canseit fram those
who might be treated as the LAP%s management. The Defendants submit that
Mr Hobiy was part of the LAP’s managemient and that he gave his consent
either by executing the First Defendant Bower of Attorney or by approving the
decision made at the 4 May Mesting,

it seems to me that the eondition attached to the decision of the LAP Steering
Cominittee envisaged only an infornial further consent (that is 4 consent which
did not require as regards the manner in which it was given or recorded any
‘particular formality). It did not require either consent in writing or consent from
a director. The referenee to “muanagement” was. not intended to be given.a
natrow or technical meaning. The purpose of the condition can in my view be
tnderstoed to be to ensure that eonsent was negded from someone who was
involved on behalf of the. LAP in dealing with ‘the investment in the Fitet
Defendant and in the discussions with the LIA {who therefore had an
understanding of what was proposed by the LIA and was able 1 assess whether
the LAP’s interests and position were propetly protested). They could then give
their approval on behalf of and having regard to the interests of this LAP without
further reference to the LAP Steering Commitiee or anyone elsg,

I consider that M Hebry was auch 4 person and is to be treated as part of the
LAP's management for these putposes. As Ms Bakir pointed out in her First

Report, since Mr Hebry was Chairman of the LAP Stgering Committee “If

Jollows from Article.14 of [the LAP s] Articles of Association that he veas also
the General Mﬁ!@'ﬁg@r'gf {the LAP]” (sse paragraph 145), This {together with
the responsibility for the supervision of management given to the
Chairman/General Manager by the LAP*s Articles) s a clear reason and
justification for treating Mr Hebry as coming within the refersnce to
management. It is true that the documentary evidence referred to Mr Kashadah
as the General Manager of the LAP but it seeins, as Ms Bakir says, that the
Chairman is by virtue of that ofFice designated General M-ana_gm"a In any event,

Mr Hebry was actively involved in the discussions and decisions congert
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how the Libyan Investors were to deal with the Funds and as a person helding
office as Chairman would in my view come within the broad term

“management” as T have understood it.

it would therefore be sufficient if Mr Hebry gave his consent to the exercise
of the LAP’s voting rights as shareholder in the First Defendant to appoint Dr
Jehani and Mr Baruni and the removal of the Plaintiff, Did he do so?

the evidence shows that he was one of the LIA directors who attended the 4
May Meeting and is to be taken to have approved the decision to take the action
proposed by Mr Breish, He was of course acting in his capacity as a director of
the LIA when voting on the proposed action to be taken in relation to the Third
Defendant. But the action plan proposed by Mr Breigh and the presentation to
the LIA Board related to action with respect to all of the Funds, The decision
was in substance to approve 4 single coordinated plan. As a result the action
approved related to and involved the exercise of the rights not only in respect
of the Third Deferidant but alt of the Funds including the First Defendant. This
was the reality of the situation revealed by all of the evidence. So in my view
Mr Hebry's approval can be treated as a consent to the overall plan of action
including the action contemplated as discussed in respect of the First
Defendant. It was entirely appropriate for the consent in relation to the LAP to
be given at an LIA Board meeting since the LAP had given the LIA the lead
role in determining how to deal with the Funds and to determine the best
strategy and action plan, The action plan was fo come from and be proposed by
the LIA and the LIA’s planand proposed éourse of action for ail of the Funds
was explained and discussed at the 4 May Meeting. No doubt it would have
been preferable for Mr Hebry to have confirmed during the ¢ May Meeting and
for the minutes to have recorded (and perhaps even for Mr Hebry to have
separately confirmed in writing) that he was also giving his consent as a
member of the LAP’s mahagement but in the circumstances this. was not
necessary. The conclusion that the 4 May Meeting involved a decision on
behalf of (at least) both the LIA and the LAP is supported by Mr Breish’s




().

@)

of the same dateto Mr Baruni and Dr Jehani which referred to the decision to
have them both represent the LIA and the LAP, I.also note that subsequently
Mr Breish wrote to Mr Hebry as Chairman and representative of the LAP with
responsibility for the taking of action in telation to the First Defendant to report
on ‘progress in implementing the agreed and common astion plan. This is
further evidence that Mr Hebry was treated by all concerned as the person
representing and acting for the LAP in relation to the combined action to be

faken in relation to the Funds.

‘this construetion of the LAP Steering Committee’s decision and the conduct of
Mr Hebry does nof, of course, involve or require a conclusion, contrary to Ms

Bakir's opirion, that Mr Hebry had a free-standing and automatic authaority

under the LAP’s Articles to implement a LAP Steering Committee decision, |

have determined the correct canstrustion of a specific declsion which itself and

in terms authorises a third party {management) to give a binding consent.

T'would add that I do riet consider that Mr Hebry’s signing of the LAP Power
of Afttorney was sufficient on its own to constitifte the consent required by the
decision. The deeision referred to the LIA being granted authorisation (to act)
for the LAP and for that authorisation to be formalised by a document (in &
form) prepared by the LAP’s legal office. The LAP Power of Attorney was that
document. But the authorisation was to be subject to the further consent of the
LAP’s management,

-ewc;or_‘;iﬁilt‘i_g:f}r T hold that Mr Hebry had actual authority to sign the LAP Power

of Aitorney and that the First Defondant Resolution was valid and effective, T
thetgfore do not need to consider the ofher arguments relisd on by the

Defendants in support of the validity of the First Defendant Resolution,

223, As regards the Second Defendant Reselution thers are two main questions:

(a).
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doos Cayman Tslands law apply in the present casé so that {underthe Duomg




{b).

principle) informal assent given by or on behalf of the shareholdet constitutes
a legally effective decision of the sharsholder and if so does the Duomatic
‘principle apply where the assent is given by someane other than the registered
member? The Defendants, as T have explained, argued that because of the
relationship between the LFB and the LIA (and/or ESDF) the agreement of the
LIA or the ESDF to the passing of the Second Defendant Resolution was
sufficient,

if the answet to the first question is no, was the Second Defendant Resolution
authorised because as a matter of Libyan law and on the facts Mr Ben Yousef

had or is to be treated as having authority to act on behalf of the LFB,

224, With respect to the first question;

(a).

(b).
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the Plaintiff submitted that;

{1 for there to be a sufficient and effective assent by any of the Libyan
Investers, in particular the LIA, under the Duomatic principle, it was
necessary to have regard to Libyan law to determine whether the
persons acting on behalf of the Libyan Investor had authority under
Libyan law to bind the Libyan Investor and give the assent on its
behalf.

(i), in any event, the assent of the beneficlal owner of shares was
insufficient to satisfy the Dwomatic principle and this position was
supported by the authorities and the most recent textbook

commentary.

I consider that the Duomatic principle does apply in the present case since it is

& rule of Cayman Islands company law that applies to the decision making of

shareholders in Cayman Islands companies. But where the assent relied on is
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properly authorised under Libyan law to give the assent,

as regards the proper scope and application of the Duomatic principle, the
Plaintiff relied in partieular, -in its closing submigsions, on the recent decision
of the English Court of Appeal.in Randhawa v Turpin [2017] BCC 406. This
case, it was said, emphasised the px,‘ih;c'ip-le that Duomatie requires (at least) the
assent of all registered sharcholders entitled to vote on a resolution. The Court
of Appeal held that where a sharcholder had been dissolved the assent of the
person who was the-owner of the shareholder before dissotution would have
heen insufficient to establish its assent to a variation of the tompany’s articles
and engage the Duomatic prinic'i’p_le. The Plaintiff cited the-following passages
from the judgment of Sir Geoffrey Vos G (with whom Unidechill aiid Henderson.
LJ} agreed):

i my jldgment, however, regard must be: had to the Duonatie
principle itself. As Buckley J framed it (f1969] 2 Ch 363) ar page
373 in Duomatic iiself:

1 proceed upon the basis that where It can be shown that all
sharaholders wha have o right to attend and vote at & general
meeling of the company asseni. fo.some matler which. a general
meeting of the company could carry info effect, that assent is as
binding as a resolution in general meeting would be.,’

Without labeuring fhe point, those who must assent are ‘all
shareholders who have a right to attend and vote af o géneral
meeting of the compary', not those of the shareholders that may be
wvatlable af the time,

In these oircumstances, having decided that [C, an Isle &f Mawn
company] was a registered member of the Company [Bf at the
rélevant time, -and thal it was neither notified of the proposel to
appoint an administrator nor assented to any such vourse, itis hard
fo see how the Duomalic principle was applicable unless, as the
Jndge effectively held, its assent could either by dispensed with or
pravided by fR]. ...

It could not be vendered valid by the application ‘of the Diomatic
principle; which only applies, as I have said where “all shareholders
who have a right to atfend and vole af @ general meating of the
compeny” assent to the course proposed. In this case, [the dissolved
shareholder] did not assent, ‘and is assent cannol be inferred by

loaking to-what those who may previousiy-have had an interest in fth J—

dissolved sharehelder] may or migy not have thonght”
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Randhawa strongly suggested that the Duvmatic principle ought hot to apply
where only the assent of a beneficial owner is obtained and # was part of the
ratic of the decision that the assent of the registered holder of the shares must
be obtained,

the Plaintiff also relied on the following discussion in Gore-Browne on
Companies of the position after Randhawa (at Part 111, Chapter 11, paragraph
3

“Differing views have been exprassed as lo whether the principle is only
effective as regards the agreement of all registered shareholders, because it
looks to all members entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting, or
whether the agreement of the shareholdérs with the beneficial interest in the
shares suffices. [Reference is made to Domoney v Godhino, ,Shahan v
Tsitekkos and Re Tulsesense Ltd.] ... However, in Randhawa v Turpin, the
Court of Appeal has held ihat the principle does reguire the agreement of
all registered shareholders and if any of them is incapable of acting, such
as in the case, where 25 per cent of the shares were registered in the name
of a dissolved company, thé principle cannol apply. The views to the
contrary expressed i the flrst instance decisions cited above must now
therefore be vegarded as weohg. In g number of Australian cases it hias been
held that the Duomatie privciple will not apply where some of the persens

who assentéd were pot b egisiered shareholders.”

funiderlining added]

in Randhawa a company had two registered shareholders at the relevant time
(of the purported appointment of administrators in respect of the company by
the sole director): DW (as to 75%) and an Isle of Man company called
Belvadere (as to 25%). Belvadere had been dissolved at the refevant time. The
judge had heid that DW held his shares for RW, that it was probable that RW
was also the beneficial owner of the remmaining 25% and that the appointment
had been made with the censent of RW. The Plaintiff submitted that the Court
of Appeal had held that becanse the 25% shareholder (Belvadere) had been
dissolved, Duomatic would not apply “wnless, as the judge effectively held,
its [Belvadere's] assent could either be dispensed with or provided by
[RWJ ™. However, it hefd that RW could notf give that assent, because the
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principle “only applies...where 'all shareholders who. have aright o attend and
vate at ¢-general meeting of the company’ assent o the course proposed”, The
Court said in terms that Belvadere's “assent cannot be inferved by looking to
what those who may previously have had an infevest i Belvadere may or may
not have thought”, The Court considered it uninecessary to-deal with beneficial
ownership. Randhawa therefore shawed that, in prinei ple, the consent of the.
beneficial owners is insufficlent. There was no principled distinction
between a shareholder being unable to express its assent because it is
dissolved (as in the case of Belvadere) and the registered shareholders
otherwise not assenting. Further, Sir Geoffrey Vos € could only have held
that it was not relevant to consider beneficial ownership if beneficial
ownership was .on any view Insufficient, Gdre-Browne therefore
accurately reflected the facts and reasoning in Randhawa and its
conclusion was ¢orrect. The Defendanis’ arguments on Diematic in
respect of the LFB and the Second Defendent Resolution, which rely
only on the LIA's consent as beneficial holder of the sheres in the Second
Defendant, fail for this reason.

the Defendants disagreed. They submitted that Randhawa did not address
the aspects of the Duomatic principle which the Defendants cotitend for,
namely that where shares are held on a bare trust, such that (1 the benefi¢ial
owner ¢an campel the legal owner’s consent or (2) the legal owner has
expressly or impliedly authorised the bengficial owner to exsrcise the vating
rights on their behalf, the assent of the beneficial owner is sufficient for the
Duomatic principle to apply. They relied on the- follewing passage from the
Jjudgment of Sir Geoffrey Vas C (paragraphs 84 and 85);

“For what It Is worth | would be reluctant jo express any view an
whether it would he sufficient in gny évent for Duomatic purposes fo
obtain the consent of ‘the person wltindtely entitled to the beneficial
interest in a shareholding if there is nobady entitled in. Jormal terms Io.
agree on behalf of the registered shareholder. It might be that the
personal representatives of . deeeased shareholder could provide

relevant consent beceruse of article 29 of Table 4 (sel.out abave), butthat e
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the basis that there was no possibility of there being benoficial o

was-not the question that arose in thiy case, and [ showld not be taken as
having made any decision to that effect. In these circumstances, I do not
need to deal with the arguments that were addressed to the guestion of
whether [RW] was or was not the beneficial owner of Belvadere, or to
whether he in fact agreed to or aeguiesced in the resohution to appoint
the Jaint Administrators. As it seems to nie, [DW's] resolution was
tncurably tvakid”

1 agree with the Defendants. Sir Geoffrey Vos € had, crucially, held that
RW’s consent was not relevant. This was becanse where the company
concerned’s shares had been dissolved (so that the assets of the company
had passed to the Crown) the consent of the Crown would have been needed,
not of the company’s shareholder. He said as follows (at paragraph 84 in
the passage immediately before that quoted by the Defendants and quoted

above);

- “In my judgment, even if it had been shown that [RW] owned
Belvadeére (about which I need express ne view) his consent could not
have been relevant in the circumstances of this ease. Belvadere was
dissolved, It was common ground thai, in those circumstances, the
property of Belvadere had passed to the Crown under Manx law. It was
kot suggested nor could it have been that the Crown consented o the
course that {DW] had adopted. The fact that the compary might perhaps
have been capable of restoration to the register ... can have no effect on
the entity entitled ot the relevant time to the property in the 25%
shareholding of the company. That entity was the Crown.., "

the dissolution had broken a critical dink in the chain. Belvadere was the
registered shareholder. Even if in principle the assent of RW as beneficial
owner of the shares registered in Belvadere’s name was sufficient that could
nat be the case where all of Belvadere’s property, including its interest in
the shares, had passed to the Crown and RW’s interest was arguably
extinguished (pending the restoration of Belvadere to the register). The
Plaintiff had acknowledged that it was correct to say that the Court had
régard to the fact that Belvadere had been dissolved, so that the Crown was
the owner of its shares in the company, but submitted that this in no way
limited the Court's reasoning that Duomaric requires the assent of all

registered shareholders. Inmy view Sir Geoffrey Vos C decided the case on
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consent and did not need or wish to take a final view on whether it was
sufficient for Duomatic purposes to. obtain the. consent of the persgi
ultimately entitled to the beneficial intetest in a sharcholding, The
statements as to the need for approval from the registered sharsholder were
made on that basis. | thetefare do ot take the Court of Appeal’s decision
to be overruling or preventing reliance on the earlier autherities which
permit assent to he given by someone other than the registered member in

certain ¢irgumstances,

-as the Defendants” submissions pofnted out, there are two different

formulations of the extension of the Duomaric principle beyond registered

imember consent. The agency approach taken in Kosmin (can it be shavn that

+the beneficial owner was ac-t{h_g_ as agent for the registered member so that

the: consent of the beneficiary will be regatded a8 the consent of the

registered shareholder?) and the Gower approach (can it be shown that the

trustee. could be _eompei}.ed to vote in accordance with the wishes of fhe
beneficial owners?). The Defendants argue that both approaches are good law

and established on the evidence id this cass.

the agency approach seems to me to be right in principle. The consent of the
beneficial owner (if properly proved) will at liw be the-consent of the registered
member and the absence of formality in recording the decisian of the registered
member does not prevent there being an effective consent, ‘Thég failure of the
registered member to observe and comp Iy with the relevant corperate procedure
in documenting its consent s precisely what the Duyomatic principle is intended
to cover. As Neuberger J said i Re Torvale Group Lid [1999] 2 BCLE 605 at
G617

“The essence of the Duomatic principle Is that, where a statute or a
‘company’s articles provide that & course tan be taken only with the sanction
of a gertain group, which sanction iy to be given in accordance with @
prescribed procedure, ther; provided that ol the membérs of that group
agree to that course, thy prescribed procediive is kot normally freated as.
being of the esserice. This is particularly likely to be the case [f (i) the cc
Is satisfied that the sole purpese of the brescribed procedure s (o,
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proteciion of the members of the retevanr group, and. (1) the prescribed
procedure enables a majoriiy-of that group to bind thi minority in relation
ta the course.in question, The articles constitute a contract, and if the parties
to that contract, or if the parties for whom the beviefit of a particular term
has been included in the contract ave happy unanimousty to waive or vary
the prescribed procedure for o particular purpose, then, unless there is a
ground gf the sort considered in Peak (Re R W Pedk (Kings Lynn) Ltd [1998]
1 BCLC 193) and Weight (Wright v Attas Wright (Europe) Lid [1999] 2
BCLC 301) for the Duomatic principle not to be applied, it seewms to nie that
there is no good reasow why it should not be capable of applying.”

[underlining added)

[ recognise that there has been a judicial reluctance to venture into this question
and a concern at weakening or undermining the general rule (as provided for in
the company’s articlos) that a company is only concerned to deal with and
required to act on the basis of decisions by the registered member, This has
obvious and important practical benefits for companies (I note the concerns
expressed i1 Jalmoon as to the risks for companies flowing from uncertainty).
But where a third party is the agent of the registered member with authority to
vote the shares and assents to a shareholder resolution the member is to be
treated as having given that assent. There is then a question of evidence as to
whether it can be shown that the agent had authority and gave its assent, [ do
not see why the need to establish the agent’s authority by evidence introduces
an unaceeptable level of uncertainty (even a representative appointed pursuant
to the statutory power in the English Companies Act— under section 323 of the
Companies Act 2006 — may need to establish on evidence that he was validly
appointed as the right to act as a representative depénds on whether he has in
fuict been validly appointed: see Buckley on the Companies Acts, 14% ed., pags
381 and Colonial Gold Reef v Free Stute [1914] 1 Ch 382).

it also seems o me that the Gower approach is correct in principle, at least
where the registered member has agreed o follow Instructions from and be
bound by the decision of the relevant third party. In such a case the third party’s
decision iy binding on the registered member and therefore is to be treated as

his decision for these purposes. The agreement of the registered member,
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follow the instructions of and be bound by the third paity replicates, at least as
between the two parties to the agreement, the relationship between an agent
and principal when the prinsipal gives the agent authority to act on his behalf”
s0 that he is bound by the agent’s decisions. Onee again 1 do not corisider that
atfowing the Duemotic principle to apply in this situation causes una;cc,fepiﬁhia
uncertainties or risks for companies. I also give considerable weight to the
views of the learned authors of Gower, who state the proposition in unecuivoeal
terms in their texthook f‘g‘f the trustee could be compelled to vote n accordance
with wishes of the beneficial owners, then their consents are effective for the
purpose of the rule”). Of course.merely being the beneficial owner of the share
does not mean that the beneficial owner will have such an immediate right to.
compel the trustee to act as directed or instructed or that the frustee is under 2
binding obligation without the need for the beneficial owner to take further

action.

Twould therefore hold that if the LIA or ESDF were properly constituted as the:
agent for the LFB or if the LFB was bound by and to act in accordance with the.
instructions and decisions of the LIA or the ESDF then there could be o
sufficient assent for the purposes. of the Duomotie. principle. If persons acting
for the LIA or the ESDF had given their assent to the Second Defendant:
Resolution it would he necessary 1o consider whether they had authority in
accordance with Libyan law to bind the LIA or the ESDF or whether the LIA
or the ESDF wete otherwise bound by the assent they gave. T would add that I
do notregard Shannan as changing the basis for the application of the Duomatic
principle, That was a case in which it was argued (and held by the Jjudgs at first
instance) that when a shareholder exceuted a deed on its own behalf for the
purpose of being substituted as the principal employer under a pension scheme
its-exectition was also to be treated as a consent by its subsidlary to its removal
as the principal employer — because in order for the appointment of the
shareholder as the new principal employer to be valid ‘the subsidiary must
consent to it and it must have been understood that the subsidiary would be

removed, Tt was & tase of a ¢onsent being inferred as a matter of ne
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merely as'a consequence of an act done by the shareholder in one capacity (the

party to the deed end the naw prircipal employer) but without the shareholder

turning its mind to its other capacity (its position as shareholder of the party

who was to be replaced as principal employer). There was no further evidence

relied on. That case is therefore very different from the present case,

so the question arises &s to whether the evidence establishes that the LFB had
agreed that the ESDF and/or the LIA should be its agent or had its authority to

bind it for the purposes of exetcising the rights attached to the shares in the

Second Defendant.

the following parts of the evidence appear to me to be of particular importance:

(OF

(i),

(i),

{iv).

).

the LFB’s original subscription for shares in the Second Defendant
(in May 2007) was probably funded by ESDF, Subsequently (in
2009} ESDF appoinfe‘d the LIA to manage the ESDF’s portfolio
including the shares in the Sécond Defendant and instructed the LFB
to transfer the shares fo facilitate this.

thereafter (in August 2010) the LIA advanced a loan to the ESDF
which was secured by a pledge over various assets including the

giares In the Second Defendant,

on 27 January 2011 the LFB executed a share transfer in favour of

the LIA.

the only reason why the formalities of the transfer were not complated

was because of the UN sanctions.

the Plaintiff was on notice of the transfer and regarded the LIA as the

beneficial owner of the shares in the Second Defendant (see the




Plaintiff"s letter to the LIA in July 2013 and Mr Abudher’s and Mr

Wansink’s witness statements),

(vi).  the LEB was recorded as the owner of the shares in the records of the
Custodigns:

(viiy.  various emails from Mr Breish and Dr Jehani to ESDF and the
General Manager of the LFB identified the fict that the LER was the
wowner of record in.the Custodians’ boeks and that the Custodians
were outside Libyd as the reason whty the LFB’s assistance and a

power of attorney was required.

(vii).  on 20 Maich 2014 Mr Enaami, the Geristal Manager of the LFB,
wiote to Mr Baruni, Dr Jehani and Mr Tsmial (capied to Mr Ben
Yousef) to say-that:

"ds far as LEB s concerned the soaner we are out of this frigngle
the better for ws, we have no problem in aimiﬂg the required
ower of attorney but we need to sit-down all of us (LFB, LId and
ESDF) to f&sh:tm out a szumb!e exit for: everyboa&: bemm,q in

Fepeayment of the mermrmed loan,”

Junderlining added]

(ix).  in an email dated 8 July 2014 to Dr Jehan (copied to Mr Benyezza,
Mr Baruni and Mr Ismiial) Mr Enaami, stated that:

"I do-not know why you forger or you canvol rémerniber the simple
Jact that LFB is only an ageni 1o the original owner the ESDI ... for
6 months instead of talking directly to ESDFto solve the probiem you
preferved just to press so_hard on LEB which has no quthority
whaisoever because It is simply an agent for BSDF"

[mdertining added]

(). on -9 July 2014 the Director General of Alinma for Financia

Tavesttiients Holding, which Mr Breish believes to hav
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{x1).

(xii).

{xiii),

subsidiary of ESDF with responsibility for the investment in the
Second Defendant, wrote o the Director General (the General
Manager perhaps) of the LFB (copied to the Chairman of the ESDF
and of the LFBs investment portfolio department) statinig that:

“we see no obstacle to authorising the [LIA] to undertake the tegal
review procedures in accordance with any text it deems appropriate,
However we reserve theright to only dispose of this porifolio’s funds

afier coordinating with the owners and obtaining thelr approval with:

respect to the investmeni procedures™

on 15 July 2014 Mr Breish wrote to Mr Enaami and Mr Shemilah, the
General Manager of the ESDF, and referred to the 2011 transfer to
the LIA of “the Palladyne Portfolio ... owned by [ESDF].> He said
that the LIA’s management had formed a legal committee that will
assume tesponsibility for dealing with all three of the Funds and that
a legal authority from the LFB in favour of Dr Jehani was required:
“The reason for seeking this authorisation is that the agreement for
the transfer of ownership of the porifolio ... was documented at the
Palladyne Porifolio but the name of [EFB] is still shown as the owner
of this portfolio. at the custodian ... In order to avoid problems that
[the Plaintiff] may try to raise” as an excuse for non-cooperation, he
has been sesking from the management of both the LFB and the

ESDF the necessary authorisation.

in response, Mr Shemilah wrote to Mr Breish and Mr Enaami on the
same day confirming that “/ESDF agrees] that {the] LEB would sign
the required quthorisation as ... indicated In” Mr Breish’s letter (the
opening paragraph in the English frauslation refers to legal authority

being requasted for various audits of the Palladyne portfolio),

the LFB Power of Attorney contained an acknowledgement that the
LFB owned (shares in) the Second Defendant “until such time as ils

conveyance can be completed”,
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{(xiv).

The relationship between the LFB, the ESDF and the LIA was only

briefly mentioned in the witriess statement of Mr Bréish (when he
referred to the letter from Alinma for Financial Investments Holding).
The Defendants’ other witnesses did not deal with the issue, The issue

was only touched on briefly during the cross examination of the

factual witnesses, mainly in the context of the Sanections Painit, Mr

Breigh stated that the ESDF had used the LFB as ifs “hack office™
because the ESDF did not have the relevant expertise biit he was
unablé to confitm whether the LFB was fionting for the ESDF
because the ESDF itself was unablé to make overseas investments. -
When asked why the LIA did not simply ask the LFB to transfer the.
shares in the Second Defendant to the LIA, he said he assumed that
the LIA wouid be entitled to do that, He and Mr Baruai both
confirmied that the LIA understood that the shares belonged to the
LIA beneficially and that fusther discussions between the LIA and the
ESDF needed to take place to confirm who owned the shares:

"I would have hoped that by the tima we got 10 this stage. [the poinit
at which a transition manager had beer qppeinied to deal With the
Funds’ investmentsjwe would have some agreement abour who
owned the [shares in the Secand Defendant] as betweer ESDF and
the LIA. Iwould have hoped that the LIA — the ESDF would have
agreed by then that the assat belonged to the Lid."

the following points emerge from the evidence:

(i)

(it).

(iii).

the LFB regarded itself as having no interest of its owi in tié

shares,
the LFB regarded itself as bound-to follow instructions.
it appears that the nature and extent of the respective rights and

interests of the LIA and the ESDF remained to be settled althongh
the LIA’s Dirgotors and employees considered that ultimately the
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LA was the true owner.

(iv). the LFB regarded the ESDF as the -party.enti-tied to give the
instructions, The ESDF had authority to take decisions as to how the
shares were io be dealt with. The LFB was merely the ESDFs
“agent”,

(v). furthermore all decision making was vested in the ESDF (“LFB ...

huas no authority whatsoever”),

(vi). The ESDF had instructed the LFB to issue the power of attorney
requested by the LIA,

(vii).  the LIA was a crediter of the ESDF secured by a pledge over the

shares (whose terms.aré not.in evidence).

it seems fo me that on the basis of these facts and the inferences that can

properly be drawn from them the Duomatic principle understood by reference
to the agency approach applies. The conclusions of Hart J in Deakin, in so far
as he was relying on an agency analysis, apply by analogy in the present case.

Hart J (at paragraph 121) said as follows:

... there was ample eyidence ... that N [the registered member-and
mother of P] had expressly or impliedly clothed [P] with authority fo
exercise onher behalf her rights as shaveholder in the ordinary course of
the running of the business and that this authority extended fo his making
decisions about his owi remuneration ... [NJ was perfectly content to
leave such matters to her son, ... she expected [P} i run the company as if
it was his own,

In Deakin the registered member (N) was the mother of the other shareholder

(and the active ditector) of the company who had been appointed as the

second shareholder because P had been told by his bank manager that it was
necessary to appoint two sharsholders. N’s role was very limited. Hart J nofed .
(at paragraph 118) that; .
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“IN'sf ... practical invalvement ... was limited to a weekly visit to the: affice
where she had @ eleaning and tidving role. There were never. any genaral
meetings of the company. Se far us the conchict of lts corporate affairs were
concerned [N} might as well viot have existed.”

each ease of course has to be decided on its own facts. In the present case, while
Mr Enaami had said that the LFB was the agent of the ESDF it is clear that
what he meant was that the LFB régarded itself as'bound te follow the ESDF’s
instructions and had handed over all decision making to the ESDF. The LFB
would do as it was told and would be bound by what the BESDF decided, It
seems 10 me that it can be inferred or implied that the LFB had agreed that it
watld be bound by-the ESDF’s deeisions, That is a relationship i the nature-
of agency, The ESDF's decision that the pawer of atforney requested by the

LA for the purpose of voting the shares in (and changing the directors of) the

Second Defendant bé grarited is to be treated as binding on the LFB. The
decision of the BESDF can be treated as the decision of the registered member,
the LFB.

in my view the evidence supports this analysis of the relationship betwoen the
LFB and the BSDF. The evidence permits the Court to infer or fmply an

agreement or arrangement fo this effeet,

the Plaintiff argued that, even if the Duomatic principle appled, in order to
show that assent was given as required by the principle the persons acting for
the Libyan parties whose assent is relied.on musi be authorised to give such
assent as a matter of Libyan law. In so far as a decision to remove the Plaintiff
and appoint Dr Jehani and Mr Baruni as directors of the Second Defendant was
concerned, the approval of the LFB was required and Ms Bakir's expert
evidence established that the LFB Board néeded to make the decision on LEB s
behalf, In the absence of evidence of a Board decision, the LFB cannot be

regarded as having given its approval and made the decision to appoint Dr

Jehani to vote the shares in the Second Defendant.
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but in my view, for the reasons I have given, the evidence establishes that the
relationship between the LFB and the ESDF was such that the LFB has agreed
to be and would be bound by the decision of the ESDE, T do not consider that
the absence of copies of board minutes of the LFB and direct evidence of LFB
Board approval prevents the Court from reaching that conclusion or forming

that view. Based on the evidence I consider that the LFB had so agreed.

Ms Bakir opined that, even if the LFB held the shares in the Second Defendant
on trust for the LIA and the LIA was the beneficial owner of the shares, both the
LFB and the LIA Bouard’s approval was needed. She also said that the analysis of
Libyan law would be no different if the LFB held the shares for the ESDF.,

(). in Ms Bakir’s First Report she stated that the General Manager did not
have authority to issue.the LFB Power of Attorney and make decisions
as to the appointment and temoval of directors of the Second Defendant.
It was necessary for the LFB’s Board to delegate expressly such
authority and that had not been done, Article 47 of the LEB’s Articles
could and shoeuld not be construed fo provide such authority, I have set

aut Article 47 above but it is helpful to do so again here;

“The general manager shall be the chief executive officer of [LFB]
and shall perform [his] functions on a full time basis. In this capacity
the general manager shall be entifled fo manage [LEBY and its affuirs
and sign individually ow behalf of [LFB]. He shall be held liable for
His actioms before. the board and shall vepresent the [LFR] in fis
ralationship with others and before the courts.”

(if). Ms Bakir justified her conclusion as follows (paragraph 219 of Ms
‘Bakir's First Report):

“There Iy no suggestion in Artiole 47 or elsewhere in the [articles] that
the General Manager should have the authorily himself to decide who
[LFB’s] representatives on the boards of companies in whick [LFR]
holds shares should be. Tt is necessary (o construe the farticles] as an
integroted whole. This general authority should therefore not be
constried as including cathority 1o decide who [LFB’s] representativis




on [such boards] should be, This would make Article 45(11) ingffective.”

(Hi). Article 45 states that

“I Resolutions adopted by the board of direstors shall be Fecordad in
areport which shall be digried by the chaiimion and-seceetary and a
copy ... shall be sent to the Oversight Committee. Resolittions shall
also be reported within ten days:.. to the Central bank of Libya,

1L in order for resofutions. pertaining 10 sharehoidérs, establishing
banks, agencies and representative offices, and opening and closing
aofbranches ta be valid they niust be vatlfisd by the bodrd of direetors
and the Central Bank of Libya, '

(iv). in the absence of a Board desision to appaint and remove direstors of
the Second Defendant Mr Ben Yousef as the General Manager did not
have authority to do so. Since the LFB Powerof Attotney otily- gave Dr-
Tehani the right to exercise the powers that Mr Ben Yousef had it
followed that D Jehani also did not have authority to do-so. Dr Jehani®s
gotions were those of a person who ‘was unauthorised to-act. The coneept
of usurpation which applied in cases of state bodies under Libyan
adminigtrative law had an apalogug in Libya_n private law, Where a
person had.no capacity to act on behall of a corporation the act done
was absolutely null and void and of rio legal effect. This was the position

i relation to Dr Jehani’s si.gning_ofth_e' Second Defendant Resolution.

(V). if the LFB held the shares in the Second Defendant on trust (under
Cayman. Islands law) for the LIA (so that as between the LFB and the
LIA under Cayman Islands law the LIA was the true owner of the
shares) then the approval of both the Board of the LIA and the Board of
the. LFB would be required. Ms Bakir considered that the existence of
the trust did not affect her analysis of whether-and when a decision by
the LFB wag needed.

(vi). InMs Bakir's First Report she was asked about the-relationship between,,..
the LFB and the ESDF, In paitieular she was asked whethes
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(vii).

Defendants had pleaded) it was the LFB’s funotion to carry out the
instructions of the ESDF in relation to the shares in the Second
Defendant, She reviewed thé constitutional documents of both bodies
and concluded that the answer was no, Her view would not change if
the ESDF had instructed Mr Ben Yousef to grant the LFB Power of
Attorney.

in Ms Bakii’s Reply Report she explained that it appeared that the
assumptions that Mr Elgharabli had been instructed to make were
different from those given to her (see paragraphs 289-297). She had
been told to assume that the LIA was the beneficlal owner of the shares
in the Second Defendant as a matter of Cayman Islands law. But Mr
Elgharabli had been told to-assuine that the ESDF was the LFB’s client.
She was unclear what this meant— what legal relationship was involved.
She assumed that what was meant was that the ESDF “paid money to
[LFB], [LFB} acquiréd the [Second Defendont’s shares] with that
money, and [LFB] held the shares in [the Second Defendant]. This may
also imply some further arrangement by which [LFB] would sell the
[Second Dejendant’s] shaves and pay the proceeds to [ESDF]” Ms
Bakir provided her analysis of the pogition under Libyan law based on
her understanding of the relationship between the LFB and the ESDF
as posited by Mr Elgharabli. The LFB*s Board remained (under Articls

40) the competent corporate body to make decisions relating to

shareholdings even where there was some kind of obligation between
the LB and the ESDF. The finds paid (deposited) by the ESDF would
become the property of the LFB-and the LFB was authorised to dispose
of the funds on its own aceount. Its only obligation was fo return the
deposit made by the ESDF, The fact that the LFB held an investment or
fiinds for the ESDF did not change the governance arrangements under
the LFB’s Articles, There was no distinction between investments
owned by the LFB on its own behalf and those held for (or subject to an
abligation owed to) a client. The LFB’s Board must decide to apg




and remove the direetors of the Second Defendant, Furthermore, the
LFB’s Géneral Manager had no additional authority ‘or power wider the
Articles 16 deal with shares held by the LFB for a client. In particular
there was nothing in article 47 of the LFB’s A]iiglé;ﬁ'that' suggested that
the General Manager must or was authorised to give effect ta.-t_h;' will
of a client withous Board approval and Mr Elgharabli had provided no

authority to support-his view.

(vii).  Ms Bakir’s analysis and opinion u$ to the position if the LFB held the
shares on trust for the LIA were tested during her cross examination.
Unfortuniately, the exchange between Ms Bakir and Mr McMaster QC
was not helpful or satisfactory, Ms Bakir was asked by Mr MoMaster
QC to confirm her view of the pesition where the LFB held the shares
in the Second Defendant on trust for the LIA (ander a trust governed by
{he law of the Cayman Islands). She struggled to explain her analysis or
show that she understood the legal nature :and effect of a Cayman
Islands trust. This was [ think primarily because of lan guage problems
although | was concerned thaf she was also unfamiliar with the
‘proprietary effects of a Caymidn Islands law trust and struggled to
understand how it might impact on the Libyan law position. In any
event, she did reiterate and confirim that in her opinion one oftwa things
hadto happen in order for the Second Defendant Resolition tobe valid.
Either the full LFB Board had o decide to vote the shares in the Second
Defendant ot they had to delegate the dedision o someone else.

{x). MrEl ghafabh dealt with these issues both in his reperts and cross.-examination.
He confirmed during his cross examination (on day 8 of the trial as recorded at
pages 80-81 of the transcript) that e had assymed that the LFB was holding the
shares in the Second Deféndant for the ESDF, He had been given to understand
that there was an ageticy relationship between the LFB and the ESDF and as the
ESDIs agent, the LFB would have ta abide by the ESDFs instructions. In his

opinion, as a matter of Libyan law, if sueh a relationship existed, the LF
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be bound to give effect to the instructions of the principal, In Mr Elgharabli’s
Reply Report he had concluded that there was a separate legal basis on which the
LFB was bound to act as directed by the BSDF, narmely Article 703 of the LCC.
If the LFB was holding the shares in performance of functions authorised by
Article 65(9) of the Banking Law (by providing investment services including
management and investment of funds for a third party) then the LFB must carry
out the instructions received from the third party. Mr Elgharabli was of the
opinion (in paragraph 48) that:

“{f the LFB had agreed to such o mandate then it is incorrect to say that [the
LFB] must nevertheless refer the cllent instructions to the LFB Board fof d
decision. In such a seenavio the board could either agree to execute the client
instruction (in which case their deliberations would not add anything other
than delay) or refuse 1o execute in-which case the barik would be in breach af
Article 703 and the contract of mandate itself likely exposing the bank o a
claim for damages.”

Mr Elgharabli had said in his First Report that it was “sonsensical fo suggest that
eqch time a client insiructed the bank to vote shares held for the client as nominee
the bank’s Board had first to convene a meeting of its directors to consider the
matter” and it would be surprising if the LFB Board had ever dealt with the
question of voting the shares in the Second Defendant. Furthermore, in his opinion
Article 47 was sufficient to give Mr Ben Yousef as General Manager autharity to
dscide on voting the shares ($ee paragraph 93). No further or express delegation
by the LFB Board was required.

He went on (in paragraph 49 of his Reply Report) to say that it had been brought

te his altention in the course of preparing hig reply evidence that while there

was-a factual dispute about the relationship between the LFB and the ESDF it
was commen ground that there was an agreement between the LFB and the LIA
under which the shares were to be transferred to and held for the benefit of the
LIA.

“sz‘" that | is rhe case tﬁ;gn Mr B‘en Yousef (or Dr ]eham as his m‘torney) wmdd
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given its-approval. "

1 prefer Mr Elgharabli’:s analysis of the effect of there being an agency
relationship between the BSDF and the LB, In fact, Ms Bakir did not deal with
the position that would apply under Libyan law if there was.a principal-agent
relationship between the LFB and the ESDF. She anly referred to the position
where the ESDF was a client who deposited funds with the LEB to be used to
purchase the shares or the LFB held the shares on trust for the LIA. My
Elgharabli however did consider the position if there was an agency relationship.
He was of the opinfon that if the LFB aoted as. agent for the BESDF, the ESDF
as the principal could give instructions to the LFB and the LEB would be bound
without more to give effect to ESDI™s decision. On the assumption he made, the
ESDF was not acting as-an agent for the LFB and thereby binding the LFB as the
pringipal. Tt was a casé in ‘which the principal, the ESDF, wha as between the
agent and itself was entitled to take the relevant decision, took the decision and
the dgent was thereby boundito give it effect. He ﬁid_net‘_ga on to say that in the
S8t ‘way s an agert’s action 18 treated as the act of the principal, ESDF's

decision would be treated as that afthe LFB, But he was clar that the LEB wauld

be bound by the ESDF’s decision, Accordingly I conelude that, assuming that 1
am correct that the evidence establishes that the LFB had agreed te act in
accordance with the BSDF’s instructions and be bound bythe decisions made by

the ESDF with respect to the shares ln the Second Defendant, it was net a

requirement of the LFB's Articles and applicable Libyan law that the LFB Board
glve a separate approval to the decision to grant the LEB Power of Attorngy; to
the voting of the shares in the Second Defendarit or o the signing of the Second
Defendant Resolution. The LFB had agreed to act as directed and be bound by the
ESDF’s decision angd, Such agreement being in existence; no further LFB Board

approvals were needed,

even if the LFB held the shares in the Second Defendant for the LIA rather than
the ESDF, its position would be the same. It seems to me to be clear that the LFB

‘had decided and informed the LIA that it had no decision makmg authorlty in
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drawing of inferences as to whether Mr Ben Yousef would have had the authority i

ESDF wiiich was the uitimate decision maker, the LFB would have regarded itself
as, and been, bound by the LIA’s decision. In my view, the decision made by the
LIA Bomrd at.the 4 May Meeting related to a single strategy and plan for all three
Funds and the vatious capacities in which the LIA had an interest in the three
Funds. The decision included the shares held by the LFB. It is true, as the Plaintiff
points out, that Mr Breish’s email sent immediately after the LIA Board meeting
only refars to a decision in relation to the LIA and the LAP. But in my view his
email did not indicate that the LIA decision did not include and relate to the shares
held by the LFB but that its implementation still required and in practice was
conditional upon a suitable power of attorney being granted by or on behalf of the
LFB.

As regards the second question (assuming that the Duomatic principle does not apply in
the present case), was the Second Defendant Resolution authorised because as a
matter of Libyan law and on the facts Mr Bent Yousef had or was to be treated as
having authority to act.on behalf of the LFB? Two issues arise;

{a). did Mr Ben Yousef have.or is he to be treated as having authority to sign the LFB
Power of Altorney (does-the presumption of validity mean that the LFB Power of
Attorney and the Second Deféendant Resolution are to be treated as validly granted
and made in the circumstances and did Mr Ben Yousef have authority even if
there is no evidence that the LFB Board decided to grant the LFB Power of
Attorney and to approve the removal and appointment of directors of the Second
Befendant)?

{b). was the Second Defendant Resolution of no effect if Mr Ben Yousef is held to
have signed it without authority?

Tt seems o me that the presumption of validity under Cayman Islands law s not

determinative in the present case. Bat the approach to the drawing of inferences in the

absence of primary evidence which the so ealled presumption reflects is relevant (to the




190130 Palladyne 190130 Palladyne Internationat dsset Menagement B.V. s Upper Biook (A) Linitied et.al - FSDY P
(N8P Fudement '

218223

‘the LFB Board, sithér pursiantto a particular decision of the Board ar by way.of a general
delegation, to-vote the shares in the Second Defendant). In Shanman Asplin LT held that
the presumption was a “weak presumption” and “no more than @ rebuttable statement
Jounded on common sense, of the inference if will normally be appropriate o draw in g
given situation where primeary evidence is lacking ... [cz;mﬁ? it is directed at formality rather
thaw intention.” The Defendants’ case is essentiallythat the Court should not conclude that
Mr Ben Yousef was not propetly authorised metely because of the. absence of primary
evidence of an LFB Board decisian to give or del sgateto him ﬂ}'ﬁ power-fo vole the shares
in the Second Defendant when instructed by a client or person in the position of ESDFE or
the LIA (whose directions the LFB: was bound to follow or who was also the beneficial
owner of the shares). They say that having regardtothe evidence as to the LFB"s husiness
and governance amangemenis, and the role given to Mr Ben Yousef under the L¥B’s
Artieles; it Isto be'inferred that the LFB Board - would have mads arrangemients to authorise
him to fmplement client instructions without the need for  decision specific board
resotutions that related to the signing of the LFB Pawer of Attorney and the Second
Defendant Resolution, T find that submission persuasive and would put the point as

followws, Tt is reasonable to infer that in.a case in which the LFB was holding shares for,

and had agreed to implement instructions given by, a third party the CEQ and General
Manager would have been given authority by the board to sigrt on behalf of the LEB the
documentation required to give effect to those ngtructions without-the need to go backto
and wait for.a further and separate decision of the board. Even assuming that Ms Bakir is
right that-even ina case whefe the LFB holds shares-on frust fora third party an LFB board
decision to vote the shares js necessary, it seems vety unlikely that the- board would not
have made arrangements to give or delegate fo Mr Ben Yousef the recuisite avthicrity
having regard, in particular, to the commercial nature of the LEB’s banking business; the
wide powers of management given to the CEQ and General Matiager to manage LFB’s
business (he is “entitled 10 manage FLEB] and s affairy and “sign individually on
behalf of [LFB]™); the Tact that impleémenting instructions from a third party as agreed
does not'involve a new business decision but rather carrying out an earlier agreement

to act as directed; and the fact that instructions might need to be actioned before the

next board meatmg The LFB was net a stite body subject to the constiamts of
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to suppose that commercially sensible arrangements were in place to allow the CEO
and General Manager o get on with his job and manage the bank’s business, certainly
where all that he was doing was implementing decisions which the LFB was bound by,
Htalso seems tome that [ am entitled to treat the statements made by Mr Enaami, which
make it plain that in his view the LFB was only acting for others and was required to
acot as directed, as evidence of an agresment or arrangement betweeti the LFB and the
ESDF (or the LIA) and to infer that the formalities for approving entry inte such an
agreement or arrangement had ard would have been properly observed and complied
with. This inference is supported by the fact that there is no evidence of any challenge
from any director, officer or organ of the LFB to Mr Ben Yousef's signing of the LFB
Power of Attorney ot the signing of the Second Deféndant Resolution by Dr Jehani

pursuant thereto.

The Plaintiff asks the Court to infer that no authorisation was in fact given since had it
been given the relevant documentation would have been produced by the Defendants
who should not be permitted to play fast and loose with the discovery process and
benefit from seli~serving and selective disclogure. The Plaintiff has been unable to
require the production of documents from the LIA, the LAP or the LFB and should not
be prejudiced by the practical and legal problems that prevent the Libyan Investors
being made defendants and required to disclose documents in these proceedings, It can
also be argued that the delays in the LFB granting the LFB Power of Attorney and its
last minute arrival after the {ssuing by Mr Breish of further threats and criticisms
strongly suggests that the proper process for obtaining the approvals needed for the
giving of the LFB Power of Attarney was not followed or observed. But, having heard
and carefully considered the credibility of the Defendants’ witnesses and the other
evidence in the case, I have concluded that it would not be reasonable or justifiable to
draw such inferences. While the unexplained Tast minute disclosure of impottant
documents by the Defendants (as detailed and discussed in the Discovery- Judgment)
does raise concetris | consider that the Defendants’ witnesses are to be believed and
that the limited and partial production of documents Is explained by the problems in

obtaining access to the records in Libya of the Libyan Investors resulting from the




regard to the view Thave formed as to the credibility of the Defendants’ withesses and
of 'the evidénce as a whole, to infer that the Defendants have deliberately withheld
relevant documents they hold or failed to takd steps available to them to obtain-such:
documents, Nor does the late delivery of the LEB Power of Attorney justify such an
inference. It seems to me that the delays on the LFB side resulted from the fact that in
‘their view ESDF was the decision maker and its instructions had 1o be obtainad, which
were only confirmed on 9 July 2014, As Mr Enaami had sald on 8 July 2014, tha,de}fgys_
and problems resulted from the fact that the LIA was talking to and chasing the wrong
person. It should be talking directly to and pressing ESDF,

227, As aresult of these conelusions, to the gffect that Mr Ben Youséf isto be treated as
having actual authority from the LFB Board (directly or by way of delegation) to sign
the LFB Power of Attorney and to authorise action on behalf of the LER to implement.
the instructions of ESDF (and/er the LIA), it is nat striotly tiecessary foime to-decide
whether Ms. Bakir’s or Mr Elgharabli’s view of Libyan law on the guestion of whether
MrBen Yousef could act without a separate and cxpress delegation by the LFB Board is
correct. But it does seem o me that Mr Elgharabl*s approach is to be preferred. I reco ghise.
and take into accouint thig fact that (as both experts explain) Libyan law is a system of civil
taw that is significantly different in impq'rtan_t respects from the Cayinari Islands eomman
law system (for example as to the need.in certain contexts for clear-evidence of decision

‘making). So I do notassume that the analysis under Libyar law will be the same as the
Cayinan Istands law analysis. T have sought to. apply Libyan law as presented by the
experts and having ragard to what the Libyan Supreme Court would dec ide. Ialso take
intto-account the favt that Mr Elgharabli's evidence was brief and light on detailed analysis
where Ms Bakir’s analysis was mare detailed. But, as 1 have noted above; I have not found
Ms Bakir’s analysis and explanations convineing and, even taking ‘into acconnt the
language problems that she faced during her cr@ss-es_xz(min_a‘tion? 1 found it difficult to
follow parts of het analysis. On this issue, Ms Bakir argues (in paragraphs 262-267 of Ms
Balkir's Fitst Report and 298-309.of her Reply Report) that: (a) the board is given the
paser to appoint-or remove directors of subsidiaries; and (b) Article 187 of the Libyan
Commercial Law applies to the LFB and says that a board may delegate to a committes or
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the board may delegate “provided that the board specifies in s delegation the limits qf
such eawthorisation.”). Ms Bakir concludes that “Article 187 therefore requires a
delegation” and that must be express, by a board decision rather than just by reason of the
terms of the Asticles. Mr Elgharabli in his First Reportstated his opinion in his discussion
of the Second Defendant Resolution that there was rio general Libyan law requirement for
there to be an express delegation of authority and that what was important was (“regard
should be had 10°) the constitutional documents of the body which delegates the authority.
He relied on Auticle 47 of the LFB's Articles as giving Mr Ben Yousef as CEO and
General Manager wide powers to act as the legal representative of the LFB. He did rot
discuss Article 187 in his Reply Report but he did do-so during his cross examination by
Mr Hapgood QC. After having read out the section he said that;

“A. So all whai this Article says that the board, which is a non-executive board
and the members of the board do not have competencies assigned io them
by the Articles of Assoviation of a commercial company.-may be delegated
to perform some.executive functions. It is fust a possibility for the board to
assign to a group of the members in a form qf an executive committes or to
a member to discharge some activities and the reason fpr this, because
those members of the board are not exeeutives. They don't have executive
powers. But this is completely different from the case that we are
considering here. We are talking about the authority or the competencies
of the CEQ of the bank whose competericies and authorities are clearly
defined in the articles of the LFB, so in this case thére is no need and we
cannot treat now the CEQ of the LFB in the same footing as d member of
the board. The analysis and the analogy that Mrs Bakir was trying to draw
by wsing this Article is complerely different, It is completely inapplicable to
our ease,

Let us iake it step by step. This is 187 of the commercial law?
Yex,

Now, that law applied to LEB, didn't it?

B0 on ©

Yey, it applies 10 the LFB, yes.
Theregfore Article 187 applled tp 1.FB?

It dpes;

o R

Yes. Andwhat Article 187 is showing his Lordship s that delegation is a
ceniral coneept under Libyan law when one looks at the implementation of
decisions taken by the board of direciors?

A Thix Articla does not address that issue at all.
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0, It does to me,
A It doesn't,

0 In plain English?
A,

And have just explained to his Lovdship that it does not addvess this issue
at all. This Article addresses and gives the prepogative, the possibility, for

the board to delegale some of fis powers io memibers of the bogrd, either

in the form of an executive committes or to a single member_lo dischgree

some of the dutier of the board qnd the pationale, as | explained because
those members of the bodard do not have axecytive powers defined for them

In the Articles of Association, so they need to e deleggted, They need to
be empowered. We cannot gxlend this — the application of this Artlcle to

say, to the position of the CEQ whose authority and competencles gre
clearly defined in the Avticles and he does not for this nesd a delegation as
long as he was geting with the powers and Hmits of his competencies.

[o] Let me put another general proposition. Do you accep that if company's
constitutional documents specify the competencies of the board and
someone else wishes to use one of those competencies, he cannot lawfully
do so without a delegation from the board to him?

A If the constitutional dociments does not bestow on him these competencias,
ves, I agree with you.”

[underlining added]

The point being made by Mr Elgharabli is that Asticle 187 is permisstve. It allows a board
to delegate powers when necessary, for example where the articles do not already give
directors or others the required delegated powers, It is ot to be understood as a mandatory
restriction or limitation on the operation of clear provisions in the articles, The authority
and power of the CEO and General Manager, as | have already explained, are broad. He
is given a general and unqualified power to manage (he is “entitled to manage the (LFB]
andl its affairs and sign Individually on behalf of the [LFB] [and] shall be held lable
Jor his actions before the Board and shall re_preseﬁt the [LFB] in its relationship with ‘
others and before the courts™). In my view Mr Elgharabli’s construction and approach
are to be preferred. If a decision has been taken by the LFB Board the LFB Articles
give the CEO and General Manager the power and authority to implement it as part of
managing the LFB and its affairs (management encompassing the putting into and

giving effect to board decisions) and Article 187 should not be construed as imposing
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a mandatory limitation on that power or requiring an additional and separate delegation
to be made by the LFB Board.

228, Ttherefore reject the Plaintiff’s submission that there was (and that the Defendants had
adduced) sufficient evidence of the naturé and content of the legal relationship
between the LFB and the ESDF,

Mr Justice Segal
Cayman Islands
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